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Message From The Board Of Directors

The year 2009 marked the start of the second mandate of the Board 
of Directors, maintaining its responsibility for the management of the 
railway infrastructure as regards asset construction, maintenance and 
preservation, capacity management, circulation management and sa-
fety, offering the market a reliable and high-quality network to optimise 
customer service.

In accordance with the stipulations of Decree-Law no. 71/2007, which 
defines the public management statute, for the first time in 2009 the 
Ministry of Public Works, Transport and Communication, and the Ministry 
of Finance, jointly defined REFER’s management goals, for the period be-
tween 2009 and 2011:

1.	 Improved efficiency and cost control;

2.	 Reduction of the average waiting time for payment of suppliers;

3.	 Increased profitability;

4.	 Sustainability;

5.	 Quality and Reliability of Service;

6.	 Safety;

7.	 Control of investment.

One or more indicators were then associated to each of these goals 
and annual targets were defined. In 2009 over 75% of the defined targets 
were achieved. 

The goals and indicators defined for the members of the Board of 
Directors in their different roles are clearly integrated into the strategic 
goals defined by REFER and the goals defined for the railway sector.

The safety of the railway infrastructure is one of the aims inherent to the 
activity, defined in the management contract signed between REFER 
and the different Ministerial Departments. Therefore, the company has 
been installing modern and reliable safety systems, such as Convel 
(automatic speed control system) and Rádio Solo Comboio (communi-
cation system with rolling stock on the track). Today 52.3% of the network 
is fitted with safety systems.   

Compliance with rail transport punctuality, safety and quality, is one of 
REFER’s responsibilities. In 2009, the punctuality rate for reasons imputable 
to REFER, had a positive variation, reaching levels of 99% in the suburban 
trains group and 97% in the regional and freight trains. 

Level crossings are, increasingly, items that hinder the smooth running 
of the railway system. The increased flow of rail traffic and the speeds 
reached by the trains are incompatible with the high number of level 
crossings. As such, only through a concerted policy of elimination and 
reclassification of the safety surrounding the level crossings, can the per-
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formance of the system be improved, contributing to fewer accidents. 
As part of this drive, in 2009 48 level crossings were either eliminated or 
reclassified.
In the field of rail safety and the effort to reduce rail accidents, in 2009 
REFER invested heavily in prevention. The company took part in marking 
the “European Level Crossing Awareness Day”, whose aim was to in-
crease society’s awareness of the need to respect the signalling and 
strictly comply with the safety rules whenever using a level crossing. A 
campaign was launched called “Stop, Listen and Look”. Integrated into 
this campaign was the “Green Paper on Level Crossing Safety”, the aim 
of which was to encourage public debate about the issue and gather 
contributions for the implementation of new measures to reduce the ac-
cident rate in these railway line crossings.

To increase train transport usage, the company has to be in harmony 
with the railway operators and their customers, providing the market with 
a reliable and high-quality railway network. In 2009, owing to the current 
economic circumstances, the use of the railway measured in TK (Train/
Kilometre) fell in comparison to the previous year, which led to a reduc-
tion in the user fees received by REFER. This reduction was 3%, broken 
down into 1.4 million TK and EUR 1.6 million in user fees. 
Worthy of note in this area is the fact that the company COMSA began to 
use the Portuguese rail system, starting tests on the railway. 
CP Carga was also created to supply freight transport services, which 
had hitherto been supplied by CP.

As regards long-term investment, ever since its creation, REFER has 
undertaken modernisation and development projects on the national 
railway network, with the following highlighted in 2009:

•  Investment in the continuation of construction of the Trofa Alternative 
Route, integrated into the remodelling of the Minho Line, between S. 
Romão and Lousado;

•  Opening of the Cacia Multimodal Terminal integrated into the 
Aveiro Port Rail Link project;

•  Opening of the Cais do Sodré Transport Interface. This interface in-
tends to enhance the intermodality in order to increase the demand 
for public transport, thus ensuring sustainable mobility at a social, 
environmental and economic level.

•  Presentation of the new passenger railway service on the Leixões 
Line. This new passenger service will contribute to the environmental 
sustainability, making access and mobility easier in an area that in 
recent years has undergone fast population growth and which has 
a significant potential market.

•  Signing of several protocols to eliminate level crossings.
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With regard to the environment, the following initiatives were completed:

•  Work on monitoring noise and vibrations (operating phase) on the 
Évora, Minho, do Sul, Beira Baixa lines and the Braga branch.

•  Monitoring of the water quality (in the Casa Branca / Évora section 
of the Évora Line), in line with the commitments made within the 
scope of the environmental assessment of the project. Completion 
of the development of the Strategic Noise Chart of Porto S. Bento/
Ermesinde Section, of the Minho Line. Upon the presentation of this 
chart, all the lines and sections of line that run over 60,000 journeys 
per year have now been charted, which was a top priority for REFER.

In the Financial Management area, the following points are highlighted:

•  The contracting of two loans from the EIB with State guarantee 
amounting to EUR 100 million each, with floating interest rate, to fund 
the Northern Line. 

•  The full repayment of the EUR 250 million Logo Securities II loan. 

•  The issuance of a EUR 500 million Eurobond with State guarantee, 
maturing in 2019.

•  The contracting of a loan from the EIB without State guarantee 
amounting  to EUR 110 million, with fixed interest rate, to finance 
several railway infrastructure investments (Aveiro Port Rail Link, 
Operational Command Centres, etc).

•  The issuance of a EUR 500 million Eurobond with State guarantee, 
maturing in 2024.

In line with the policy undertaken in previous years, REFER continued its 
trend to reduce the average workforce, reflecting the organisation’s 
adaptation to the different modernisation programmes in the railway in-
dustry implemented in recent years. Since 1999 a total of 2969 employees 
have been released by REFER, which is 46% of the initial workforce. In 
2009 the company had an average of 3518 employees, which was 55 
fewer than in 2008. At the end of December the number of employees 
had risen to 3497.

Having defined the action and counting on the support we always re-
ceive from the Ministerial Department, the dedication and endeavour 
of the staff and the support of the other control and regulatory entities, 
we believe the pillars are in place to enable the construction of a stable 
future for REFER.
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Overview Of Indicators
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Summary of the Year

Public Tender launched, aimed at installing the track su-
perstructure in the Rail Link accessing Aveiro Port.
	
Start of environmental assessment impact of the quad-
ruplication of the Contumil – Ermesinde section of the 
Minho Line.

Reappointment of the members of the Board of Directors 
for a second mandate.

Contracting of two EIB loans, each amounting to EUR 100 
million. Both benefit from a State guarantee.

The international rating agency Standard & Poor’s revised 
the rating of REFER downwards to A- in the wake of the 
same action taken for the Republic of Portugal.

10-Year issue of EUR 500 million Eurobond with State guar-
antee.	

Commissioning of the General Civil Construction, Track 
and Power lines remodelling of the Minho Line, between 
S. Romão and Lousado, aimed at ending the railway 
bottleneck in the main network caused by a single-track 
crossing.

Opening on 15 February of the new pedestrian crossing 
at S. Pedro do Estoril station, definitively closing the level 
crossing at Km 21.208.
		
Signing in Águeda of a protocol between REFER and the 
Municipal Council for the elimination and reclassification 
of level crossings in Águeda Council.

Completion of the building work on the overpasses at 
Km 307+832 (Maceda) and 309+623 (Cortegaça), on the 
Northern Line.
		
Opening of the Cacia Multimodal Terminal.
			 
Commissioning of the tender to paint the Maria Pia 
bridge, in Porto.

Commissioning of the contract to refurbish the super-
structure of the track between Marco de Canaveses and 
Régua.

Opening of the Cais do Sodré transport interface.

Participation in Segurex – International Security and Safety 
Exhibition, held at Lisbon International Exhibition Centre 
(FIL).

January	

February

March
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Commissioning of the Tender for the Modernisation of the 
Castelo Branco - Vale de Prazeres section and signing of 
the Protocol for the Elimination of Level Crossings in the 
Council of Castelo Branco.

Signing of the Protocol for Elimination of Level Crossing in 
the Council of Vila Velha de Ródão.

Commissioning of the tender for the refurbishment of 
the superstructure of the track between Carvalha and 
Valença and raising of the station platforms at Caminha 
and S. Pedro da Torre stations.

Completion of the building work of the pedestrian under-
passes of Areosa and the road underpasses at Carreço 
and Afife, on the Minho Line.

Commissioning of the tender for the construction of the 
road overpasses at Km 209+342, 210+256 and 211+328 of 
the Northern Line, in the council of Coimbra.

Opening of the road overpass at Km 8.512 of the Alentejo 
Line, parish of Moita, enabling non-level crossing of the 
railway, which previously had a level crossing at Km 8.766, 
which was decommissioned.

Commissioning of the construction/improvement works 
tender for the elimination of the level crossings at Km 15.440 
and Km 22.365, of the Espinho / Sernada Section of the 
Vouga Line.

Construction of non-level crossings in the council of 
Coimbra and closure of the level crossings at Km 225.363 
and 225.535 of the Northern Line, in the parish of Souselas.

Signing of the concession contract of an area that inte-
grates the Aveiro / Cacia Logistics Platform, destined for 
the installation and operation of logistical activities that 
preferentially use rail transport.

Completion of the building works of the road underpass 
at Km 79.410 (Darque/Seca), which allowed the closure of 
the level crossing at Km 79.390, of the Minho Line.

Signing of the Protocol for the Enhancement and Rebuilding 
of the Cascais Line railway in the Carcavelos/Estoril section, 
allowing the elimination of the two last level crossings in the 
council (S. Pedro do Estoril and S. João do Estoril) and one 
level crossing at Estoril station.

Opening of the pedestrian overpass at Vila Franca de Xira 
station, eliminating the level crossings at Km 30.131 and 
30.370.

April

May
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Signing of two protocols that will enable the creation of 
a new passenger railway service on the Leixões Line. The 
protocols involve CP – Comboios de Portugal, E.P.E., REFER, 
APDL – Administração dos Portos do Douro e Leixões, S.A 
and Matosinhos Municipal Council.

Commissioning of the building contract for the road over-
pass at Km 299.100 and the road underpass at Km 311.033 
and respective access and connection roads.

Launch of the two first international tenders for the sig-
nalling control / command system and refurbishment 
of the stations, as such marking the beginning of the 
Modernisation Plan of the Cascais Line.

Commissioning of the contract for the modernisation of 
Raquete station. The modernisation of this station, located 
on the Sines Line, is part of the investment programme 
defined for the development of this rail route for freight.

Start of the general contract for modernisation of the Vale 
de Prazeres - Covilhã section and signing of the protocol 
for the elimination of level crossings in Fundão Council.

Signing of a Protocol between REFER and Guarda 
Municipal Council to eliminate and reclassify level cross-
ings in this council.

Marking of the European Level Crossings Awareness Day, 
a joint initiative of the European Level Crossing Forum 
and the European Commission, with the involvement of 
the rail and road sector, the European and international 
railway associations, the public administration, the regu-
latory entities and the police forces.

Completion of the road underpasses construction con-
tract at Km 68.700 and Km 74.640, the road overpass at 
Km 75.310, the pedestrian underpass at Km 75.630 and 
the respective accesses and connections, in the parishes 
of Barroselas, Vila Fria and Mazarefes.

Commissioning of the building work of the infrastructures 
of the 1st phase of reactivation of the commercial pas-
senger service on Leixões line between the stations of 
Ermesinde and Leça do Balio.

Within the scope of the “STOP, LISTEN AND LOOK” cam-
paign, and aimed at raising awareness among rail 
passengers and all people who come into contact with 
railways, a 5600 locomotive was emblazoned with the 
message “AT LEVEL CROSSING STOP, LISTEN and LOOK”. 

Commissioning of the contract to refurbish the Northern 
Line, along a section of around 35 km, between Km 70.450 

June

July
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and Km 105.100, in the Setil / Entroncamento subsection.

Elimination of the Alvarães level crossing (Viana do 
Castelo) and construction of the road underpass.

Commissioning of the contracts to raise the track and re-
laying of the Tâmega line and Corgo Line, respectively.

Signing of the collaboration protocol between REFER, CP, 
Coruche Municipal Council, Cartaxo Municipal Council 
and Salvaterra de Magos Municipal Council for the resump-
tion of the passenger service on the Vendas Novas Line.

In step with the good practices of other foreign networks, 
for the first time in Portugal a double half barrier was in-
stalled at the Sabugo level crossing at Km 24.988 of the 
Western Line.

Presentation for the first time of the “railway forest fire 
prevention plan for the 2009-2011 period”.

Commissioning of the contract of the 3rd Phase of the 
Aveiro Port Rail Link project, which comprises the instal-
lation of the track superstructure in the railway platform 
constructed in the two prior phases using the ballasted 
track and the concreted track and in the accesses to the 
terminals already constructed inside Aveiro Port.

Commissioning and contracting of the refurbishment of S. 
Pedro do Estoril station.

Closure of the level crossings at Km 11.709 and Km 12.564 
and passenger crossings at Km 13.195, in the Barreiro/
Pinhal Novo section of the Alentejo Line.

Installation of a double half barrier at the Miramar level 
crossing at Km 323.850, of the Northern Line.

Commissioning of the road overpass construction con-
tract at Km 361.993 of the Algarve Line.

Signing of the Protocol to adapt the old Caniços Railway 
bridge for pedestrians, located at Km 35.451 of the 
Guimarães Line. 

Reopening of the passenger transport railway service in 
the Vendas Novas Line, between Setil and Coruche, with 
connections to Lisbon.

Presentation ceremony of the new railway passenger 
service on the Leixões Line.

Signing of the protocol to refurbish the Douro Railway Line 
between Pocinho and Barca d Álva and tourism opera-

August

September
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tion between Régua and Barca d Álva.

Contracting of a EUR 110 million EIB loan without State 
guarantee.

Commissioning of the contract to build the road under-
pass at Km 101.592 of the Beira Alta Line.

Completion of the contract to paint the Maria Pia 
Bridge, in Porto, as part of the bridge inspection and 
maintenance plan. This operation aimed to provide 
anti-corrosion protection of the metal structure, through 
hydrostripping and subsequent painting.

Commissioning of the contract for the modernisation of 
the Bombel and Vidigal to Évora section.

Commissioning of “Alcácer Alternative Route (2nd Phase) 
– Railway and Fixed Electrical Traction Installations” 
contract.

Awarded 4th place in the Sustainable Development and 
Tourism category of the European Greenways Award, for 
the Rio Minho Ecotrail (e.g. Monção Branch).

Commissioning of the contract for the building of the 
road underpass at Km 322.178, of the Algarve Line.

15-YEAR issue of a EUR 500 million Eurobond with State 
guarantee.

Moody’s, the international rating agency, changed the 
outlook for REFER’s rating to Negative in the wake of the 
same decision with regard to the Republic of Portugal.

Closure of the level crossings at Caxias and Estoril sta-
tions in order to increase safety of the crossings, enabling 
the installation of specific facilities for use by people of 
reduced mobility.

Participation in the “Climate Express” Train, between 
Brussels and Copenhagen – a journey completely free of 
CO2.

Commissioning of the first contract of the 1st Phase of the 
Mondego Mobility System (SMM) to refurbish the infra-
structures of the Miranda do Corvo / Serpins section of 
the Lousã Branch.

Completion of the pedestrian underpass at Km 13.733 
and the respective public lighting. The pedestrian cross-
ings were closed at Km 13.685 and Km 13.766, which led to 
enhanced safety for the local population of S. Lourenço 
and the Tomar Branch railway.

October

November

December
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Commissioning of the contract works to build the 
pedestrian underpass at Km 203.378, in Pereira do 
Campo, council of Montemor-o-Velho, in the Alfarelos / 
Pampilhosa section of the Northern Line. 

Disclosure of the Green Paper on Safety at Level Crossings, 
which is part of the “STOP LISTEN LOOK” campaign, pre-
sented within the scope of the European Level Crossing 
Awareness Day.

Commissioning of the contract for the building of the 
pedestrian overpass at Km 212.983 of the Northern Line, 
in the parish of S. Martinho do Bispo, in Coimbra council. 
This work will enable the closure of the automatic level 
crossing for pedestrians at Km 212.993.

Standard & Poor’s, the international rating agency, 
revised the REFER rating upwards to A. The outlook was 
changed to Negative in the wake of the same decision 
made in relation to the Republic of Portugal.
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European Economy

In 2009, the European economy recovered moderately over the year, 
after the strong recession felt in 2008, especially in the last quarter.
Essential aspects driving the recovery were the monetary policy and the 
budget measures taken, to stabilise the financial systems and stop the 
serious economic situation from worsening. The high level of tension in 
the financial markets contributed to a large extent to the collapse of 
international trade, as well as to a sharp fall in the confidence of com-
panies. However, from the third quarter of 2009 onwards there was a 
gradual calming of these markets and a progressive reduction of the 
risk premiums, which nevertheless remained at higher levels than before 
the start of the financial crisis. In average annual terms, after recording 
growth of 0.5 percent in 2008, the GDP in the euro area shrank 4 percent 
in 2009.

The Harmonised Consumer Price Index (HCPI) decreased in the year, 
falling from 2.7% in 2008 to 0.9% in 2009. This evolution is linked to a sharp 
decline in demand, both at international and domestic level, resulting 
from the recent economic and financial crisis. The fall in demand con-
tributed to a sharp fall in the prices of raw materials in the international 
markets, both energy and non-energy commodities, while domestically 
there was a tight squeeze on profit margins in a background of con-
tinuing strong growth in unit labour costs.
The shrinking of economic activity in 2009 was reflected both in the lasting 
negative behaviour of investment and exports and a considerable drop 
in private consumption, especially with regard to long duration goods.
This downward trend in demand was explained on the one hand by the 
big increase in the restriction of financing that occurred at the same time 
as banks implementing more stringent criteria to grant credit, and on 
the other by an increase in risk premiums, in a background of increased 
non-compliance in some credit segments more exposed to the cyclical 
conditions, notwithstanding the drop in the interest rates in the monetary 
market.

Portuguese Economy

Economic activity in Portugal fell in the last quarter of 2008 (-1.8%), a 
situation that worsened in the first quarter of 2009 (-3.9%). Annual GDP 
recorded negative growth of 2.7% in 2009, which was the sharpest drop 
in the last few decades. With regard to the breakdown in demand, this 
sharp drop essentially affected exports and investment, reflecting the 
steep decline in the demand outlook.

The financing needs of the Portuguese economy, measured through the 
joint current balance and capital balance deficit as a percentage of 
GDP, fell 10.5% in 2008 to 8.2% in 2009, reflecting a favourable evolution 
in the terms of exchange rather than exclusivity deriving from the big fall 
in the oil price.

Economic Setting
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Inflation, measured through the annual variation of the Harmonised 
Consumer Price Index (HCPI), fell from 2.7% in 2008 to -0.9% in 2009. 
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OUTLOOK FOR THE ECONOMY

An open and fully integrated economy like Portugal’s will inevitably be 
strongly affected by developments that occur at worldwide level, mea-
ning that the outlook for economic growth has to be interpreted in the 
light of this international backdrop. Furthermore, the Portuguese economy 
has shown a set of weaknesses of a structural nature, which have limited its 
growth potential over the last decade, in a context of increased compe-
tition in the international markets and growing integration of the emerging 
market economies which have a similar export pattern to the Portuguese 
economy. These weaknesses are reflected, on the one hand, by the limi-
ted growth of total productivity of assets, which cannot be dissociated 
from the low skill level of the working population. On the other hand, the 
labour factor makes only a small contribution to growth, given the increase 
in structural unemployment, which will tend to continue in a background 
of low demand and low mobility in the job market, and further hindered 
by the level of human capital. These weaknesses, together with the chal-
lenges raised by the new international financing background deriving from 
the financial crisis, will tend to limit growth in economic activity in the me-
dium term. In this background, GDP growth is expected to rise around 0.7% 
in 2010.

The current forecast points to an inflation rate of 0.7% in 2010.

According to forecasts from the Bank of Portugal, the external financing 
needs of the economy shall increase again as a consequence of the slight 
deterioration in the goods and services balance deficit and a big increase 
in the revenue balance deficit, as a result of a further deterioration in the 
position of international investment and a gradual increase in interest ra-
tes. The forecast is for a financing need of 9.8% of GDP in 2010.

A final point relates to the uncertainty linked to the start of the budget 
consolidation process, which compulsorily will reach 3% of GDP in 2013. The 
measures to be adopted by the Government in the Stability and Growth 
Plan will be crucially important for the stability of the economic recovery 
process in Portugal, given that the greater or lesser degree of austerity will 
have repercussions on the cost of public debt with direct consequences 
on other economic agents.
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As the public service provider managing Portugal’s railway network in-
frastructure, REFER is responsible for taking action towards this objective, 
in accordance with the principles of modernisation, safety and efficacy, 
focusing especially on two business areas:

•  Infrastructure Management this facet covers the management 
of the capacity, conservation and maintenance of the railway infra-
structure and management of the respective circulation command 
and control systems, including signalling, regulation and expedition, 
so as to guarantee the safety and quality levels that are indispen-
sable for the provision of the public railway service.

•  Investment encompasses the construction, installation and re-
newal of the infrastructure, undertaken at the expense of the State 
(goods that comprise the railway public domain).

As well as the activities carried out within the scope of the “Infrastructure 
Management” and “Investment” missions, REFER will also carry out other 
complementary activities in the course of its normal functioning, aimed 
at obtaining maximum output from its assets, as shown below in the 
Integrated Profit and Loss Statement by Activity:

Evolution of Activity
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Infrastructure Management
Characterisation of the Railway Network

In December 2009, the total track length of the railway network was 3618 
km, of which 2842 km (78.6%) is currently open to train traffic. Around 
4 km of this track length is operated by Mirandela Metro. The network 
is mainly broad track (Iberian gauge), with only 192 km of the length 
narrow track (metric gauge).
 
As part of the modernisation drive of the network, in recent years a high 
quantity of new facilities have been installed and many others have 
been remodelled and technologically converted to bring about a safer, 
more reliable and more flexible railway network, better suited to require-
ments and providing better connections between transport modes.
In 2009, the railway network could be broken down as follows:

Since 1998 REFER has electrified 587 km of the railway 
network, and currently around 51% of the entire railway 
network is electrified. As such, the total length of Portugal’s 
railway network that was electrified as of December 2009 
was 1460 km. Out of this length, 854 km is a single broad 
track, 563 km a double broad track and 43 km a multiple 
broad track. In the year under analysis the electrification 
percentage of the railway network was unchanged. 

The first line of the network to use electrical traction was 
the Cascais Line, where a direct current of 1500 Volts 
was fitted and inaugurated in 1926. Only in 1956 did new 
electrification services start, with the implementation of 
an alternating current of 25,000 Volts.
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Electrification at 25,000 Volts, in the first 39 years, was implemented along 
462 km of track. This length has been surpassed by the new services that 
have been put into place in recent years, illustrating the investment 
made in this area.

 
As for installed rail track safety systems, at the end of 2009 sophisticated 
Speed Control, Convel and ATS systems had been installed in 52.3% of the 
national railway network. The Convel System (a system shared between 
the operators and REFER) ensures extremely high circulation safety levels 
by guaranteeing compliance with signalling and with authorised train 
circulation speeds. This system assists the train driver’s tasks by warning 
him/her about circulation conditions and by activating the braking 
system (forcing the train to stop) whenever any safety requirement is not 
met. This system is installed in 1459 km of track length, which is 51% of 
the total network in operation. The Ground-Train Radio is another safety 
system that is now operative in 51% of the track length. The Ground-Train 
Radio (system shared by the operators and REFER) is used for voice and 
data communications between train drivers of the operators and REFER 
personnel in charge of traffic control. As such, communications may be 
performed between the Command Post and the train driver, the stations 
and the train drivers and also between the train drivers of two trains. In 
2009 this safety system was installed in 31 km of the railway network, in 
the Neves Corvo Branch. This railway branch connects Ourique to the 
Neves Corvo mine, in the council of Castro Verde and is only used by 
freight trains for transporting material from the mine.

These systems (Convel and Ground-Train Radio), in tandem with the high 
performance and reliability levels of the railway network, mean that 
most of the operating network is at the very highest level in terms of rail 
safety.
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The block signalling system, in turn, aims to ensure safe circulation in the 
same block (section of track), defining a space delimited by stations or 
signals, between which only one train can circulate in normal conditions.

There are three kinds of block signalling systems in the Portuguese rail 
network: the electrical block signalling system (automatic block signal-
ling without manually controllable block), the electronic block signalling 
system (automatic block signalling with manually controllable block) 
and the mechanical block signalling (telephone block signalling). The 
electrical block signalling (automatic block signalling without manually 
controllable block) covers 4% of the national network. In this system the 
lines are split into blocks, which are preceded by signals that protect 
them, informing the train driver if the block is free or not, through light 
signals. The electronic block signalling (automatic block signalling with 
manually controllable block) differs from the previous one through auto-
matic wrong line signalling. Nowadays, the modernisation of the railway 
network has increased this kind of railway operation, and in recent years 
profound changes have been made in the way the traffic is managed in 
most of the network. At the end of 2009, this kind of block signalling had 
been fitted into 48% of the railway tracks. Finally, in the mechanical block 

signalling, the safety of the circulation in a given block (which in this case 
is delimited by two stations and the respective signalling) is safeguarded 
through telephone communication. Only the manned stations can de-
limit blocks and give authorisation for trains to advance. Today, given 
the limitations of this solution, it is only used in low traffic density lines. This 
system is in place in 48% of the network.  
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Infrastructure Management

Infrastructure Management includes two activities:

•  Railway infrastructure conservation and maintenance;

•  Operation (circulation control and command management and 
capacity management).

Operating Revenue

Infrastructure management activity revenue totalled EUR 107.7 million 
in 2009, which was 2% (EUR 2.4 million) up on the previous year. The 
items that most contributed to this increase were Other Revenue, which 
accounted for 14% (EUR 1.5 million) and Operation Subsidies, which ac-
counted for 8% (EUR 2.5 million). Operation Subsidies includes the amount 
paid for the provision of the public service, which rose EUR 2.5 million in 
comparison to 2008. 

The 3% fall in the User Fee occurred essentially in the transport of freight 
owing to the economic climate. 

The User Fee is the item with the greatest impact on total income, com-
prising 20% of the annual total. In 2009, the railway infrastructure traffic 
volume reached a total of 39.9 million train kilometres (TK), generating 
revenue of EUR 59 million. This item includes the amounts invoiced to the 
companies CP, FERTAGUS and TAKARGO and the new operator COMSA. 
The graph entitled “User Fee Revenue Growth” shows us that the av-
erage value per TK increased slightly, despite the TK and the user fee 
being slightly lower.



2009

25

A total of 39.9 million TK were run in 2009, which was slightly down on the 
2008 figure. In this drop the reduction of the TK run by CP is noteworthy, 
falling from 39.5 million TK in 2008 to 37.8 million TK in 2009. This decrease 
is explained by the fall in the transport of freight, owing to the economic 
climate. In contrast, there was an increase in TK run by the operators 
TAKARGO and COMSA, while the operator FERTAGUS maintained the 
levels of the previous year.

Analysing the revenue obtained from the operator CP, which accounts 
for nearly all the traffic on the national rail network (95% of the total TK), 
one sees that in 2009 this amount was EUR 55.9 million, which was 4% 
down compared to 2008. 

The Operation Subsidies item includes amounts referring to Compensatory 
Indemnities assigned to REFER to settle accounts, as stipulated in the 
Council of Ministers Decision no. 114/2009, published in the Diário da 
República, 1st Series, no. 240, on 14 December 2009 (EUR 43.3 million). In 
2009 the amount received was EUR 36.1 million, which was an increase 
of 8% compared to 2008.
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The Other Revenue item rose 14% (EUR 1.5 million), making a big con-
tribution to the increase in the Total Revenue from Infrastructure 
Management. The services rendered to the operators also included the 
provision of services connected to the railway activity, called additional 
services and auxiliary services, in line with the fee chart published in the 
Network Directory. Among these services, particularly noteworthy is the 
increase in revenue coming from the provision of traction power, which 
in 2009 was 6% up in relation to 2008, the increase in revenue from rolling 
stock parking, which increased 18% in 2009 compared to the previous 
year, and the utilisation of stations and stops, which generated a rise in 
income of 14%. 

Operating Expenses

The Infrastructure Management expenses increased 3% compared to 
the same period the previous year. This rise is mainly due to the following 
factors:
 
A 44% rise in consumption of maintenance materials for the railway ne-
twork. In 2008 the amount spent had been EUR 5.51 million, while in 2009 
this amount was EUR 7.92 million. This increase derives essentially from the 
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The value of the subcontracts, which in recent years had been incre-
asing, stagnated in 2009 when compared to 2008 (EUR 72.99 million in 
2009 against EUR 72.62 million in 2008). Among the three specialities 
comprising this item, the most significant was telecommunications. 
However, the Track speciality continued to have the biggest proportion 
of the Subcontracts (33%).

The average workforce of the Infrastructure Management activity at the 
end of 2009 was 2916, which is 2% lower than at the end of 2008. The 
personnel costs were 6% higher when compared to the year 2008 (2009: 
EUR 90.44 million and 2008: EUR 85.69 million). This result shows the growth 
of the payroll and respective charges, as well as the compensation paid 
through redundancy agreements. The average cost per staff member of 
the infrastructure management activity rose 7% in 2009 (increasing from 
EUR 28,910 to EUR 31,020).

Operating Income

Operating Income from Infrastructure Management was 4% lower than 
in the previous year (2009: EUR -98.59 million and 2008: EUR -94.51 million) 
as a result of the increased operational spending that was not offset by 
the increased operational revenues in the year. 

Conservation

Within Infrastructure Management, the Infrastructure Conservation ac-
tivity encompasses the following tasks:

•  Conservation of the track, signalling, telecommunications and other 
fixed installations; 

•  Planning of management and conservation activities;

•  Controlling the operation parameters of quality, safety, reliability 
and economy;

•  Managing accidents and incidents with implications on the 
infrastructure.

maintenance work carried out, especially the application of rails and 
crossties that accounted for around EUR 1.7 million and EUR 0.8 million, 
respectively.
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Operating Expenses

The railway infrastructure conservation and maintenance expenses in-
clude the spending on conservation and other operational expenses. In 
2009, this amount increased 7% in comparison to 2008 (2009: EUR 107.9 
million and 2008: EUR 101 million). 
A 43% rise in consumption of the materials applied to the network con-
tributed to this outcome. 

The Conservation activity’s Personnel Expense increased 15% in rela-
tion to 2008, rising in the year under analysis to EUR 35.3 million, while 
in the previous year this figure was EUR 30.8 million. This fact reflects the 
increase in employee numbers in this activity (4%) and the impact of the 
company wage increase agreement. 
The average cost per employee of the conservation activity increased 
10% in 2009.

Operation

Still within Infrastructure Management, Operation activities included:

•  Circulation command and control management;

•  Management of operation personnel assigned to circulation;

•  Management of safety aspects, including operation event 
management;

•  Authorisation and control of infrastructure restrictions;

•  Capacity analysis;

•  Assigning the capacity to operators;

•  Planning infrastructure restrictions.

•  Measuring, controlling, invoicing and collecting the utilised capacity
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In the Operation Activity, Expenses fell very slightly in 2009, driven essen-
tially by the 61% reduction in Other Expenses. 

The Materials Expense increased 57% (EUR 181,000), totalling EUR 496,000 
in 2009, compared to EUR 315,000 in 2008. This variation is explained by 
the increase in the consumables of the signalling systems. 

Personnel expense among operating staff increased slightly in 2009 
when compared to 2008, by EUR 258,000 (0.47%). In contrast, the average 
number of employees fell 5% compared to 2008. The rise in personnel 
costs is explained by the 2.9% rise in wages, but also owing to redun-
dancy agreements. The average cost per employee of the Operating 
Activity increased 6%.
The Operating Activity is also responsible, among other things, for al-
locating capacity among the various national rail network operators, 
measuring, controlling, invoicing and charging for capacity used, as well 
as requested and not used. In 2009 the total utilisation by the operators 
was 3% down on the 2008 figure (1.4 million fewer TK). 
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In 2009, there were five licensed operators: CP, which in 2009 split into CP 
and CP Carga, FERTAGUS, TAKARGO and COMSA. The same two pas-
senger operators ran services in the year. CP operated over the whole 
national network while FERTAGUS ran a concession to operate the su-
burban passenger rail transport service along the North-South Rail Axis, 
between the stations of Roma - Areeiro and Setúbal. As regards freight 
traffic, TAKARGO, CP Carga, created in 2009, and COMSA, which began 
in test mode in 2009, are the players in this segment. In 2009 passenger 
traffic continued to account for the vast majority of the total utilisation, 
although it recorded an almost insignificant fall of 0.3%. Freight transport 
fell sharply, by 17%. The empty runs increased 4.4%, with TAKARGO and 
COMSA contributing most to this 186% increase.

Passenger services recorded a total of 32 million TK, which was 94,000 TK 
fewer than in 2008. Freight traffic clocked up 6 million TK, which was a 
drop of 1 million in relation to the previous year. The empty runs utilised 1 
million TK, 45,000 more than in 2008.

The graph below shows the preponderance of CP in the utilisation of the 
railway network. It was clearly the operator with the most TK: 

Among the network segments that registered the highest utilisation gro-
wth, especially noteworthy are the suburban train services of Porto, whi-
ch increased 8.6% compared to 2008.
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Punctuality Rate

There was a considerable improvement in the punctuality rate in most 
categories of trains in 2009, apart from the inter-regional services, where 
the rate fell by 3%. It is pointed out that in 2008 the punctuality rates for 
reasons attributed to REFER had reduced in most categories of services, 
essentially owing to the poor state of repair of the track, chiefly in the 
sections of the Northern Line between the stations of Vale de Santarém 
– Entroncamento, Alfarelos – Pampilhosa and Ovar – Gaia where rehabi-
litation work took place in 2009.
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Investment Activity expenses were 8% up in 2009 compared to 2008. This 
rise is essentially explained by a 55% increase in materials spending.

Personnel expenses fell 3% compared to 2008, mainly because of a 2% 
reduction in the workforce. The average cost per employee was practi-
cally unchanged.
 
In terms of total investment costs, budget execution for 2009 was at 56%, 
as shown in the following table:

Investments
Investments include the management of projects and works. Investment 
expenses cover internal management spending, materials supplied by 
REFER, associated financial expenses and all external expenses paid to 
contractors, inspections, etc. The following internal fixed asset expenses 
were incurred:
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Investments in 2009 were financed by the State budget – Chapter 50 
(PIDDAC), EU subsidies, protocols established between REFER and various 
entities and other financing sources.
The investment coverage is broken down as follows: EU subsidies accoun-
ted for 22% of the total (EUR 66 million), Chapter 50 of the State bud-
get funded 3% of the total investment (EUR 10 million), other financing 
sources covered 69% (EUR 204 million) and the protocols contributed EUR 
20 million (6% of the total), namely the construction of the new Aveiro 
Station, among others.

Consequently, about 69% of the investment in 2008 became a debt with 
an impact on the Financial Expenses.
Among the total contribution of EU Funds are the candidatures alrea-
dy presented and which are awaiting approval (Raquete Station and 
Aveiro Port Rail Link – 2nd and 3rd Phases) and candidatures currently 
being drawn up (Bombel / Casa Branca / Évora, Trofa Alternative Route 
and Mondego Mobility System). Therefore, the contributions to these pro-
jects are estimates.
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Since 2002 REFER has invested EUR 2.8912 billion in the national railway 
network (at technical costs):

National Railway Network Modernisation Actions

•  Minho Line

Commissioning of the improvements and reinforcements of the S. 
Miguel da Carreira, Tamel, Santa Lucrécia and Caminha tunnels. 
Adjudication of the contract to plant cork trees and management 
plan of the areas classified as residential of the Trofa Alternative 
Route project. Work has begun on the contract for the design / con-
struction of the railway tunnel of the Trofa Alternative Route.

•  Guimarães Line

Development of the project to modify the layout of the drainage 
system in PI5 of the Guimarães Line, at the access to Lordelo Station. 
Commissioning, undertaking and inspection of the Contract to 
modify the layout of the drainage system in PI5 of the Guimarães 
Line, at the access to Lordelo Station. 

•  North Line

Completion of the Electrical Installation works and Return of the 
Traction Current in the 1.2 Alhandra / Setil subsection. Completion of 
the pedestrian overpass construction contract at Vila Franca de Xira 
Station. Tender launched and contract awarded for initial drainage 
work in the area surrounding the Fátima tunnel, aimed at preventing 
possible flooding of the railway at times of intense rainfall, guaran-
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teeing the safety of the train circulation. Rehabilitation of the tracks 
of Coimbra B Station. Construction of the Alfarelos Station technical 
building. Elimination of several level crossings of the Northern Line.

•  Aveiro Port Rail link

Continuation of the services rendered for the Coordination and 
Safety Inspection of the Aveiro Port Rail link, awarded to DHV, SA, 
which is forecast to be completed at the end of February 2010. 
Completion of the contract for the construction of the Rail Link 
between Km 0+000 and the access overpass to Gafanha Bridge 
(inclusive). Completion of the contract for construction of the Aveiro 
Port Rail Link, 2nd Phase. Completion of the contract to modify the 
layout of the gas network at Km 7+523 of the Aveiro Port Rail Link, at 
Gafanha da Nazaré. Completion of service provision for control of 
the railway platform during ground levelling, in the Aveiro Port Rail 
Link. Completion of the contract for Construction of the Aveiro Port 
Rail Link, 3rd Phase, which involved assembling the railway track. 
Completion of service provision for the Removal of urban waste next 
to the PS3 road overpass of the Aveiro Port Rail Link. 

•  Mondego Mobility System

The contracts were awarded for the Refurbishment of the 
Infrastructures on the Miranda do Corvo / Serpins and Alto S. João/
Miranda do Corvo sections and inspection service provision of the 
Coimbra B / Serpins enterprise. On 25 November 2009 the Contract 
was awarded for the refurbishment of the Infrastructures of the 
Miranda do Corvo / Serpins section, and on 2 December 2009 the 
railway service along this section was closed.

•  Beira Baixa Line

Completion of the contract for reinforcement of the Castelo Branco 
Station road underpass, Phase 1. Completion of the contract to con-
struct the pedestrian underpass to replace the level crossing at Km 
91+640.

•  Cascais Line

Completion of archaeological study of the zone around S. Pedro do 
Estoril Station and execution project for its remodelling, and comple-
tion of the procedures to hire the contractor and inspection entity. 
Completion of the remodelling project and start of the procedures 
to hire the contractor, the inspection entity and the transplant of 
trees at S. João do Estoril Station, which do not fit into the future 
layout in their current position. Adjudication of the entire project to 
modernise the Cascais Line in the specialities of the Track, Power 
Lines, Drainage, Support Walls, Landscaping and Environment.
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•  Sintra Line

Work continued throughout 2009 on the Contract to quadruple the 
Sintra Line between Km 13+750 and 18+250, including the remod-
elling of Barcarena and Cacém Stations. Upon completion of this 
contract, forecast for August 2011, the quadruplication of the Sintra 
Line between Benfica and Cacém will be finished, and the sta-
tions along that section will be completely remodelled - Massamá/
Barcarena and Agualva/Cacém. In January 2009 the last pedes-
trian crossings along this section, which were between the bays of 
the Agualva and Cacém Stations, were eliminated. There are now 
no level crossings, either pedestrian or road, on the Sintra Line.

•  Alentejo Line

Opening to the public, in September 2009, of stations at Apeadeiros 
do Barreiro, Barreiro A, Lavradio, Baixa da Banheira, Alhos Vedros, 
Moita and Penteado. At Baixa da Banheira a pedestrian underpass 
was also completed at Km 3+850.

•  Alcácer Alternative Route

Completion of the alternative route between Pinheiro Station and 
Km 94 of the Southern Line – 1st Phase – Complementary Work. 
Completion of the work of the Contract for the Alternative Route 
between Pinheiro Station and Km 94 of the Southern Line – 1st Phase 
– Lowering of the PIA Surface to PK 6+463 and Drainage on the PIA to 
PK 1+114, 15+671, 22+842 and 23+889. Completion of the contract for 
the Alcácer alternative route (2nd Phase): Rail crossing of the River 
Sado – bridge and respective raised access roads.

•  Rail Link to Sines Port / Elvas

Completion of the prior study and environmental impact study of the 
Sines / Grândola section. Completion of the service provision for the 
reworking of the Évora Station modernisation project. Commissioning 
of the modernisation contract of Raquete Station. Elimination of the 
level crossing at PK 170+110, on 18 November 2009. Commissioning of 
the contract to modernise the Bombel and Vidigal to Évora section 
of the Alentejo Line, Vendas Novas and Évora.

Level Crossings

In line with the Level Crossing Elimination and Reclassification Plan for 
2009, and under the terms of article 2 of Decree-Law no. 568/99 of 23 
December, which REFER and external entities, namely Local Councils, 
are subject to, 48 actions were carried out. This included the elimination 
of 41 level crossings and 7 reclassifications, whereby 42 (88%) of these 
actions were carried out by REFER and the others in partnership with the 
external entities.

 

Estação do Barreiro Apeadeiro do Penteado Apeadeiro do Barreiro 

 

Estação do Barreiro Apeadeiro do Penteado Apeadeiro do Barreiro 

 

Estação do Barreiro Apeadeiro do Penteado Apeadeiro do Barreiro 

Barreiro Station

Penteado Stop

Barreiro Stop
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The total investment for these actions was around EUR 18.6 million, of 
which EUR 17.6 million was paid by REFER, as shown in the table below:

In December 2009, out of all the operating railway lines in Portugal, there 
were 1191 level crossings, which can be broken down into the following 
categories: 
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The average LC density at the end of 2009 was 0.419 LC/km.
The following graph shows the downward trend in the number of level 
crossings and the actions carried out in recent years:

The trend of accidents at level crossings over the past decade is as 
follows:
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The above graph can be explained by the ongoing policy of elimina-
tion and improvement of safety at level crossings, which has contributed 
to the sustained reduction in accidents. However, persons hit at level 
crossings still account for the highest number of mortal accident victims, 
making the awareness campaigns in schools and in the media an in-
creasingly important initiative. 

It is pointed out that as a result of the work in this area, the goals set in 
2005 in the Major Options of the 2005/2009 Plan, which defined a reduc-
tion in accidents at level crossings of 50% in comparison to 2004, have 
been surpassed. In 2009 a total of 49 accidents were registered, when 
the target was less than 51 accidents.
The following graph shows that the initiatives carried out have led to a 
downward trend in accidents that is also on course to achieve the goals 
defined in the Strategic Guidelines for the Railway Sector, which set a 
target of a 60% reduction in the accident rate by 2015 in comparison to 
2005.

In June 2009, REFER presented the “STOP, LISTEN, LOOK” campaign, 
aimed at raising awareness in society of the need to comply with the 
safety regulations when going through level crossings, and avoidance 
of risks. In December 2009 the Green Paper was presented on Safety at 
Level Crossings, which was aimed at initiating the public debate about 
the problem and collecting contributions for the implementation of new 
measures to prevent accidents when crossing railway lines. 

In an initiative to publicise the REFER actions with regard to level cross-
ings, the company created a website (www.refer.pt/passagensdenivel) 
and a page on the social network site Facebook.
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Complementary Activities
This item includes:

•  Supplementary services, in particular: Telecommunications, con-
cession of commercial spaces, sale of waste, etc;

•  Material recovery and waste management;

•  Works under the responsibility of third parties. 

Operating Income

The operating income of Complementary Activities fell sharply in com-
parison to the previous year. In 2009 it reached the negative amount 
of EUR 3.5 million, when in 2008 this figure had been EUR -16,000. This 
deterioration is explained by the 17% increase in expenditure. The items 
Subcontracts (30% up) and Other External Supplies and Services (29% up) 
had the biggest influence on income. In this case, the IT and consultancy 
spends were particularly high.
The variation to the Provisions/adjustments item is explained chiefly by 
the ongoing legal processes.

Revenue fell 5% in comparison to 2008, due mainly to the provision of 
energy and water, which fell EUR 1.2 million in comparison to 2008.
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1.	 Environment Management Systems
The main strategic guidelines mapped out for this area focus on a cor-
porative approach to the processes right the way through REFER, as well 
as taking advantage of the opportunities in relation to the structuring 
methodologies of the management systems, in the fields of Environment 
and Quality. In this background the strategies have been drawn up 
taking into account the essential importance of convergence in order 
to channel the effort of the systems already in place in the operational 
areas to the respective productive processes that are essential for the 
performance of the company.
The ongoing work is being monitored, both in the construction area and 
in the maintenance area, covering both the contracting phase and the 
consequent execution phase of the jobs.
Emphasis also goes to the regular training, particularly for programmes 
carried out by the Human Resources Department geared towards both 
the Environment and the Quality areas.

2.	 Environmental Assessment

Environmental Assessment is an essential part of the company’s 
Environment policy, in putting into practice the principle of prevention. 
This prior assessment of the projects is a progressively more deep-rooted 
part of our projects and the planning process, often constituting a crit-
ical stage in the undertaking of an initiative. Throughout 2009 the intense 
work that had been carried out in 2008 in this area continued apace 
(both in the investment design phase, and in the implementation), which 
led to resources being redirected to the team in the construction area.

As well as new projects (non-level connection of the Cascais Circular 
Line, Sines / North Grândola Line, Quadruplication of the Minho Line 
between Contumil and Ermesinde, as well as Pole 2 of the Leixões 
Logisitcs Platform) which required environmental assessments, the on-
going projects that started in the previous years also continued to be 
monitored, in addition to the environmental licensing processes. Among 
these, the following are highlighted:

◦◦ Alfarelos Station and adjacent sections;

◦◦ Santarém alternative route;

◦◦ Km 88/Entroncamento;

◦◦ Bombel / Casa Branca;

◦◦ Raquete Station;

◦◦ Beira Baixa Line in the Castelo Branco / Covilhã and Covilhã / 
Guarda sections.

Environment
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3.	 Environmental Monitoring
In 2009 the work was completed on noise and vibration monitoring 
(operating phase) on the Évora, Minho, South, Beira Baixa Lines and the 
Braga Branch, and the respective reports were written.
Likewise, the water quality was monitored (in the Casa Branca / Évora 
section of the Évora Line) following up on the commitments made as 
regards the environmental assessment of the project.

4.	 Noise 

In 2009 the Strategic Noise Chart was completed for the Porto S.Bento/
Ermesinde section of the Minho Line. Upon the presentation of this chart, 
all lines and sections of line that have over 60,000 train journeys a year 
have been charted, which was the overriding priority of the REFER action.
In the possession of this information, and in order to tackle the challenge 
of drawing up plans to reduce the noise on these lines, a joint analysis 
began of the charts already completed, in order to assess where efforts 
should be directed, what hierarchy of action to adopt and what tools 
should be used to bring about the intended effect.

 

Extract of the Cascais Line noise chart

Also this year production started on the first of two noise charts of the 
2nd phase (lines or sections of line that ran 30,000 to 60,000 train journeys 
a year), referring to the Quintans/Ovar and Entroncamento/Albergaria 
sections.

5.	 Fauna and Flora

Throughout 2009 the following projects were carried out:

Saltworks to be rehabilitated in Alcácer do Sal

a.	 Ecological rehabilitation of a Saltworks in Alcácer do Sal – A de-
tailed topographical study of the saltworks was carried out and the 
respective programme of action devised, which was sent to the 
ministerial department to obtain a statement and subsequently to 
begin the execution project.
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Native Forest – Planting on 28 February – Afonsim (Vila Pouca de Aguiar)

b.	 Native Forest Promotion project – The first action in this project was 
undertaken as part of REFER’s association in the Create Woods 
programme, run by Quercus. As well as the partnership, REFER also 
arranged technical support from Quercus to coordinate the multiple 
actions, which included planting over 25,000 Native Forest trees and 
bushes in 17 different locations. Two actions were organised which 
REFER employees were open to take part in. One was held in Afonsim 
(Vila Pouca de Aguiar) and the other in Pampilhosa (Mealhada).

6.	 Waste Management

In 2009, as well as the usual support from the operational entities in 
the establishment of management strategies for the waste produced, 
particularly noteworthy was the development of construction and 
demolition prevention and waste management plans, following on from 
and complementing the training plan mapped out in the previous year.
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Property Assets belonging to REFER are part of the public railway do-
main. Under legal terms, REFER is responsible for the management and 
conservation of the said assets. Gaining maximum profit from this vast 
quantity of property assets is increasingly a priority of the company. 

The following activities are worth pointing out:

a.	 Income earned from properties that are no longer required for the 
rail network amounted to approximately EUR 1.6 million. It is pointed 
out that in the year under analysis several buildings were yielded 
to different public entities, including some Passenger Buildings lo-
cated in railway stations that were no longer required for the railway 
operation. 

b.	 As part of the effort to utilise these properties as mentioned above, 
the National Ecotrails Plan continues afoot, which aims to:

◦◦ Preserve old railway tracks, safeguarding them from other ille-
gitimate occupations and creating a number of opportunities for 
future re-utilisation for Transport and Mobility;

◦◦ Provide an excellent contribution to a future national network 
of about 600 km of “green paths”, “cycling paths”, “pedestrian 
paths”, “nature paths”, etc;

◦◦ Contribute to a new type of tourism offer linked to Ecotourism / 
Nature tourism;

◦◦ Help prevent desertification of many regions and rural areas 
whilst creating a potential for local jobs;

◦◦ And somewhat contribute to the National Sustainable 
Development Strategy to be definitively approved at a national 
level.

By the end of 2009, 33 municipalities had been consigned nearly 350 
km of decommissioned railway track. Currently, it is still necessary to sign 
protocols for nearly 300 km to achieve the goal laid out in the National 
Ecotrails Plan, a target we believe will be met within the few years. Of the 
decommissioned tracks, nearly 130 km of Ecotrails have already been 
opened and made available to either local populations or all parties 
interested in these kinds of facilities.   

Property Assets
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About 2100 trains circulated every day on the National Rail network in 
2009, clocking up approximately 39.9 million TK. Most of the trains (about 
80%) provide passenger services.
REFER continuously strives to ensure the safety of passengers, its person-
nel and the staff of the railway operators and service providers. Likewise, 
the company is always concerned with the safety of those who use level 
crossings.
Safety is also a foremost priority in the transport of freight, rolling stock 
and the prevention of forest fires in the vicinities of the railway.
These are intrinsic concerns of a high quality public service and an abso-
lute priority of all the REFER personnel.
Notwithstanding the good practises among the various participants in 
the rail transport system, emphasis goes to identifying risk situations in 
order to apply preventative measures and corrective measures, thereby 
contributing to increased safety of operation and better cooperation 
between the various entities.
However, to ensure safety, three essential aspects must be taken into ac-
count: compliance with train circulation regulations and maintenance 
of the railway system; actions to prevent deterioration and emergency 
situations; and maintaining close contact with all external stakeholders. 
The first two aspects depend somewhat on compliance with railway re-
gulations, which reflect insofar as possible, the changes in market regu-
lations (domestic and foreign), the technological advances in infrastruc-
ture construction and maintenance systems and the command, control 
and management of the circulation. 
Accordingly, ongoing updates have been made to the Railway 
Regulations which, since REFER was founded in 1997, have been extensi-
vely implemented at all levels of the railway system.
Since the 1990s the sector has undergone huge transformation, through 
the newly transposed and implemented EU legislation packages for the 
railway sector. These packages aim essentially to create a rail transport 
network within Europe and to standardise the systems and conventio-
nal technical equipment (infrastructures, rolling stock, etc.), based on 
the Technical Specification for Interoperability, thus creating a safer and 
more sustainable common railway system among the Member States.
The impact of these goals is felt in the way each Member State’s national 
rail network is adapted and transformed to comply with this European 
policy, not only in terms of a European vision, but also regarding the na-
tional strategic options.
As such, the operation safety policy helps the national rail network, toge-
ther with all intervening participants, to maximise its operating capacity 
and to be intrinsically safe.
The identification of accidents, as outlined in Decree-Law no. 231/2007 
of 14 June, has been standardised in conjunction with the railway ope-
rators – CP, FERTÁGUS, TAKARGO Rail – and with the participation of the 
Regulator – IMTT. In 2009 there was an especially sharp fall in the number 
of significant accidents, with 43 recorded in comparison to 73 the pre-
vious year. 

It is also pointed out that around 90% of the TK run on Portugal’s rail ne-
twork was covered by Automatic Speed Control (Convel) and Ground-
Train Radio safety systems by the end of the year. Additionally, the SDCRQ 
system (Overheated Wheels and Axle Boxes Detection System) was stra-
tegically installed at seven network sites, which greatly contributed to 

Safety
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ensure that about 80% of the long-haul traffic, especially freight traffic, 
was better monitored, so as to reduce the risk of derailment.
Thus, in 2009 about 95% of significant accidents resulted from accidents 
at LCs and from persons hit by trains on tracks and at stations and stops. 
REFER carried out an intensive internal and external campaign to raise 
awareness about the risks of crossing at LC, continuing its current policy 
of eliminating and reclassifying level crossings, and preventing improper 
use of the railway by pedestrians.
Also in 2009 awareness training initiatives were reinforced as regards 
operating safety and safety in building work that affects the circulation 
of the trains.
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1.	 Personnel and wage policy

After two years in which the number of employees leaving the company 
slowed down, in 2009 there was a rise in the number of workers who left 
REFER, albeit fewer than in the first years of the company. 
In December 2009 the REFER workforce numbered 3497, which resulted 
from 122 employees leaving and 64 arrivals, as well as a reduction in the 
number of workers suspended (58) when compared to the same period 
in 2008 (53). Consequently, the company reduced its workforce by 59 
employees in the year.

The monthly average number of workers was 3518, which is 1.6% less than 
in 2008. 

Human Resources

he total payroll rose from EUR 83.6 million to EUR 85.9 million (+2.7%), re-
sulting from a 2.9% rise in wages as negotiated with the Workers’ Unions.
The payroll continues to reflect the high proportion of fixed components 
(80%), as is common among companies of the same nature as REFER.
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The average age and the average number of years of service, as of 
December, was 45.8 and 20.4 years respectively. These figures are higher 
than in the previous years by around 0.4 years, since the balance be-
tween the incoming and outgoing workers was not enough to invert the 
“natural aging process”.
The number of better qualified employees continued to increase. The 
level of academic education also increased, with the number of em-
ployees with higher education qualifications nearing 19% by the end of 
the year. 
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2.	 Enhancement of the potential of the Human Resources

As part of the “2007-2010 Training Strategy”, training was given to REFER’s 
workers throughout 2009, aimed at ensuring the employees of the com-
pany are equipped to fulfil the strategic goals set.
A budget of EUR 1.1 million was used to carry out 827 training actions, 
which 7662 employees took part in, leading to a total of 107,067 training 
hours.
The training carried out was geared towards all areas of the organisa-
tion. Particularly noteworthy given its importance and the number of 
workers who took part was the railway technical training, as part of 
REFER’s middle management development programme, leadership and 
management training and the Renewal Training Programme.

In addition to these training actions, a programme of visits was run for 
workers to get to know several ongoing railway building work projects or 
sites of interest, such as the 25 de Abril Bridge, the Rossio tunnel, the Lisbon 
and Porto Operational Command Centres and the works on the Alcácer 
Alternative Route. A total of 45 workers took part in these visits, who had 
the opportunity to get to know the REFER business in more detail.

3.	 Recruitment and Mobility

The year 2009 saw a high level of internal mobility. The project to upgrade 
clerks to management assistants was practically completed. Likewise, 
the professional conversion of 112 employees took place, with special 
emphasis on the 28 Circulation Controllers who changed their job title 
and function to infrastructure operators and 12 Level Crossing guards 
who became management assistants.

In tandem, whenever necessary, REFER carried out external recruitment 
processes with a view to covering the critical, personnel and technical 
skills that are essential to fulfil the strategic goals of the company. As 
such, 38 technical staff members were hired, in line with the policy to 
increase the professional qualifications of the company workforce.

The year 2009 was also marked by the creation of the REFER Renewal 
Training Programme, within the scope of which 16 trainees were hired 
in areas linked to the core business of the organisation. This project will 
initially last for 12 months, at the end of which the company will be willing 
to integrate the trainees into the workforce. Emphasis is also given to 
the continuing Conventional Training Programme, which is now geared 
solely towards new graduates in the support areas of the company.

In 2010 REFER is expected to maintain its policy of converting the oper-
ating staff, above all as regards the transition of level crossing guards to 
general support and management assistants and redirecting employees 
from the circulation area of the north and central regions to a main-
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tenance career. Furthermore, in order to prepare the company for the 
medium- and long-term aims, plans are in place for the recruitment of 
trainees through the REFER Renewal Training Programme. 

4.	 Work and Labour Relations

The vast majority of the company employees (69%) are represented 
in 21 unions, which abide by the Company Agreement in force. A new 
union was created in 2009, the Associação Sindical dos Profissionais do 
Comando e Controlo Ferroviário – APROFER (Railway Command and 
Control Professional Union), which has significant membership in the Lisbon 
Operational Command Centre.

Despite the high percentage of employees belonging to unions and the 
high number of unions that represent them, REFER has a good working re-
lationship with all the worker representative organisations and the workers’ 
committee, with no labour conflicts or problems worthy of mention occur-
ring in 2009.
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REFER has shareholdings in a number of companies which were founded 
to restructure the railway sector, even before REFER was founded, and 
which complement railway infrastructure management activities.

REFER Shareholdings

Affiliated Companies and Main Activities
REFER TELECOM – Serviços de Telecomunicações, S.A.

REFER Telecom – Serviços de Telecomunicações, S.A., is a telecom-
munications operator licensed by ANACOM. Refer Telecom manages, 
supervises and maintains railway telecommunications networks and 
systems. It is also responsible for installing and managing telecommuni-
cations, which are essential for rail transport. It has a national coverage 
network and uses an optical fibre backbone with over 2800 km, allowing 
it to operate in the country’s main district capitals and urban centres. 
Various connectivity services are supported on this network. 
Its mission is to “effectively manage the telecommunications infra-
structure yielded by the Shareholder, supplying respective services of 
excellence, as well as the optimisation of all the resources through a 
specialised offering to the rest of the market.”
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INVESFER - Promoção e Comercialização de Terrenos 
e Edifícios S.A.

A INVESFER S.A. is a company of public capital held by REFER EP. It ren-
ders property asset management services. Its strategic mission is to offer 
flexible and innovative solutions to enhance properties tailored to client 
needs. 
The company’s strategic vision is to be recognised as a leading proper-
ty asset enhancement company, contributing to the success of its sha-
reholders, clients, partners and employees. 
It abides by the following values: 

◦◦ Ethical and professional practice based on criteria of transpar-
ency and valuing of people; 

◦◦ Provision of a service of the utmost quality and excellence, based 
on flexibility of procedures and persistence in the search for the 
best solutions; 

◦◦ Engendering team spirit of cohesion, enthusiasm, dedication and 
determination of all the employees; 

◦◦ Social responsibility, based on sustainability.

The railway buildings that are no longer used give rise to serious preser-
vation difficulties, given their fragmentation, geographical isolation and 
in some cases the changes in the surrounding social and urban context. 
REFER, through INVESFER, has been undertaking actions to improve and 
refurbish the railway properties, to guarantee financial and environmen-
tal sustainability and enable them to be used by the populations. 
While these actions have a greater impact on the outskirts of urban cen-
tres, in other places these initiatives are equally important, allowing the 
preservation of historical and museological assets, and generating op-
portunities for local business development in areas such as tourism, the 
hotel industry and commerce. 

FERBRITAS - Empreendimentos Industriais e Comerciais, S.A

A FERBRITAS S.A. is a REFER Group company with over three decades 
of experience in the railway sector and is specialised in the planning of 
transports, infrastructure engineering and the production and commer-
cialisation of aggregates. FERBRITAS S.A. performs two distinct activities: 

◦◦ Transport engineering

◦◦ Aggregates
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RAVE, Rede Ferroviária de Alta Velocidade, SA

RAVE, Rede Ferroviária de Alta Velocidade, SA, is a Portuguese com-
pany that develops and coordinates the works and studies necessary for 
decisions on the planning, construction, financing, supply and operation 
of a high-speed rail network to be installed in mainland Portugal, and 
the link to its counterpart Spanish network. 
RAVE was founded through Decree-Law no. 323-H/2000, published in the 
Diário da República no. 291 (1st Series – Supplement), of 19 December.

2009 Indicators

The main indicators of the companies belonging to the REFER in 2009 are 
as follows:
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Operating Income
 

Income and Asset Structure

REFER’s Operating Income fell 8% (EUR 7.5 million) compared to 31 
December 2008, which was the result of the higher Operating Expenses 
(EUR 9.2 million). 

Operating Revenues rose EUR 1.6 million (1.3%), which was however insu-
fficient to offset the increased costs.

The improvement in Operating Revenues, which accounts for 42% of total 
revenue, derived from a combination of: 

•  Increase in the Subsidies item, which grew 8%, as a result of the in-
crease in Compensatory Indemnity paid to REFER in 2009.

•  Decrease of 5% in the Other revenue item.

Revenues from User Fees fell from EUR 60.6 million to EUR 59 million. This 
drop of 2.7% reflects the 3.4% decline in the quantity of TK run.
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Operating Expenses increased to EUR 224.8 million, which was 4.3% up 
on the 2008 figure. This increase resulted essentially from the following 
factors:

•  A 41% increase in Cost of Sales – this item reflects the rise recorded 
in track maintenance and the consequent increase in material con-
sumption, namely rails.

•  A 5% increase (EUR 4.78 million) in the Personnel Expenses item, re-
sulting from the nominal increase in these costs due to wage rises, 
and also EUR 3.9 million referring to redundancy agreements. 

•  A 5% increase in the External Supplies and Services item (EUR 5 mil-
lion) due mainly to the increase in consultancy, IT, electricity and 
water costs. 

These items account for around 95% of Operating Expenses.

The proportion of Operating Expenses covered by the User Fees in 2009 
was 26% (compared to 28% in 2008).
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Financial Income improved considerably, by around EUR 76 million, in 
comparison to 2008.

The variation in Financial Income was mainly down to the economic 
climate in 2009, which saw a big drop in interest rates, directly affecting 
the debt service cost.
It is in this background that the interest incurred on loans decreased 29% 
compared to 2008, and the interest incurred on the derivative financial 
instruments was 11% lower than in 2008. 

The change in Gains and Losses deriving from variations in the fair value 
of the derivative financial instruments reflects the fluctuations registered 
in the financial market throughout the year. 
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Overall, the financial costs decreased 31% while the gains fell by just 4%.

The financial debt management chapter gives a detailed analysis of 
REFER’s financial performance, including the investment component.

Gains/Losses among Associated Companies returned a positive balance 
because of the rise in value, through the asset equivalence method, of 
the shareholdings in FERBRITAS, INVESFER and REFER Telecom, with both 
FERBRITAS and INVESFER reversing their cycle of negative net income.

Analysing the overall financing needs, we see that there is a constant 
need to use financing to support the deficit of each of the activities.
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Net Income

This financial year presents a negative net income of EUR 113 million, 
which is 38% down on the 31 December 2008 figure.

The ratio of total revenues in relation to the total expenses went from 62% 
in 2008 to 72% in 2009.

The alleviating of the net income deficit can be explained by the big 
improvement in financial income (88% up) despite the fall of around 8% 
in the operating income.

Financial Position Statement

Asset Structure
Note that, as was the case in 2008, the Financial Position Statement is 
presented in accordance with the IAS regulations.

Assets

Investment in Long Duration Infrastructures (LDI) - Long Duration 
Infrastructure Investments reflects REFER’s investments in infrastructures 
on behalf of the State.

In 2009 there was a EUR 953 million drop in net assets. This decrease is 
explained by the combination of the rise in investment in LDI (EUR 349 
million) and a greater level of financial coverage of investment (+EUR 
1.2 billion).
The LDI item, which in 2009 amounted to EUR 430 million, represents 
around 65% of the total assets and includes the following items of assets 
and liabilities (listed in line with the investment made): 
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The variation in the LDI assets reflects the investment made in the infra-
structure during the year, which at the end of the year amounted to a 
total of EUR 7,582 million.
The amount of subsidies attributed to the investment increased around 
EUR 129 million, of which 78% was attributed by Cohesion Fund.
Expenses from loans represent the interest imputable to the investment in 
LDI and not subject to capitalisation.
The loans obtained are loans benefiting from State guarantee or which 
are explicitly obtained for investment (EIB loans), and amount to EUR 
3,897 million, to cover the financing of the investment made exclusively 
in LDIs.

Non-current Assets - reached EUR 97 million in 2008, which was EUR 6 
million up on the 2008 figure. This increase is mainly down to a combina-
tion of:

◦◦ A EUR 16 million increase in investments in branch affiliates, re-
sulting from a rise in value of the financial shareholdings owned 
in the capital of the companies FERBRITAS, INVESFER and REFER 
Telecom and CP Com of EUR 9 million and EUR 8 million of 
INVESFER loss coverage.

◦◦ Reduction of around EUR 8 million in loans and receivables, de-
riving from the total amortisation of the eliminations carried out 
by INVESFER. 

◦◦ Decrease of around EUR 2.5 million in the “tangible fixed asset” 
item. 

Current Assets – reached EUR 129 million in 2009, which was EUR 10 million 
up compared to 2008, due to the rise in value of the derivative financial 
instruments (+EUR 9 million) and increase in stocks (+EUR 1 million).
The “clients and other receivable accounts” item fell in comparison 
to 2008 (by EUR 2 million). A significant impact in this account was the 
balance with the operator CP, which registered an improvement in its 
average receivable term. In 2008 this was 183 days, whereas in 2009 it 
was 110 days.
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Liabilities

As of 31 December 2009 REFER had negative Equity Capital of EUR 1,268 
million, which was the result of successive years of negative net income.

The Non-current Liabilities rose to EUR 1,105 million – a drop of EUR 18 
million – which is explained by the slight decrease in the medium- and 
long-term financing, which registered EUR 1,094 million (EUR 1,113 million 
in December 2008).

The Current Liabilities decreased by EUR 807 million, as a result of the de-
crease in the short-term banking finance. Part of the 2008 balance was 
renegotiated for medium and long-term financing to cover investment.

In the Asset structure, the investment in long duration infrastructures 
plays a significant role, accounting for 65% of the total Assets, compared 
to 87% in 2008. This variation is explained by the increase in medium- and 
long-term financing obtained to cover investments.

In Liabilities, it is the Non-current Liabilities that account for the largest 
relative proportion. This item rose to EUR 1,105 million, corresponding to 
57% of total Liabilities. 
 

Indicators

Among the main indicators, the improvement in the Average Payment 
Term is key. This is one of the objectives recommended by Council of 
Ministers Resolution 34/2008, which sets forth the timely payment pro-
gramme, whereby Companies in the State corporate sector must establish 
payment deadline targets. In December 2009, REFER’s average payment 
period was 44 days, a significant improvement compared to 2008 (59 
days).
There was a 3.4% decrease in train kilometres (TK) in 2009 compared to 
2008.
In 2009, the CP operator ran 39,404,000 TK, corresponding to 92% of total 
traffic, broken down into 31 million TK of passenger services, 6 million TK of 
freight and 0.8 million TK for empty runs. 

In meeting its goal of providing high safety levels, the Average Density of 
Level Crossings per Kilometre decreased from 0.43 in 2008 to 0.42 in 2009.

Operating costs per train kilometre (TK) have decreased over recent years. 
This trend continued in 2009, with a 2.6% fall compared to the previous 
year.

Average personnel no. decreased just 1.5% in relation to 2008, contrasting 
with the trend in previous years which had sharper declines in personnel. 

Personnel costs increased 5.6% compared to 2008, resulting from the wage 
and salary updates and also from the EUR 3.9 million paid out due to re-
dundancy agreements. 
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During 2009, financial markets suffered from a long period of high vo-
latility, particularly affecting European capital markets. The turmoil felt 
the previous year as a consequence of the bankruptcy and bail-out of 
American and European banks by their governments hit its peak in the 
first quarter of 2009. Consequently, the reevaluation and deterioration of 
European sovereign credit risk due to the strong support to the financial 
system, which began in 2008, led to investors demanding a substantial 
increase in credit spreads to buy any asset class. The widening of spreads 
was amplified and supported by international ratings agencies which, 
after years of “relaxation” and with a deeply tarnished image, returned 
to focus on core credit risk analysis. The overall access to credit, both 
from capital markets and from banks, was severely affected, despite the 
improvement in liquidity due to cuts on interest rates and quantitative 
easing measures implemented by central banks.

It was in this context of uncertainty and higher refinancing risk that REFER 
launched a major initiative to refinance its short-term debt. This refinan-
cing activity essentially took place through long-dated debt instruments 
generally used by infrastructure companies of similar size and asset struc-
ture. Primarily medium- and long-term debt was used, whether bene-
fiting from the State guarantee or not, to best match the debt with the 
type of assets under its management (Long Duration Infrastructures) as 
well as to minimise the servicing of the debt.

Statutorily, prior authorisation must be obtained from the supervising mi-
nistries for any type of financing. These authorisations are provided col-
lectively through the approval of the Activities Plan and Budget which 
sets out the planned financial operations. In the absence of this, indi-
vidual authorisation must be obtained (Decree-Law no. 141/2008 and 
Decree-Law no. 300/2007). 

To manage its cash, REFER has at its disposal short-term credit lines pro-
vided by commercial banks. These are used depending on timing requi-
rements for approving and finalising medium- and long-term operations.

On 31 December 2009, the financial debt structure was as follows:

Financial Debt Management
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73% of total medium- and long-term outstanding debt benefited from 
the State’s guarantee, representing an increase of 11% versus 2008. The 
improvement of this percentage resulted from the following operations:

•  Contracting of two EIB loans with a State guarantee, amounting to 
EUR 100 million each, with a floating interest rate (January); 

•  Full amortisation of the EUR 250 million Logo Securities II loan 
(January);

•  EUR 500 million bond issue with a State guarantee for a 10-year 
period with an annual coupon of 5.875% and bullet amortisation 
(February);

•  Contracting of EUR 110 m EIB loan without the State's guarantee, with 
a fixed interest rate (September); and

•  EUR 500 million bond issue with the State’s guarantee for a 15-year 
period, with an annual coupon of 4.675% and bullet amortisation 
(October);

Both bond issues were held as part of the Euro Medium Term Notes 
Programme in force since 2008 and with an overall amount of EUR 1,500 
million. This Programme offered REFER greater flexibility in accessing the 
capital markets, not only because the contractual process was more 
agile, but also, and more importantly, due to the greater capacity for 
seizing opportunities that arose in the market. This aspect is key given the 
turbulent period of the first quarter of 2009, in which the credit spreads of 



66
2009

Financial Income 
Financial income is analysed through the overall financial income per-
spective, which adds the financial income obtained from the Investment 
Activity to the accounting figure (which comes from a direct reading 
of the Integrated Profit and Loss Statement and which includes the 
Infrastructure Management Activity and Hedging) which, in accord-
ance with IFRS standards, are set out in detail in the Financial Position 
Statement. This approach gives a true indication of REFER’s debt and risk 
management activity performance. 

peripheral eurozone countries grew considerably, with repercussions on 
the cost of debt for companies and banks from those countries.

Aside from the impact on the cost of debt from the increment in credit 
spreads, the drive to match the liability structure to the asset class was 
successful, and was reflected in a Medium- and Long-term Debt / Total 
Debt ratio of 90%, versus 78% achieved in 2008, as is shown in the chart:  

At the same time as obtaining an appropriate debt structure, REFER 
seeks continuously to minimise financial costs. To this end, the decisions 
over choice of interest rate regime for medium- and long-term debt, 
interest rate risk management activities (Hedging) and also the drive to 
negotiate with the financial intermediaries with a view to minimising the 
credit spreads, are particularly important. As at 31 December 2009, the 
split of financial debt by interest rate regime was as follows: 
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The chart below sets out the financial performance:

Overall Financial Income recorded a considerable improvement of EUR 
106 million, going from EUR -250 million in 2008 to EUR -144 million in 2009. 
This recovery is the result of interest rates market behaviour during the 
year, in particular the euro, and the management of the swap portfolio 
according to the following distribution:

•  Financial Income from Infrastructure Management Activity: EUR +20 
million;

•  Financial Income from Investment Activity: EUR +30 million; and

•  Financial Income from Hedging Activity: EUR +56.1 million.
 
The first two contributions were driven by the sharp fall in financial costs 
from debt despite the debt stock worsening by around EUR 430 million. 
As a result, the sharp fall in the euro’s short-term interest rates throughout 
the year, typically the benchmark for floating rate debt (about 42% of 
the debt before Hedging effect), has had a positive effect on the interest 
mass that offsets the widening of the credit spreads, both in short-term 
debt instruments and in medium- and long-term operations.
It is also important to note that the considerable reduction in the short-
term debt level limited the improvement presented in the financial results. 
This effect is mitigated however by the fact that REFER pursues a policy of 
matching its financial liabilities to its asset structure, thereby substantially 
reducing the refinancing risk for short-term debt, which becomes more 
relevant as the financial markets’ liquidity problems grow.

With regard to the Hedging Activity Financial Income, this presented a 
positive performance of around EUR 32 million showing a recovery of 
EUR 56 million versus the year before. The swap portfolio’s fair value re-
covered EUR 14 million during 2009 against the deterioration of EUR -48 
million in 2008. The following factors were the key drivers of this effect:
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•  The sharp fall in euro interest rates, with a greater impact on terms 
up to two years, allowing the positive slope of the euro interest rate 
curve to increase;

•  The positive slope of the sterling interest rate curve in the 30Y-10Y 
segment; and

•  The continuous monitoring of financial markets and swap portfolio, 
prioritising the stability of portfolio’s positions aiming to leverage the 
effects given above.

Regarding the cash component of the Hedging activity, the fixed/
floating debt ratio (after the effect of hedging) changed from 61%/39% 
at the end of 2008 to 64%/36% at the end of 2009, due to the medium- 
and long-term operations taking place. However, this change fluctuated 
throughout the year as a result of the behaviour of the euro interest rates, 
which led to execution of swap operations and respective liquidation to 
take advantage of the fall in those rates, with considerable effects on 
the Overall Financial Income. However, comparing this cash component 
with the 2008 financial year, the net value of interest receivable/payable 
from swaps fell approximately EUR -6.7 million. This reduction arose as a 
result of the growing difference between the fixed rate payable and the 
floating rate receivable for specific swaps due to the fall in euro interest 
rates. In addition, despite this effect, the annual average interest rate 
REFER paid for its debt, after the effect of Hedging, was 3.3% in 2009.

The chart below presents the annual average cost of debt for the 2005-
2009 period:
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Despite these movements, REFER's cost of debt was affected mostly by 
the deterioration of the sovereign rating since all medium- and long-
term operations performed during the year benefited explicitly or impli-
citly from State guarantees. 

Over the period in question, the annual average cost of debt never ex-
ceeded the 4.25% barrier, given the positive contribution of the Hedging 
activity in recent years. On the other hand, when REFER’s financing cost 
is compared to the performance of the relevant benchmark (Euribor 
six-month rate) it can be seen that the increase in cost resulting from 
that differential reflects the credit spread implicit in the financing cost. 
This spread deteriorated in 2009 (+2.34 percentage points), as a result of 
the simultaneous increases of the credit spreads charged by both the 
banking sector and capital markets and of the proportion of fixed rate 
debt defined and achieved by REFER. 

Finally, we turn to REFER’s long-term credit rating attributed by the in-
ternational agencies Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s (S&P). The table 
below reflects the changes, which largely followed the movements of 
the Republic of Portugal’s credit rating:
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One of the big challenges facing REFER’s Management is its ability to take 
measures and define policies, in articulation with all the Stakeholders, 
that will enable the downward trend of railway use to be reversed and 
boost train usage as an alternative and economic means of transport, 
both for passengers and freight. The growth of rail transport should there-
fore be the basis of the future sustainability of the company. As such, 
regardless of the role that the company should play in the exclusive area 
of infrastructure management, in which REFER has specific responsibili-
ties, issues such as intermodality, the ability to respond to the needs of 
the market and providing the supply to match demand play a special 
role here, and should be aspects that are always taken into account 
in the investment/modernisation decisions and the operation of the 
infrastructure.

Two other areas of activity are defined directly from the management 
goals set by the Ministry of Public Works, Transport and Communication 
and the Ministry of Finance, and which take on particular importance 
for the REFER management in the current economic climate. These 
are the clear objectives to improve the efficiency of the operation and 
control costs; in other words, to produce more and make better use of 
the resources. The idea is to bring about continuous improvement, with 
quantified aims that to a large extent are linked to efforts to cut wasteful-
ness, simplifying processes and instilling a culture of accountability.
 
A fourth facet involves the contribution that the railway infrastructure 
management assets can make to the sustainability of the company. 
REFER manages a vast amount of properties throughout Portugal, which 
can be profited from, either through selling them when they are no 
longer of use to the rail network, or by identifying other uses, commercial 
or otherwise, which can complement and coexist with the core business 
of the company and which generate revenue that contributes to the fu-
ture sustainability. Given that these assets are part of the Railway Public 
Domain, this is an area of activity that must be properly articulated with 
the respective ministerial departments.

Finally, it is fundamental to define a stable, responsible and transparent 
framework in the relationship between the State and REFER, clearly 
outlining the rights and duties of both parties, both as regards the 
management of the infrastructures and the investment made in rail in-
frastructures. The strategic guidelines for the railway sector presented in 
2006 pointed towards the progressive contracting of the public service 
provided by the infrastructure manager up until 2010. The definition of 
this management framework will be decisive to enable the efficient and 
sustained management of the rail network.

Outlook
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Within the terms stipulated in no. 1 of article 245 of the Securities Code, 
the Board of Directors declares that, to the best of its knowledge, the 
information in the documentation rendering the accounts was prepared 
in compliance with the applicable accounting standards, and truly 
and appropriately portrays assets and liabilities, the financial situation 
and the income of REFER, and that the management report faithfully 
describes the company’s business activities, performance and position, 
in addition to describing the main future risks and uncertainties.

In accordance with the provisions in force, it is proposed that the net 
income for the year – a deficit of EUR 112,779,931 – be transferred to “re-
tained income”.

Lisbon, 18 March 2010

Application of Income

The Board of Directors

Chairman	  	 Luís Filipe Melo e Sousa Pardal

Vice-Chairman		  Alfredo Vicente Pereira

Member		  Romeu Costa Reis

Member		  Alberto Castanho Ribeiro

Member		  Carlos Alberto Fernandes
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Declaration Of Compliance

Declaration as stipulated in Article 245, no. 1, subparagraph c) of the 
Securities Code. 

Under the terms and for the purposes of the stipulation of Article 245, no. 
1, subparagraph c) of the Securities Code, each member of the Board 
of Directors of REFER, E.P.E., as identified below, underwrite the following 
declaration:
“I declare, under the terms and for the purposes of the stipulation of 
Article 245, no. 1, subparagraph c) of the Securities Code, that to the 
best of my knowledge, in exercising the duties assigned to me and 
based on the information supplied to the Board of Directors, the financial 
statements were written in compliance with the applicable accounting 
standards, and truly and appropriately portray the assets and liabilities, 
the financial situation and the income of REFER, E.P.E. and that the 
management report relative to the company activity in 2009 faithfully 
describes the important events that occurred in this period and the im-
pact on the respective financial statements, in addition to describing the 
main future risks and uncertainties.”

The Board of Directors

Chairman	  	 Luís Filipe Melo e Sousa Pardal

Vice-Chairman		  Alfredo Vicente Pereira

Member		  Romeu Costa Reis

Member		  Alberto Castanho Ribeiro

Member		  Carlos Alberto Fernandes
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Financial Statements



2009

75

Financial Director 
Alberto Manuel Diogo

Chartered Accountant
Isabel Rasteiro Lopes

TOC 23435

The Board of Directors

Chairman		  Luís Filipe Melo e Sousa Pardal

Vice-Chairman		  Alfredo Vicente Pereira

Member		  Romeu Costa Reis

Member		  Alberto Castanho Ribeiro

Member		  Carlos Alberto Fernandes

18 March 2010
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18 de Março de 2010

NOTE:

Income is not presented per share, since REFER is not covered by IAS 33, since its share capital has the legal status of “Statutory Capital” fully held  

by the Portuguese State, and is thus not indicated by shares or by any other type of certificates.

18 March 2010

Financial Director 
Alberto Manuel Diogo

Chartered Accountant
Isabel Rasteiro Lopes

TOC 23435

The Board of Directors

Chairman	 Luís Filipe Melo e Sousa Pardal

Vice-Chairman	 Alfredo Vicente Pereira

Member	 Romeu Costa Reis

Member	 Alberto Castanho Ribeiro

Member	 Carlos Alberto Fernandes
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ending 31 December 2009

1.	 REFER Activities
Rede Ferroviária Nacional – REFER, E.P.E., abbreviated to REFER, with its 
head office at the Santa Apolónia Station, Lisbon, was founded through 
Decree-Law no. 104/97, of 29 April, as a public corporate entity with 
administrative and financial autonomy and its own assets, subject to 
supervision by the Ministry of Finance and Public Administration and the 
Ministry of Public Works, Transport and Communications

REFER mainly provides a public service of managing the overall na-
tional railway infrastructures and also builds, installs and renews railway 
infrastructures.

In carrying out its activities to provide diligently a highly efficient and 
effective service, REFER relies on complementary services in business 
areas not covered by its main activities, but that are performed by its 
subsidiaries.

1.1  Company Mission

REFER’s activities are split into two missions: Investment Activity in Long 
Duration Infrastructures (LDI) and Infrastructure Management (IM).

Long Duration Investments (LDI)

This part of the mission covers the following investments:

•  New infrastructures and/or network expansion;

•  Modernisation and rehabilitation, by introducing new technology in 
the operation mode;

•  Replacement, which includes interventions resulting in lasting im-
provements or those which are likely to increase the value and/or 
lifetime of the asset whilst not altering the operation.

The financing necessary for its investments, as described above, is 
obtained by REFER and may be in the form of loans from financial institu-
tions, suppliers, capital contributions by the shareholder or subsidies..

Investments in Support and Management Structures (ISMS) and 
Infrastructure Management (IM)

This covers all investments without implications on railway concessions 
and operation and which are grouped into studies (e.g. organisational) 
and operation investments (e.g. furniture and IT equipment).
The Infrastructure Management mission corresponds to providing a 
public service, covering tasks such as the conservation and mainte-
nance of infrastructures, capacity management, management of the 
regulation system, and safety, command and control of circulation.
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1.2  Regulation of REFER’s missions

User Fee Regulation 

Through Decree-Law 104/97, of April 29, REFER was assigned the duty to 
render the public service of managing the overall national rail network 
and also granted the right to charge railway infrastructure user fees. 
As regards the user fees, under the terms of Decree-Law no. 270/2003 
of 28 October, republished through Decree-Law no. 231/2007 of 14 
June, REFER shall establish and collect fees for using the infrastructure, 
to finance the infrastructure management activity, respecting the rules 
defined in the aforementioned legal decree, as well as those stipulated 
in Regulation no. 21/2005, of 3 February, by the IMTT. 
REFER’s activity of rendering essential, additional and auxiliary services, 
the description and conditions of which – including the fee charging 
conditions – are defined in the Network Directory.

User Fees for Essential Services

a.	Base Fees

The essential fees derived from the infrastructure management include 
the following:

◦◦ the minimum access package;

◦◦ railway access to service facilities and to the supply of services;

◦◦ the use of infrastructures and equipment for the supply, transfor-
mation and distribution of traction electricity;

◦◦ the provision of emergency railway assistance within the terms 
stipulated in article 51 of Decree-Law 270/2003.

b)	 User Fee for Requested Capacity That Is Not Used

The amount owed for the capacity requested and not used corresponds 
to:

◦◦ 10% of the applicable user fee if the non-utilisation is notified be-
fore the technical timetable takes effect for the year in which the 
capacity is distributed;

◦◦ 25% of the applicable user fee if the non-utilisation is notified up to 
12 weeks prior to the date for which the capacity was requested;

◦◦ 50% of the applicable user fee if the non-utilisation is notified up to 
six weeks prior to the date for which the capacity was requested;

◦◦ 75% of the applicable user fee if the non-utilisation is notified 
up to two weeks prior to the date for which the capacity was 
requested;
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◦◦ 100% of the applicable user fee if the non-utilisation is notified 
within less than two weeks prior to the date for which the ca-
pacity was requested.

User Fees for Additional Services

•  Traction Power

Since access to traction electricity required by the operators may be 
provided only through the infrastructures managed by REFER, the com-
pany provides the operators with access to the means which it manages.
If contracts were signed covering payments to REFER of any service fee 
for checking, invoicing and/or distributing consumption, the fee regula-
tions shall apply until that amount is reached.

•  Manoeuvres

Manoeuvre services are charged according to the mobilisation of 
human resources (including travel time, if applicable), measured in 
minutes, and which may correspond to three professional categories: 
Manoeuvres Operator, Circulation Operator or Circulation Controller.

•  Parking of Rolling Stock

Parking on station lines not assigned to circulation for periods equal to or 
greater than 1 hour shall be invoiced.

•  Utilisation of Stations and Stops

REFER charges fees to rail transport companies for their right to use pas-
senger stations and stops that are not included in the essential services.
The fee for this service is defined per station and is applied to the number 
of commercial stops made in the passenger service at the station.

User Fees for Auxiliary Services

Services involving the use of REFER labour are invoiced according to the 
human resources mobilised.

Other Fees

The Network Directory, the railway regulations and the technical docu-
mentation necessary for studying the capacity requests are supplied to 
interested parties, upon request and payment of the publication cost.
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2.	 Presentation Bases and Accounting 
Policies

2.1  Presentation Bases

The financial statements presented herein reflect REFER’s income for the 
years ending on 31 December of 2009 and 2008. 
These financial statements were assessed by the Board of Directors at a 
meeting held on 18 March 2010, which decided to submit them to ap-
proval by the respective ministerial department. The Board of Directors 
is of the opinion that these financial statements truly and appropriately 
reflect the operations by REFER, its financial position, performance and 
cash flows.
All amounts are expressed in euros (€), unless otherwise indicated. 
REFER’s financial statements were prepared according to the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
European Union, and in force on 31 December 2009. 

The IFRS include the accounting standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the interpretations issued by 
the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”), 
and by the respective entities that preceded them.

The financial statements presented herein were prepared according to 
the principle of the historic cost, except for financial assets and liabilities 
recorded at the fair value, in particular derivative financial instruments, 
which are recorded at the respective market value, except for those for 
which the fair value is not available.
The preparation of financial statements according to the IFRS requires 
that the company formulate judgements, estimates and presupposi-
tions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the 
amounts of income, costs, assets and liabilities. Estimates and associated 
presuppositions are based on historic experience and on other factors 
regarded as reasonable and form the basis for the judgements on the 
values of the assets and liabilities whose valuation is not evident through 
other sources. Issues requiring greater judgment detail or complexity, or 
for which the presuppositions and estimates are regarded to be signifi-
cant, are presented in Note 2.3 (Main estimates and judgements used for 
preparing the financial statements). 

2.2  Accounting Policies

The accounting policies used to prepare these financial statements are 
described in the following paragraphs and were applied in a consistent 
manner for the indicated years.

a.	Shareholdings in Branch Companies

According to the concepts stipulated by IAS 27 – Consolidated and 
individual financial statements, branch companies are the companies 
controlled by REFER. 
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A situation of control exists when REFER holds the majority of votes in the 
respective company. A company may also be regarded as controlled 
when the holding company holds direct or indirect power to manage 
the financial and operational policies to obtain benefits arising from its 
activities, even when its shareholding is less than 50%. 

The acquisition of branch companies is initially recorded by the pur-
chase method. 

The acquisition cost is measured by the fair value of the delivered assets, 
capital instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed on the ac-
quisition date plus costs directly attributed to the acquisition. Identifiable 
acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in a corporate con-
centration are initially measured at the fair value on the acquisition date, 
regardless of the existence of minority interests. 

Financial shareholdings in subsidiary companies are assessed by the Asset 
Equivalence Method since these are individual financial statements.

b.	Financial Shareholdings in Associated Companies

As stipulated in “IAS 28 – investments in associated companies”, asso-
ciated companies are regarded as companies in which a significant 
influence is exercised over their financial and operational policies, al-
though they are not directly controlled.
A significant influence is presumed to take place when the company has 
the power to exercise more than 20% of the voting rights in the associ-
ated company.
These financial stakes are measured through the asset equivalence 
method, that is, the financial statements include the company's stake in 
the total gains and losses of the associated company from the date on 
which the significant influence starts until the date on which it terminates.

c.	Activity in Long Duration Infrastructure (LDI) investments

Due to the process to splitting up the railway activity in Portugal in 1997, 
REFER was assigned the responsibility of building and renovating long 
duration railway infrastructures. This activity is carried out according 
to the State’s directives and for which financing is guaranteed through 
subsidies and loans, of which the majority are guaranteed by the State, 
whereby REFER plays the role of “agent” in this activity.

When any assets are withdrawn from the public railway domain, the 
profit or loss is attributed to this activity.

Therefore, all flows consequent to this activity are disclosed on the 
balance sheet, in the item “Long duration infrastructure investment ac-
tivities” and include the following items:

•  long duration infrastructures (LDI) of the public railway domain built 
by REFER, but which it is merely entitled to access to render the 
"Infrastructure management" services;
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•  assets of extinguished departments and assets transferred from CP, 
which REFER is merely entitled to access without being able to pos-
sess them;

•  materials acquired through construction/repair of the LDI classified 
as stocks;

•  balances payable to suppliers of LDI construction services;

•  balances receivable from contributions by other entities in LDI 
investments;

•  subsidies received to co-finance the construction of LDI;

•  loans obtained specifically to finance the construction and repair of 
LDI, in particular loans benefiting from State guarantee;

•  interest, State guarantee fees and stamp duty paid for loans ob-
tained to finance the construction and repair of LDI, corresponding 
to current interest arising from activities on behalf of the State, which 
have not been capitalised as a cost of acquiring the LDI during their 
construction.

•  the amount gained from railway public domain LDI that have been 
decommissioned through donation/sale;

Long Duration Infrastructures (LDIs)

The tangible fixed assets classified as long duration infrastructures be-
long to the railway public domain, and REFER merely has access to them 
so as to supply the infrastructure management services. Therefore, they 
are registered in the “long duration infrastructures investment activity” 
item of the financial statement, given that they do not qualify as assets 
controlled by this entity. These assets, in addition to the acquisitions and 
constructions subsequent to the splitting up of CP, also include the assets 
of extinguished departments and assets transferred from CP. 

These assets were initially registered at cost. Given that the assets of the 
long duration infrastructure investments activity are not the object of de-
preciation, the value at which they are registered does not change. 
The maintenance and repair costs that do not increase the lifetime of 
these assets are registered as costs in the year they are incurred.

d.	Tangible Fixed Assets

Used in Infrastructure Management 

Tangible fixed assets recorded in REFER’s balance sheet refer to equip-
ment used by REFER for infrastructure management purposes and not 
assigned to long duration infrastructure investment activities. It is initially 
registered at cost price. 
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After the initial registry, REFER adopted the cost model permitted by IAS 
16, and the tangible fixed assets are registered at their cost minus any 
depreciation and any impaired asset losses. 
Maintenance and repair costs that do not increase the lifetime of these 
assets are recorded as costs in the year in which they take place.

Gains or losses from the disposal of assets are determined by the differ-
ence between the asset’s realisation value and the accounting value, 
and are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Capitalisation of Loan Costs

Interest on loans directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 
of eligible assets are capitalised as part of the cost of these assets. An 
asset eligible for capitalisation is an asset that requires a substantial pe-
riod of time before it is available for use or for sale. The capitalisation of 
costs with loans begins when the investment starts, and ends when all 
the activities needed to make the asset available for use or for sale are 
substantially completed.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated according to the acquisition value, through 
the straight-line depreciation method and at the rates corresponding 
to the expected lifetime of each asset type. The most important annual 
depreciation rates (in %) are as follows:

An asset’s lifetime is reviewed at the end of each year so that deprecia-
tion complies with the asset consumption pattern. 

Leasing Contracts

The classification of the leasing operations into financial leasing or oper-
ational leasing depends on their substance, and not on their legal form. 
Operations whereby the risks and benefits inherent to the possession of 
the leased asset are transferred to the lessor are classified as financial 
leases. All other leasing operations are classified as operational leases.



86
2009

Financial Leasing

Assets subject to leasing contracts are classified as tangible fixed assets 
according to IAS 17 – Leasing.
Assets acquired through financial leasing operations are depreciated ac-
cording to the company’s policy for tangible fixed assets of the same type.
Instalment payments consist of the financial expense and the financial 
amortisation of the capital. Expenses are assigned to the respective 
periods during the leasing term in order to obtain a constant periodic 
interest rate applicable to the lessor’s remaining net investment.
On the date to which this annex refers, REFER had acquired 3 vehicles 
through financial leasing contracts (see note 5.1). 

Operational Leasing Contracts 

Assets attained through leasing contracts whereby the risks and benefits 
inherent to the possession of the leased asset are not included are classi-
fied as operational leases, in accordance with IAS 17 – Leasing, and are 
hence not registered in the tangible fixed assets item.
The rents are registered at cost in the respective periods of the leasing 
term (see note 5.17.). 

e.	Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are recorded at the acquisition cost minus deprecia-
tion and losses through impaired asset. 

Intangible assets recognised on the balance sheet refer essentially to 
software licences.

Amortisation/Depreciation

Amortisation/Depreciation is calculated based on the acquisition value, 
through the straight-line depreciation method, over a 3-year period.

f.	 Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised on the date of their trade 
date by their fair value (IAS 39). Consequently, the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments is re-evaluated on a regular basis, whereby gains or 
losses arising from the said re-evaluation are recorded directly in earnin-
gs for the period, except when in relation to hedge derivatives. 
Recognising fair value variations of hedge derivatives, in income for the 
period, depends on the nature of the hedged risk and on the hedging 
model applied. 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments corresponds to their ma-
rket value, when available, or when not available, it is determined by 
external entities based on valuation techniques.
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Hedge Accounting

As of 31 December 2009 REFER did not classify any derivative financial 
instruments as hedge derivatives.

g.	Financial Assets

REFER classifies its investments on their trade date according to the 
objective that determined their acquisition, in the following categories: 
financial assets at the fair value through income (held for trading and 
fair value option); loans and receivables; assets held until maturity; and 
financial assets available for sale, according to what is recommended 
by IAS 39 - Financial instruments.

Financial Assets at the Fair Value Through Income

This category includes: (i) financial assets for trade which are acquired 
for the main purpose of being traded in the short term, and (ii) financial 
assets designated at the time of their initial recognition at the fair value 
with variations recognised in the income. After their initial recognition, 
the financial assets at the fair value through the income are valuated at 
the fair value, and variations are recognised in income.
This category includes derivatives that are not qualified for the purpose 
of hedge accounting. Changes to their fair value are recognised directly 
in income for the year according to the accounting policy described in 
note 2.2, subparagraph h).

Financial Assets Held Until Maturity

These investments are non-derivative financial assets with stipulated or 
determinable payments and specified maturities, for which there is the 
intention and capacity of holding them until maturity.

These investments are valuated at the amortised cost based on the ef-
fective rate method and are deducted impairment losses. 

Impairment losses are recorded based on the estimate and evaluation 
of losses associated to bad debt on the balance sheet date. 
Impairment losses correspond to the difference between the ac-
counting value of the asset and the current value of the estimated future 
cash flows (taking into account the recovery period) discounted at the 
original effective interest rate of the financial asset. 
These assets are shown on the balance sheet, net of the recognised 
impairment.

Loans and Receivables

These correspond to non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or deter-
mined payments, for which there is no active securities market. They arise 
from normal operation activities, in the supply of goods or services, and 
are not meant for negotiation.
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Loans and receivables are initially recognised at their fair value, and 
subsequently accounted by the amortised cost based on the effective 
interest rate method.

Impairment losses are registered when there are indicators that REFER 
will not receive all the amounts to which it is entitled according to the 
original terms of the signed contracts. In identifying situations of impair-
ment, various indicators are used, such as: i) default analysis; ii) default 
for over 6 months; iii) debtor’s financial difficulties; iv) probability of bank-
ruptcy of debtor.

When due amounts to be received from clients or other debtors are 
subject to a renegotiation of the respective terms, they are no longer 
regarded as due and are handled like new credit.

Impairment losses correspond to the difference between the ac-
counting value of the asset and the current value of the estimated future 
cash flows (taking into account the recovery period) discounted at the 
original effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

These assets are shown on the balance sheet, net of the recognised 
impairment.

Financial Assets Available for Sale

Financial assets available for sale are non-derivative financial assets that: 

•  REFER intends to maintain for an indefinite time;

•  Are designated as available for sale at the time of their initial rec-
ognition or;

•  Do not fit into the above categories.
	
Financial assets available for sale are recorded at the fair value and the 
respective fair value variations are recognised directly in equity in the fair 
value Reserves item until the investments are derecognised, i.e. until an 
impairment loss is identified, at which time the accumulated amount of 
potential gains and losses recorded in reserves is transferred to income.

If a market value does not exist, the assets are maintained at the acquisi-
tion cost, although impairment tests should be performed. 
Interest earned from fixed income instruments, when classified as assets 
available for sale, and the differences between the acquisition cost and 
the nominal value (premium or discount) are recorded in the income 
according to the effective interest rate method.
Shareholdings that are not holdings in group companies, joint or associ-
ated undertakings, are classified as financial assets available for sale.
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h.	Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

When determining the fair value of a financial asset or liability, if there is 
an active market, the market price is applied. This constitutes level 1 of 
the hierarchy of fair value, as defined in the IFRS 7, and used by REFER. 

If there is no active market, which is the case for some financial assets 
and liabilities, valuation techniques generally accepted in the market 
are applied based on market, based on the market presuppositions. This 
constitutes level 2 of the hierarchy of fair value, as defined in the IFRS 7, 
and used by REFER.

In this level 2 of the hierarchy of fair value REFER applies valuation tech-
niques for unlisted financial instruments, such as derivatives, for financial 
instruments at the fair value through income and for assets available for 
sale. The valuation models used most frequently are discounted cash 
flow models and option evaluation models which include, for example, 
interest rate curves and market volatility.

For some types of more complex derivatives, more advanced valuation 
models are used containing presuppositions and data that are not direc-
tly observable in the market. This constitutes level 3 of the hierarchy of fair 
value, as defined in the IFRS 7.

i.	 Impairment of Assets

In accordance with IAS 36 – Impairment of assets, whenever an asset’s 
accounting value exceeds its recoverable amount, its value is decrea-
sed to the recoverable amount, and the loss by impairment is recognised 
in the year’s income. The recoverable value corresponds to the highest 
value between the utilisation value and the fair value, and is determined 
whenever there are indicators of lost value.

j.	 Inventories

Goods, as well as raw, secondary and consumption materials are valu-
ated at the lowest value between the acquisition or production cost and 
the net realizable value. 

The acquisition or production cost includes all purchase costs, conversion 
costs and other costs incurred to place the inventories at the location 
and in their condition for use or sale. Net realisable value is the estimated 
sale price during the normal period of activity minus the respective sale 
costs, as stipulated in IAS 2 - Inventories.

Goods leaving the warehouse (consumption) are valuated at the 
weighted average cost.

At its warehouses, REFER has materials to be applied in the construction 
of tangible fixed assets for its Long Duration Infrastructure Investment 
Activities. These inventories are shown on the balance sheet in the “long 
duration infrastructure investment activities” item (see note 2.2, subpara-
graph c)).
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k.	Cash and Cash Equivalents

For cash flow statement purposes, cash and its equivalents include the 
amounts recorded on the balance sheet which also includes cash and 
liquid assets at other credit institutions.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other short-
term investments of high liquidity and with initial maturities of up to 3 
months.

l.	 Financial Liabilities
	
The financial liabilities represent the bonds contractually paid off against 
financial assets, regardless of their legal form. They are recorded initially 
by their fair value minus transaction costs and subsequently at the amor-
tised cost, based on the effective rate method.

m.	Loans Obtained

Medium- and Long-term Loans

The company recognises long-term and debenture loans as a non-
current financial liability according to IAS 39 – Financial instruments; 
these financial liabilities are recorded (i) initially by their fair value minus 
transaction costs and (ii) subsequently at the amortised cost, based on 
the effective rate method.

REFER holds medium and long-term loans, in the form of bilateral loans 
and bonds, to finance the building of long duration infrastructures 
(LDI) and the infrastructure management activity. Loans to finance the 
building of LDI are recognised on the balance sheet in the item “Long 
Duration Infrastructure Investment Activities” (Note 2.2, subparagraph 
c)).

n.	Payables to Suppliers and Other Creditors

The balances of suppliers and other creditors are recorded at the am-
ortised cost.
The balances of suppliers and other creditors refer to the balances of 
payables to suppliers of the company’s operating activities. The bal-
ances of suppliers related to the acquisition/construction of Long 
Duration Infrastructure activities are recorded on the balance sheet in 
the corresponding item (see note 2.2, subparagraph c)).

o.	Adjustments and Provisions

Adjustments are recognised when impairment losses in the assets are 
registered on the balance sheet, as described in the previous notes. 

Provisions are set up on the balance sheet whenever there is an obli-
gation (legal or implicit) arising from a past event and whenever it is 
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probable that a reasonably estimated decrease of resources, which 
include economic benefits, will be required to liquidate the obligation.

REFER records provisions for legal processes in progress and for which it is 
highly probable that they may imply outflows of economic benefits from 
the company (see note 5.1.4). This is an estimated value of the liabilities.

p.	Recognising Revenue

The revenue is registered in the period to which it refers, regardless of 
when it is received in line with the accrual concept of accounting. The 
differences between the amounts received and the corresponding rev-
enue are registered in the “other receivables” item.

REFER’s revenue includes the fees for use of tracks, traction power, ma-
noeuvres, use of Stations and stops, requested capacity not used, and 
other services (as described in note 1.2).

q.	Income Tax

Income tax refers to current taxes. Income tax is recognised in the profit 
and loss account except when related with gains or losses recognised 
directly in reserves, in which case it is also recognised directly in reserves.

Current income tax is calculated according to the tax criteria valid on 
the balance sheet date.
REFER has no registered deferred tax assets or liabilities in its financial 
statements.

r.	 Transactions in Foreign Currency

Transactions in foreign currency are converted into euros at the ex-
change rate in force on the transaction date. On the balance sheet 
date, monetary assets and liabilities indicated in foreign currency are 
converted at the exchange rate applicable on that date, and the re-
sulting exchange rate differences are recognised as earnings in the year. 
The main exchange rates used on the balance sheet date were as 
follows:
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s.	 Subsidies

Investment subsidies assigned to REFER are initially recognised when it 
is reasonably certain that the respective subsidy will be received. The 
subsidy is subsequently amortised in the proportion of the depreciation 
of the subsidised tangible fixed assets in compliance with IAS 20 - State 
Subsidies.
Operation subsidies are recognised in the profit and loss account in the 
same period as when the associated expenses are incurred, from the 
moment when their receipt is probable.
Subsidies obtained to finance assets acquired/built in long duration in-
frastructures are recognised on the balance sheet in the “long duration 
infrastructures investment activities” item (see note 2.2, subparagraph 
c)).

t.	 Information per Segment

Business Segments

A business segment is a distinct entity committed to supplying an indi-
vidual product or service: i) that can generate revenue and incur costs; 
ii) whose operating income is regularly reviewed by the chief decision 
maker of the entity; and iii) which supplies distinct financial information.

The REFER Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing the internal in-
formation prepared so as to assess the performance of the company’s 
activities and allocation of its resources. The decision to set up business 
segments is based on the information that is analysed by the Board of 
Directors, which did not lead to new segments in relation to those re-
ported last year.

An entity should report the information about each business segment in-
dividually, which is identified as the aggregation of two or more segments 
with similar economic characteristics, or which exceed the quantitative 
parameters stipulated in the IFRS 8 – Business Segments.

REFER’s main activity is rendering a public service of managing the 
overall infrastructure of the national rail network. When carrying out its 
activities, REFER needs to rely on complementary services; however the 
risks and returns associated to them are directly linked to its business 
activities. 

In view of the aforementioned aspects, on 31 December 2009, only one 
business segment was identified. The REFER clients make up the entirety 
of this segment, and the whole activity is carried out in Portugal.

2.3  Main Estimates and Judgements Used in the 

Financial Statements

The main accounting estimates and judgements used as the basis for 
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applying the accounting principles are discussed in this note in order 
to facilitate its understanding and to demonstrate how their application 
affects the earnings reported by the company and their disclosure. 

The estimates and judgements with an impact on REFER’s financial state-
ments are continuously evaluated. On each date, the report represents 
the best estimate by the Board of Directors, taking into account the 
historical performance, the accumulated experience and the outlook 
on future events that, in the current circumstances, are believed to be 
reasonable. The intrinsic nature of the estimates and judgements may 
imply that the real impact of the situations which had been estimated 
may, for the purposes of the financial report, differ from the estimated 
amounts.

The Board of Directors believes that the estimates made are appropriate 
and that the financial statements adequately reveal the company’s 
financial position and the result of its operations in all materially relevant 
aspects. 

Fair Value of Derivative Financial Instruments

The fair value is based on market quotes, when available. When not avai-
lable, the fair value is determined based on recent transaction prices 
which are similar and performed under market conditions or based on 
evaluation methodologies based on discounted future cash flow techni-
ques (for plain-vanilla swaps) or assessment of options (for exotic swaps). 
Consequently, the use of other methodologies or different assumptions 
or judgements in applying a specific model could give rise to different 
financial income than that reported.

Impairment Losses of Debtors

Impairment losses regarding doubtful debt credits are based on the 
evaluation by the Board of Directors on the probability of recovering 
the respective receivables, the age of the balances, pardoning of de-
bts and other factors. There are also other circumstances and facts that 
may alter the estimated impairment losses of receivables due to the pre-
suppositions taken into account, including alterations to the economic 
climate, the sector's trends, the creditor position of the main clients and 
significant defaults. 
This evaluation process is subject to various estimates and judgements. 
Alterations of these estimates may imply different levels of impairment 
and, consequently, may have different impacts on income.

Recognition of Income/Expenses

Expenses and income are registered in the year to which they refer, re-
gardless of when paid or received, according to the accrual concept 
of accounting. At the end of the year estimates are made for the non-
recognised amounts, which are added to the profit and loss balance 
sheet in the liabilities/receivables that pertain to the current year.
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Provisions for Ongoing Legal Processes

The Board of Directors believes it is highly probable that some ongoing 
legal processes may imply outflows of economic benefits from the com-
pany. Therefore, an estimate is made of the liability, which is duly regis-
tered as a provision.

3.	 Financial Risk Management Policies

Financial Risks

REFER’S activities are subject to risk factors of a financial nature, namely 
credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risks associated with cash flows 
arising from loans obtained. 

Risk management is dealt with by the Financial Department based on 
policies laid down by the Board. 

The Financial Department identifies, assesses and performs operations so 
as to minimise any financial risk.  

The Board defines the principles for risk management as a whole and for 
the policies covering specific areas, such as the use of derivative and 
non-derivative financial instruments, for interest rate risk, the increase or 
reduction of short-term lines and the medium and long-term operations 
to cover the risk of liquidity, among others. 

Exchange Rate Risk Management

REFER is not subject to a significant exchange rate risk in its activities. 

Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is associated with another party defaulting on its contractual 
obligations and resulting in a financial loss to REFER. REFER is subject to 
credit risk associated with its operational and financial activities. 
REFER’s main clients are CP and FERTAGUS; TAKARGO and CP Carga. 
Credit risk stemming from operational activity is mainly related to non-
compliance of credits for services rendered to such entities. CP is the 
main counterparty and exclusive passenger operator throughout the 
network, with the exception of the 25 de Abril Bridge crossing. However, 
despite the fact that credit risk is highly concentrated in CP, it is mitigated 
by the legal nature of this entity. Impairment adjustments for accounts 
receivable are calculated on the basis of the counterparty’s risk profile 
and financial condition.  
As for credit risk associated with financial activity, REFER is subject to the 
national and international banking sector due to its demand deposits, 
financial applications and contracted derivative financial instruments. To 
date, REFER has not incurred any impairment resulting from non-compli-
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ance of contractual obligations by banks. 

The following table provides a summary, on 31 December 2009 and 
December 2008, of the credit quality of deposits, applications and de-
rivative financial instruments with a positive fair value: 

The applied ratings are those assigned by Standard and Poor’s on the 
dates of such reports.

Liquidity Risk Management

This type of risk stems from the perception formed by the market and in-
ternational rating agencies regarding the likelihood of REFER breaching 
its contractual obligations in financial operations, whether directly 
rendered by banks or by the capital market itself. Such risk is conveyed 
through the cost associated with the contracts of these financial opera-
tions which impacts financial expenditure.  
Given the legal nature of REFER, the ability to act on such risk is limited. 
However, REFER sets out to minimise the probability of a breach of com-
mitment by means of a stringent and thoroughly planned management 
of its activity. As an example of one such measure for risk mitigation, 
REFER has contracted a medium-term credit line amounting EUR 500 
million.

Prudent management of liquidity risk also implies maintaining a suitable 
level of cash and equivalents to meet liabilities, but mainly having ac-
cess to credit lines with financial institutions to accommodate the current 
management. As previously mentioned, there is a medium-term credit 
line of EUR 500 million available (back-up line) which had never been 
used. 

The management regularly monitors the available liquidity reserve 
(including undrawn credit lines; the back-up line and amounts in cash 
and equivalents) to meet estimated cash flows. It is therefore absolutely 
crucial to perform medium and long-term operations to guarantee a 
comfortable liquidity reserve level. 

The table below presents the liabilities of REFER by residual and con-
tractual maturity levels. The amounts presented in the tables are 
non-discounted contractual cash flows. 
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Interest Rate Risk Management

Since 2003, REFER has actively managed its debt portfolio using deriva-
tive financial instruments to hedge interest rate risk. The company is not 
subject to an exchange rate risk in its activities and does not have li-
abilities associated with debt in any currency other than the euro. All 
contracted derivatives have, at the most, exactly the same maturity as 
the underlying liabilities.
REFER’s counterparties in derivative contracts are national and interna-
tional financial institutions with high rating and credibility. Operations 
are covered by ISDA contracts according to international standards. 
The main objective of the interest rate risk management is to provide 
protection against  uncertainty, i.e. interest rate increases, insofar as 
REFER’s revenue is immune to this variable and, thus, natural hedging is 
unfeasible.
The type of instrument is selected according to a cost/benefit analysis 
applied to each case. In addition to the main goal described above, 
REFER also performs operations to reduce the financing cost at a fixed 
or floating rate. Occasionally, the company restructures its positions to 
accommodate market developments. In managing its portfolio, the 
company aims for diversification as a means of maintaining a balanced 
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portfolio and low volatility, by applying a conservative approach in rela-
tion to the risks to be taken, both in terms of instrument characteristics 
and the indexes.
This strategy acts as the basis for the company’s decision not to classify 
any of the derivative instruments as a hedge, since the non-assignable 
portfolio would have a potentially negative impact on results.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Test

REFER periodically uses sensitivity analysis to measure the extent to which 
results would be influenced by the impact of interest rate variations and 
volatility on the fair value of debt and derivative financial instruments. 
This analysis is one of the means to help make interest rate risk manage-
ment decisions as, in practice, interest rates and volatility rarely change 
"ceteris paribus". Furthermore, there are also other variables that influ-
ence the fair value of those positions such as, for instance, correlations. 
The sensitivity test is based on the following assumptions:

•  REFER uses derivative financial instruments (swaps) to cover the in-
terest rate risk associated with medium and long term loans indexed 
to floating interest rates. The financial flow of the underlying loan is 
compensated by the receiving leg of the respective swap, resulting 
in a net position equal to that of the paying leg of the swap;

•  REFER uses derivative financial instruments (swaps) to reduce finan-
cial costs associated with fixed rate medium and long term loans. 
The financial flow of the underlying loan is compensated by the 
receiving leg of the respective swap, resulting in a net position equal 
to that of the paying leg of the swap;

•  On 31 December 2009, REFER had not acknowledged any loan ob-
tained at a fair value;

•  Changes to the fair value of loans and derivative financial instru-
ments and other assets and financial liabilities are estimated by 
discounting future cash flows, using market rates at the time of 
reporting.

Under these assumptions, an increase or decrease of 0.5% and 5%, re-
spectively, in interest rate curves (of the euro, sterling or Swedish krona) 
and in their volatility curve on 31 December 2009 would result in the fol-
lowing variations in the fair value of the loans and derivative financial 
instruments with the consequent direct impact on financial results:
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Capital Risk Management

As for capital management, which is a broader concept than the capital 
shown on the balance sheet, REFER aims to safeguard the continuity of 
the company's operations.

REFER defines its financing plan after analysing CAPEX needs, the fi-
nancing needs for the operational activities and State contributions and 
EU subsidies. It is within this scope that medium and long-term loans with 
or without State guarantee are planned as an additional means of en-
suring the company’s economic sustainability.

4.	 Long Duration Infrastructure 
Investment Activities 

The balance shown on the balance sheet as “Long Duration Infrastructure 
Investment Activities” is based on investment activities in railway infra-
structures and includes the following asset and liabilities items:
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4.1   LDI – Long Duration Investments

A summary of the cash flows is provided in the following table:

The Tangible Fixed Assets – Decommissioned LDIs item of EUR 6,445,217, 
refers to decommissioned assets from the public domain which are cur-
rently deactivated due to divestment and/or disposal. 
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4.1.1   Capitalised Financial Expenses

During the year, the company capitalised the expenses incurred on 
loans to finance this activity during the period in which Long Duration 
Infrastructure (LDI) assets were under construction.

As such, EUR 38,422,536 was capitalised, of which EUR 33,263,319 is in-
terest and the remaining amount is for State guarantee fees and stamp 
duty.

4.2   Revenue from Assets

This item refers to the sum arising from leveraging assets decommissioned 
from the public railway domain. 

4.3   Current Funds

This item refers to the balances of current assets and liabilities associated 
to the Investment Activity in Long Duration Infrastructures.
They are broken down in the notes below.

4.3.1   Inventories 

This item refers to warehoused materials of REFER to be applied to 
building railway infrastructures.
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4.3.2   Suppliers and Other Payables

The Suppliers of Fixed Assets item comprises debts arising from work in 
accordance with the modernisation / renovation policy applicable to 
the railway lines.

 4.3.3   Receivables

This item consists of the receivable amount totalling EUR 15,750,890 from 
Espinho municipal council; EUR 7,500,000 was received in January 2010. 

4.4   Subsidies 

Movements in subsidies are as follows:
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Note 2.2 line u) describes the subsidies recognition policy
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4.5   Loan Expenses

The Loan Expenses item refers to charges from loans to finance Long 
Duration Infrastructure Investments which were not subject to capitalisa-
tion in the LDIs constructed.  

The table below shows total charges paid for loans to finance Long 
Duration Infrastructure Investments:
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The Eurobond 06/26, Eurobond 09/19 and Eurobond 09/24 were allo-
cated by the nominal value, thus, the value of EUR 5,186,177 (in 2008: EUR 
993,203) referring to the adjustment at the effective rate, is shown in the 
pre-payments item (see note 5.10.).

4.6.1   Debts to Credit Institutions

Reimbursement terms and periods for loans to finance investment 
projects are presented as follows:

4.6   Loans Obtained

The following list shows loans associated to Investment Activities: 
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The loans from EIB, Schuldshein ABN, Schuldshein BHH,  Schuldshein 
Westlb, Eurobond 06-26, Eurobond 09-19 and Eurobond09-24 were ob-
tained exclusively to finance Long Duration Infrastructure investment 
projects. 

The respective interest is paid every quarter, every half year or every year 
and at the end of the period.
With EIB loans, the capital will be reimbursed in equal annual installments 
after a grace period. The remaining loans will be reimbursed in equal 
and consecutive annual installments after the grace period.
In 2009, new loans were obtained exclusively for the financing of Long 
Duration Infrastructure investment projects: 

•  Two EIB loans, each of EUR 100 million, benefiting from State guar-
antee at a floating rate and partial reimbursements; 

•  An EIB loan of EUR 110 million, without State guarantee, at a fixed rate 
and partial reimbursements; and 

•  Two bond issues of EUR 500 million each, benefiting from State 
guarantee, at a fixed rate and bullet reimbursement, under the Euro 
Medium Term Notes Programme.

With the exception of the EIB REFER V and EIB REFER VI, all loans benefit 
from State guarantee.
The fair value of the fixed rate financial debt on 31 December 2009 is 
shown below:

5.	 Infrastructure Management
5.1  Tangible Fixed Assets  

Movements in the year in Tangible Fixed Assets items and the respective 
Depreciation items are presented below.
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The tangible fixed assets set up on third party property were not subject 
to any change in comparison to 31 December  2008, and presented the 
following details: 

The company’s facilities at Terreiro do Paço are those indicated in Joint 
Dispatch 261/99 related with "establishing the CP concession" and the 
respective refurbishment which took place on 31/12/1999.

Financial Leasing Contracts

REFER records financial assets acquired through financial leasing con-
tracts in tangible assets.
On 31 December 2009, leasing contracts in force cover three vehicles, 
with the following respective values:

Minimum, non-cancellable future leasing payments in the financial lea-
sing contracts entered into by REFER are as follows: 
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5.2   Intangible Assets

In 2009 and 2008, the following movements occurred in the Intangible 
Assets items and respective Amortization items: 
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5.3   Investments in Associated Companies

The movement recorded in 2009 in the financial investment item in as-
sociated companies is shown in the table below: 

In general terms, movements over the year include the following gains 
and losses: 

•  There was an increase in the capital of associated companies, as 
may be observed in the following table, which gave rise to a positive 
effect, through application of the asset equivalence method, of EUR 
9,262,502;

•  REFER hedged the losses of INVESFER, standing at EUR 8,491,007. This 
operation was performed based on compensation of the financing 
loan that REFER had granted the company. Therefore, the gains 
in this item, standing at EUR 8,851,151, contrast with the loans and 
receivables item (see note 5.7), since the additional value of EUR 
360,145 was used to liquidate outstanding amounts regarding op-
erational activity; 

•  REFER TELECOM distributed dividends to REFER standing at EUR 
1,500,000.

Details of Shareholdings in Associated Companies:
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This information was obtained from the respective non-audited pro 
forma financial statements for 2009, so alterations may have been made, 
which were not known on the date on which the disclosure of these ac-
counts was approved. However, we believe there will be no significant 
alterations.

5.4    Investments in Associated Companies

The movements in the financial investment item in associated compa-
nies are shown in the following table:
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Details of Shareholdings in Associated Companies:

This information was extracted from the non-audited forecast financial 
statements of 2009. As such, certain changes may be made which are 
not known on the date of approval of these accounts, although it is be-
lieved that no significant alterations will take place.
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5.5    Categories According to IAS 39
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The following table presents a breakdown of the financial assets and li-
abilities at the fair value through the results in accordance with the levels 
defined in the IFRS7:
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5.6    Financial Assets Available For Sale

Financial Assets Available For Sale includes the following investments:

The shareholding in FERNAVE is 10% and in Metro Mondego is 2.5%. As for 
the CVR – Centro para a Valorização Resíduos [Waste Recycling Centre], 
REFER holds 10 share units.
Recognition of the impairment loss relative to FERNAVE is based on the 
fact that on 31 December 2009, it presented total negative equity of EUR 
1,407,788.

5.7    Loans and Receivables

Summary of the loans granted to companies in which REFER has share-
holdings, which are not capital instruments of those entities:

As mentioned in note 5.3 above, REFER used the financial loan granted 
to INVESFER to cover the losses and liquidation of current credits related 
to operational activities owed to that entity. 

The loans granted to GIL in 2009 set out to guarantee compliance of 
accrued responsibilities. The financial reinforcement, which was remu-
nerated and had a grace period of one year, was accepted by all 
shareholders for an equal amount.
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5.8    Inventories

The Raw, Secondary and Consumption Materials item refers to the var-
ious types of materials that are included in infrastructure maintenance.

The adjustment for losses in stocks is performed on a yearly basis ac-
cording to the inventory of stocks and refers to materials that are obsolete 
and technically depreciated and cannot be used for REFER's activities, 
and which might be sold should an interested buyer emerge. 
The test performed at the end of 2009 concluded that the adjustment 
was suitable and no further changes were necessary. 

5.9    Financial Derivative Instruments

REFER uses derivatives to manage its exposure to financial risks. 
In line with its financial policies, REFER does not use derivatives for specu-
lation purposes.
Although the contracted derivatives are effective hedging instruments 
against risks, not all would be qualified as hedge accounting instruments 
according to the rules and requirements of IAS 39 (see Note 2.2. sub-
paragraph f). Thus, it was decided to consider the derivatives portfolio 
as of negotiation and, consequently, not qualify any of the positions as a 
hedge accounting instrument. 

Instruments that do not qualify as hedge accounting instruments are 
classified as trade derivatives in the financial assets and liabilities cat-
egory at the fair value through the results. Trade derivatives are recorded 
on the balance sheet by their fair value and their variations are recog-
nised in financial results. On 31 December 2009 and on 31 December 
2008, the nominal value of the REFER derivatives portfolio reached EUR 
2.9 billion and EUR 2.75 billion, respectively, for an overall financial debt 
of EUR 5.539 billion in 2009 and of EUR 5.137 billion in 2008.

The fair value of existing derivatives is shown below:
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5.10    Clients and Other Receivables 

Balances of Clients and Other Receivables are current balances, and, 
thus, they are approximate to their fair value.

Debits to clients include, essentially, user fees charged to entities that 
use the infrastructures (CP, CP Carga, FERTAGUS and TAKARGO) and also 
debits to operators for services rendered in commercial activities, ma-
noeuvres, capacity requested and not used, use of stations, information 
services for the public, parking of the rolling stock and other services. 

The operators’ debt is broken down as follows:

The value receivable from Group Companies in 2008 was fully owed by 
INVESFER and refers to the interest on loans. In 2009, operations were 
carried out to cover losses and settle the accounts with this subsidiary 
company (see note 5.3.).

In the Other Debtors item, around 36% is related to the partial accom-
plishment of the Protocol with Aveiro Council for the construction of a 
new railway station, road-rail interface and urban rehabilitation of the 
surrounding area.

It also includes a further EUR 1,047,389 in line with the Dispatch from 
the Secretary of State of Transport – no. 9.03/2004/SET of 11/03/2004, re-
garding the mission of the Gabinete Metro Sul do Tejo [South Tagus River 
Railway Crossing Office]. The amount refers to reimbursement requests 
already made, but which have not yet been received. 

This item also includes expropriation amounts made available to the 
courts until a conclusive decision on the said expropriation processes is 
made.

The Other Debtors item also includes EUR 1,433,522 in VAT referring to the 
inversion of the taxpayer; in other words it is the amount of VAT that REFER 
was obliged to pay resulting from judicial measures and, due to a time 
difference in actual receipt of invoice, could not be deducted. 

Adjustments to Other Debtors comes to EUR 1,973,573 which, after testing 
the probability of balance recovery, was strengthened by EUR 138.696. 



120
2009

This increase is recorded in the Adjustments to inventories and receiva-
bles item of the Integrated Profit and Loss Statement. 

As in 2008, this adjustment refers to the balance of Benaterras – EUR 6,818 
– which dates from 2001 to 2003, the Ateur balance – EUR 22,070 – which 
dates from 2003 to January 2006 and the O2 balance – EUR 1,805,995. 
The reinforcement provided in 2009 refers to the entities undergoing in-
solvency proceedings or to those which have been closed down. 

As for the Accrued Revenue item, it is entirely related to operational in-
come, particularly the amount relative to the infrastructure concession 
contract with REFER TELECOM (around 60% of the total). 

The Pre-payments item includes the amount of EUR 5,186,177 (in 2008 this 
figure was EUR 993,203) referring to adjustment of the effective interest 
rate of Eurobond 06/26, Eurobond 09/19 and Eurobond 09/27 bond loans 
allocated to the Investment Mission.

The Tax Refunds item refers to the VAT from December 2009, amounting to 
EUR 1,526,859 and to EUR 1,840,261 regarding the reimbursement request 
during the period of July 2009. This outstanding amount was received in 
January 2010.

The amount owed to Social Security has risen to EUR 59,262 and is justified 
since REFER is a centralising company and, as such, temporarily sub-
stitutes Social Security by paying employees on sick leave/leave upon 
presentation of a medical certificate.

5.11   Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents on the cash flow statement for the year en-
ding 31 December 2009 are reconciled with the amounts shown in the 
items of the financial position statement.

5.12    Loans Obtained

5.12.1    Current and Non-current Loans

The list of current and non-current loans to finance Infrastructure 
Management Activities is shown below:
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The Current Loans item includes the amount of EUR 17,710,000 referring to 
interest incurred and expected to be recognised from loans allocated to 
Infrastructure Management, through recognition of the amortised cost 
(in 2008 this figure was EUR 9,914,000). 
On 31 December 2009, REFER held EUR 325 million in commercial paper 
and around EUR 205 million in bank overdrafts, classified as “Debts to 
credit institutions”.

5.12.2    Terms and Deadlines for Repayment  

of Loans

In January 2009 the EUR 250 million Logo Securities “A2 Loan” was fully 
amortised.
The fair value of financial debt at fixed rate, on 31 December 2009, is 
shown below:



122
2009

Regarding commercial paper, the recorded amounts are considered a 
reasonable estimate of the fair value.

5.13    Suppliers and Other Payables

This heading includes the following items:

The payable taxes are broken down as follows:

The Personal Income Tax (IRS) and Social Security balances are those 
corresponding to the processing of wages for December 2009, delivered 
to the State in January 2010. Other Taxes consists of Stamp Duty also 
processed in December 2009 and also delivered to the State in January 
2010.

The amounts recorded under Group Companies refer to applications of 
treasury surpluses, as described in note 5.21, and are as follows:



2009

123

Under other creditors, especially noteworthy is the contribution of the 
Advances for Sales item, the total cost of which is EUR 16,693,000. Around 
77% of this amount refers to the Promissory Purchase / Sale Contract 
signed on 28/07/2000 covering assigned Surface Rights whose deed has 
not yet been signed, although the amounts agreed in the said Promissory 
Purchase / Sale Contract are being received.

This item also includes the amounts received deriving from protocols with 
several entities and in relation to which the conditions are not fulfilled to 
enable recognition of the revenue. 

The accrued expenses item includes the amount of EUR 53,120,000 of 
interest incurred from loans contracted for long duration infrastructures 
investment (in 2008 this figure was EUR 44,604,000. This amount includes 
the amount of EUR 19,937,000 in the bond securities item – non-current 
liabilities).

In addition to this interest, the Accrued Expenses item consists of liabili-
ties for holidays and holiday subsidies for 2009 due in 2010, 18% of the 
balance, of rents for facilities and miscellaneous expenses in 2009 not 
invoiced by the respective entities until the end of the respective year. 

Deferred Income includes EUR 899,772 for the value to be integrated in 
proportion to its depreciation of the wood cross-ties creosoting industrial 
establishment, part of the 2007 fixed tangible assets.

5.14    Provisions

The accumulated provisions and respective movements in 2009 were as 
follows:

The provisions result from the identification of situations in which REFER 
believes there may be a reduction in the resources incorporating eco-
nomic benefits, which can be reasonably estimated, and which will 
require payment of the obligation. 
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The provision for ongoing lawsuits includes civil industrial relations pro-
cedures. The provisions for legal proceedings refer to accidents and 
requests for indemnity for damage and occupation of land, deriving 
from LDI improvement and conservation work among other items of less 
relevance.

5.15    Income Tax

Of recoverable tax, EUR 560,000 refers to the special payments on ac-
count, whereby EUR 200,000 from 2003 and EUR 40,000 from 2004 were 
subject to a reimbursement request, in line with taxation laws. 
The remaining value originates from deductions at source from capital 
and property income deducted by the entities owing this income, net 
of tax owed in 2009 referring to Autonomous Taxation (see note 5.23.2).

5.16 Services Rendered and Operation Subsidies

5.16.1 Services Rendered

The services rendered are listed below: 

This item includes income from services rendered, with emphasis on the 
income for use of the infrastructures, that is, the railway infrastructure 
user fees, approved by the National Railway Transport Institute and deb-
ited from CP Comboios, CP Carga, FERTAGUS and TAKARGO. 
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This item also includes services rendered by REFER employees for railway 
circulation manoeuvres and debited from the same companies for using 
railway complexes, the debit of traction energy, parking of rolling stock 
and utilisation of stops.

5.16.2 Operating Subsidies

In 2009, EUR 36,149,308 was spent on the standardisation of accounts 
(Council of Ministers Resolution no. 114/2009 of 14-12), that is, compensa-
tory indemnity paid by the State to companies who provide a public 
service.

5.17    External Supplies and Services

External supplies and services is broken down as follows:

 
The subcontracts item refers essentially to subcontracting track main-
tenance, signalling, telecommunications and power lines services. 
Maintenance services for telecommunications systems are performed 
mostly by REFER TELECOM, a subsidiary company.
This increased cost of specialised works reflects the management and 
implementation of the National Ecotrails Plan, within the scope of the 
protocols signed with INVESFER. It is likewise influenced by the recognition 
as a cost of the amounts spent in preliminary studies linked to investment 
projects, but which did not go ahead. Examples of such cases are the 
studies on decommissioned property, general railway projects, tech-
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nical assistance on the track, tests for ballast quality control, technical 
assistance for FERBRITAS, among others.
In 2009 a new REFER surveillance system contract came into force. The 
system is now in place in a higher number of stations (Famalicão, Gaia, 
Viana do Castelo, among others), which has resulted in an increase in 
security and safety costs.

The highest proportion of the rents and rentals item is taken by the renting 
of the ARTS Building, which also gave the biggest contribution to the 
variation from the previous year. Notwithstanding, the overall value of 
this rent is very similar to the 2008 figure. REFER was reorganised in 2009 
which led to less occupation of this property by the services linked to 
the State Investment account mission, with a consequent increase in the 
costs borne by the company.
The increase in the water item is explained by a change to the ac-
counting procedure in the year. The item is now recorded by its nature 
and not in an individual account. 

Operational Leases

Rents and rentals includes EUR 953,649 for operational leases of vehicles 
and EUR 65,532 for the operational leases of equipment.
REFER, on the date to which this Annex pertains, holds 344 vehicles and 
40 items of equipment, acquired through operational leasing contracts.

We now present the total minimum future payments of leasing, which 
cannot be cancelled, in the operational leasing contracts that REFER 
signed:

 

5.18    Personnel Expenses

 
Other Personnel Expenses essentially cover work accident insurance, 
training, recruitment, compensation and transport utilisation benefits.
In 2009 there was a rise in the amount of compensation paid to em-
ployees, amounting to around EUR 3,801,000 (in 2008 this figure had been 
EUR 1,380,000).
Wages remained stable in 2009, with a 3% rise compared to 2008.
The average number of employees during 2009 was 3,518 (compared to 
3,573 in 2008).
Emphasis also goes to REFER’s expenses on employee representation 
structures (information referred to by the Dispatch from the Secretary of 
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State of the Treasury, of 25 June 1980). For workers participating full time in 
these activities (Union Leaders and Employee Committee) expenses were 
calculated for the employee representation structure for the years of 2009 
and 2008, amounting to EUR 174,711 and EUR 176,043 respectively.
The figures are broken down as follows:

Number of participating employees:

5.19    Other Expenses

The other expenses are broken down as follows:

The Indirect Taxes item refers essentially to stamp duty and fees. As 
pointed out in note 5.17, in 2009 there was a change in accounting 
procedures, based on which the water cost component began to be 
recorded by nature. 
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5.20    Other income

The other income is broken down as follows:

The Utilisation and Licences item essentially includes the concession 
to use buildings and land (around 32%), the concession, licences and 
renting of commercial spaces (around 28%) and the concession of car 
parks (around 13%).

5.21    Financial Losses and Gains

Financial losses and gains can be broken down as follows:
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Interest Incurred refers to debt securities, medium- and long-term bank 
loans, and short-term credit Lines. It also includes remuneration paid for 
treasury applications of affiliate companies with REFER (see note 5.1.3). 
The affiliate companies are paid at the Euribor rate at 1 week minus 1 per-
centage point on a 365-day basis, with a minimum interest rate of 0.25%.

Interest incurred on derivative financial instruments includes swap opera-
tions (paying leg and premiums paid).
Interest obtained on derivative financial instruments refers to interest re-
ceived from swap operations (receiving leg and premiums received) and 
other interest obtained from financial operations.

The reductions in fair value of derivative financial instrument operations 
are shown under Financial Losses and the increases under Financial Gains. 
The net effect of these variations came to EUR 14.563 million in 2009 com-
pared to –EUR 48.212 million in 2008. 

The amount of losses in other financial investments are linked to the cov-
erage of losses by REFER to FERNAVE, in 2009 (see note 5.3).
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5.22    Losses and Gains in Branch and 

Associated Companies
 

Gains in Branch Companies refer to applying the asset equivalence 
method to the companies FERBRITAS, REFER TELECOM, INVESFER and 
CPCOM. Losses in Associated Companies relate to the shareholding held 
in RAVE.

5.23    Income Tax for the Year

5.23.1    Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

REFER did not recognise deferred tax assets or liabilities in the financial 
statements.
No deferred tax liabilities were identified in the year. 
As for deferred tax assets, there are fiscal losses to be applied, totalling 
EUR 1,032,774,318. However, due to the current economic setting and 
the budgets for the upcoming years, the company does not expect to 
obtain tax profits in the future enabling it to recover the temporary asset 
differences.

 

5.23.2     Income Tax for the Year

Income tax for the year, recognised in the integrated profit and loss 
statement, refers to the autonomous taxation calculated in accordance 
with the taxation rules in force on the date of the report.
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Works for the company are recorded as a counterpart to the respective 
expenses item.

The variation in investment materials is explained by the higher investment, 
particularly in the Northern Line (between Setil and Entroncamento) and 
the Beira Baixa Line.

7.	 Remuneration of the Members of the 
Governing Bodies

This information is compiled in accordance with the Council of Ministers 
Resolution no. 155/2005 of 8 September 2005 and article 13º-A, of 
Decree-Law no.  558/99, of 17 December, as worded by Decree-Law no. 
300/2007, of 23 August.  

6.	 Statement Of Internal Results For 
The Long Duration Infrastructure 
Investment Activity

The internal work carried out for the investment activity in LDI, which was 
not recognised in the integrated profit and loss statement, is as follows.
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In compliance with Decree-Law no. 71/2007, the values recorded in 2008 
were re-expressed.
The following values were paid to the Audit Board:

The amounts against the company Barbas, Martins, Mendonça & 
Associados, SROC were paid as remuneration for specialised work.

8.	 Balances/Transactions With Related 
Entities

Entities are considered related if REFER, directly or indirectly controls 
them, is controlled by them or is under common control. Entities are also 
related where REFER has a stake that gives them significant influence. 
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9.	 Information Concerning Related 
Entities 

9.1    List of Related Entities

The following entities are identified as related entities of REFER:

9.2    Balances and Transactions with Branch 

Companies

The following balances and transactions were recorded with Branch 
Companies:
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9.3    Balances and Transactions with Associated 

companies

The following balances and transactions were recorded with Associated 
Companies:
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The most relevant transactions with RAVE and included above refer es-
sentially to the assignment of personnel by REFER. 
Financial expenses include interest on treasury surplus applications.
In relation to GIL, the purchase and rendering of services refers to the 
renting of shops in Oriente Station. 

9.4    Balances and Transactions with CP and CP Carga

The following balances and transactions were recorded with CP and CP 
Carga:
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The services rendered item essentially includes the values charged for 
essential services supplied to the various business units of CP.

10.	Recently Issued Accounting Standards 
And Interpretations

The impact of the adoption of the standards and interpretations which 
came into force as of 1 January 2009 is as follows:

•  IFRS 8, “Operational Segments”. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and con-
verges in the report per segments with the US GAAP, SFAS. This new 
standard stipulates the use of “management vision”, in accordance 
with which the information per segment is presented on the same 
information basis as reported internally by the management. There 
were no changes in the applicability of this standard to REFER. 

•  IAS 1 (review), “Presentation of the financial statements”. The review 
of this standard forbids the presentation of revenue or expenses (i.e. 
changes in equity related to the shareholders) in the statement of 
changes in equity, requiring the transactions in equity deriving from 
non shareholder entities to be presented in the integrated profit and 
loss statement. REFER adopted the new financial statements struc-
ture as of 1 January 2009.

•  IAS 23 (alteration), “Costs on loans obtained”. The IAS 23 alteration 
stipulates that the costs of loans that are directly attributed to acqui-
sition, construction or production of a “qualifiable” asset (an asset 
that requires a substantial period of time to reach its condition of use 
or sale), should be considered as part of the cost of acquisition. This 
alteration is not expected to have an impact on REFER's financial 
statements since it already applies this accounting process. 

•  IFRS 2 (alteration) “payments based on shares”. The IFRS 2 alteration 
refers to the vesting and cancellation conditions. It clarifies that the 
concept of vesting conditions is limited to the conditions of provi-
sion of service and performance. The cancellation of a share plan 
should be registered in the same way as cancellation upon the ini-
tiative of the company or a third party. This alteration does not have 
any impact on REFER's financial statements, given that it does not 
own share plans.

•  IAS 32 (alteration) “financial instruments”: presentation and con-
sequent alteration to IAS 1 “presentation of financial statements”. 
This alteration requires that some financial instruments that comply 
with the definition of financial liability should be classified as capital 
instruments, when they possess certain specific conditions. The alter-
ation to this standard has no impact on REFER's financial statements.

•  IFRS 1 (alteration), “adoption for the first time of the IFRS” and con-
sequent alteration to IAS 27 “individual and consolidated financial 
statements”. The alteration to this standard allows entities that are 
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adopting the IFRS for the first time to measure the investments in 
subsidiaries, joint enterprises and associate companies in separate 
accounts, at the presumed cost, which may correspond to the fair 
value of the investments on the date of the transition or the ac-
counting value through which it was registered in the previous GAAP. 
This alteration had no impact on REFER’s financial statements.

•  IFRS 7 (alteration). The changes made aim to improve the disclosures 
relative to the application of the fair value. The fair value application 
level used for each asset or liability measured at fair value, and the 
methods and the presuppositions implemented are now disclosed. 
REFER has included this information in the annex to the financial 
statements.

•  Annual improvement of the standards in 2008 (to be applied mostly 
to 1 January 2009). Following the process of reviewing the consist-
ency of the practical application of the IAS/IFRS standards, the IASB 
decided to improve some standards (IAS 16, IAS 20, IAS 38 and IAS 
40), to clarify some inconsistencies found. The adoption of these im-
provements did not have any significant impact on REFER's financial 
statements.

•  IFRIC 9, “embedded derivatives” and IAS 39 “financial instruments: 
recognition and measuring”. This change has clarified the ac-
counting procedures for the embedded derivatives when the Entity 
has adopted the alteration made to IAS 39 regarding the reclassifi-
cation of financial assets, as published by IASB in October 2008. This 
alteration had no impact on REFER’s financial statements. 

•  IFRIC 13, “client loyalty programmes”. IFRIC 13 clarifies that when 
goods or services are sold associated with client loyalty programmes, 
the transactions are considered “multi-elements” meaning that the 
product of the sale has to be allocated to the different components 
based on their fair value. IFRIC 13 is not relevant for REFER’s activity. 

•  IFRIC 14, “limitation of assets deriving from benefit plans and their 
interaction with requirements of minimum contributions”. IFRIC 14 
clarifies the evaluation of the limit that in accordance with IAS 19 
can be recognised as an asset. It also clarifies how the assets and 
liabilities with pensions can be affected by specific minimum contri-
bution requirements. IFRIC 14 does not have any impact on REFER’s 
financial statements. 

Certain alterations and interpretations have been made to the stand-
ards, which despite having been published are only applied compulsorily 
to financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009. REFER decided not to 
adopt the said alterations earlier:

Standards

•  IFRS 3 (review), ‘concentration of activities’ (to be applied to the years 
that start on or after 1 July 2009). The reviewed standard continues 
to apply to the method of purchasing a concentration of activities, 
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with some significant changes. For example, all the amounts that 
comprise the price of the purchase are valued at their fair value. 
There is the option, from transaction to transaction, to measure the 
“non-controlled stakes” through the proportion of the value of the 
net assets of the entity acquired or the fair value of the assets and 
liabilities acquired. All the costs associated with the acquisition are 
registered as expenses. REFER will apply IFRS 3 (review) in the future 
to all the concentrations of activity that occur after 1 January 2010.

•  IAS 27 (review), “Individual and consolidated financial statements” 
(to be applied to years that start on or after 1 July 2009). The re-
viewed standard requires that all transactions with “non-controlling 
stakes” should be recorded in Equity, when there is no change in the 
control of the Entity, with no registering of goodwill or earnings or 
losses. The standard also stipulates what should be recorded when 
losses occur. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-valued at the 
fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in earnings for the year. 
REFER shall apply IAS 27 (review) in the future in transactions with 
“non-controlling interests” that occur after 1 January 2010.

•  IFRS 5 (Improvement 2008) “Non-current assets held for sale and dis-
continued units” (to be applied to years that start on or after 1 July 
2009). The improvement clarifies that all the assets and liabilities of a 
subsidiary should be classified as held for sale, if a partial sale plan 
results in the loss of control. Specific disclosures should be made if 
this subsidiary qualifies as a discontinued unit. REFER shall apply this 
improvement in the future to all partial sales of branch companies 
that occur after 1 January 2010.

•  IAS 39 (alteration), “financial instruments – items eligible for hedging” 
(to be applied to years that start on or after 1 July 2009). This altera-
tion clarifies which principles shall be applied in specific situations 
to ascertain whether risk hedging or a proportion of cash-flows is eli-
gible to be categorised as “hedging”. This alteration has no impact 
on REFER’s financial statements.

•  IAS 32 (alteration), “financial instruments: presentation - classifica-
tion of rights issued” (to be applied to years that start on or after 1 
February 2010). This alteration affects the accounting of rights issues 
in a currency that is different from the functional currency of the 
issuer. If the rights are issued pro-rata to the shareholders for a fixed 
amount in any currency, it is considered a transaction with share-
holders to be recorded in Equity. If not, the rights shall be classified 
as liability derivative instruments. This alteration has no impact on 
REFER’s financial statements.  

•  IFRS 2 (alteration), “Payments based on shares – transactions paid 
financially by the Group” (to be applied to years that start on or after 
1 January 2009). This alteration has not yet been adopted by the 
EU. The change incorporates IFRIC 8, “Scope of IFRS 2” and IFRIC 
11, “IFRS2, transaction with shares of the group and own shares”, 
and affects the classification of the plans of the group in which the 
entity that receives the goods or services in exchange for payment 
plans based on shares paid financially by the group, is not liable 
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for any payment. This alteration has no impact on REFER’s financial 
statements.

•  IFRS 1 (alteration), “Adoption of the IFRS for the first time” (to be ap-
plied to years that start on or after 1 January 2009). This alteration 
has not yet been adopted by the EU. This alteration to the standard 
exempts a first-time adopter of the IFRS from the retrospective ap-
plication of the IFRS for the assets of the “oil & gas” activities, if the 
“total cost” method is applied within the scope of the previous 
standard. The change to this standard also exempts the entities from 
re-evaluating the classification of a current leasing contract in the 
light of IFRIC 4, “ascertaining whether an agreement contains a 
lease” when the application of the previous standard results in the 
same classification. This alteration has no impact on REFER’s finan-
cial statements.

•   IAS 24 (alteration) “related parties” (to be applied to years that start 
on or after 1 January 2011). This alteration has not yet been adopted 
by the EU. The change to the standard removes the general re-
quirements of disclosure of related parties for public sector entities. 
However, the disclosure of the relationship of the entity with the State 
and any significant transactions that have taken place with the 
State or entities related to the State must obligatorily be reported. 
Furthermore, the definition of related party was changed to remove 
inconsistencies in the identification and disclosure of the related 
parties. REFER will assess whether this alteration has an impact on its 
financial statements. 

•  IFRS 9 (new), “financial instruments – classification and measuring” 
(to be applied to years that start on or after 1 January 2013). This 
alteration has not yet been adopted by the EU. IAS 39 sets out two 
categories of measuring: the amortised cost and the fair value. All 
the capital instruments are measured at the fair value. The debt 
instrument is measured at the amortised cost only when the entity 
holds it to receive the contractual cash-flows and the cash-flows 
represent the nominal value and the interest. If not, the debt instru-
ments are valuated at the fair value through results. REFER will apply 
IFRS 9 in the year in which it comes into force.

•  Annual improvement of the standards in 2009, to be applied mostly 
to years which start on or after 1 January 2010. These improvements 
have not been adopted by the EU. As part of the process to review 
the consistency and practical application of the IAS/IFRS, the IASB 
decided to make improvements to the standards in order to clarify 
some inconsistencies found. The most significant improvements are 
in the alterations made to IAS 17, 36 and 38. These improvements 
have been applied by REFER in the years they came into force.

Interpretations

◦◦ IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession agreements’ (to be applied to 
financial years starting on 1 January 2010). This interpretation 
outlines how concessionaries of public services should apply IFRS 
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standards when accounting for the infrastructure construction 
obligation assumed and the rights received within the scope of 
the concession contract. This interpretation does not have an 
impact on REFER's financial statements.

◦◦ IFRIC 14 (Amendment), 'IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit 
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction' (to 
be applied to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2011). 
This amendment to the interpretation has not yet been adopted 
by the European Union. This amendment clarifies that when the 
asset is a consequence of pre-payments made as minimum fu-
ture contributions, the positive excess can be recognised as an 
asset. This alteration does not have an impact on REFER's financial 
statements.

◦◦ IFRIC 15, ‘Real estate construction agreements’ (to be applied to 
financial years starting on or after 1 January 2010, in the European 
Union). IFRIC 15 clarifies when to apply IAS 18, ‘Revenue’ or IAS 
11, ‘Construction contracts’ to a given transaction. It is likely that 
more transactions qualify for application of IAS 18, ‘Revenue’. 
IFRIC 15 does not have an impact on REFER's financial statements.

◦◦ IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’ (to 
be applied to financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009, in the 
European Union). This interpretation applies to entities that hedge 
exchange rate risk arising from investments made in foreign 
operations and outlines what the conditions are to qualify as ac-
counting hedging. This interpretation also defines what sums must 
be reclassified from equity to earnings when a foreign operation 
is divested. IFRIC 16 does not have an impact on REFER's financial 
statements.  

◦◦ IFRIC 17, ‘Distribution of non-cash assets to owners’ (to be applied 
to financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009). This interpreta-
tion clarifies that: (a) dividends payable are recognised when 
they are appropriately authorised and are no longer at the 
discretion of the entity; (b) an entity must measure the dividend 
payable at the fair value of the net assets to be distributed; (c) 
an entity must recognise the difference between the value of the 
dividend paid and the book value of the net assets distributed in 
the profit and loss statement. IFRIC 17 should not have an impact 
on REFER's financial statements.

◦◦ IFRIC 18, ‘Transfer of assets from customers’ (to be applied to 
financial years starting on or after 31 October 2009). This inter-
pretation clarifies the accounting treatment to be adopted for 
agreements in which a tangible asset, which is transferred from 
the customer, is used to provide future services. This interpretation 
is particularly relevant for the utilities sector in which gas or elec-
tricity services are provided. IFRIC 18 should not have an impact 
on REFER's financial statements.   

◦◦ •	IFRIC 19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instru-
ments’ (to be applied to financial years starting on or after 1 July 
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2010). This interpretation clarifies which accounting treatment to 
adopt when an entity renegotiates the terms of a debt that results 
in the payment of the liability by issuing equity instruments (shares) 
to the creditor. A gain or a loss is recognised in earnings, based 
on the fair value of the equity instruments issued compared to 
the debt’s book value. Simple reclassification of the debt’s value 
in equity is not permitted. REFER will apply IFRIC 19 when this be-
comes effective.

11.	Investment Commitments

The estimated value of investments to be made into Long Duration 
Infrastructures (LDI) for the public railway domain, and other investments 
that are not part of LDI (IEAG – Support and Management Structures inte-
grating the investments of operation, studies and other fixed assets) ne-
cessary for developing the forecast activities, reached EUR 837 million.
Of the total investment planned, 96% (EUR 528 million) corresponds to 
investments in LDI; the remaining 4% (EUR 23 million) corresponds to in-
vestments in Support and Management Structures.

12.	Guarantees And State Guarantees

On 31 December 2009, loans which benefited from State guarantees 
amounted to EUR 3,627,670,526 (in 2008: EUR 2,471,972,355), as referred 
to in note 4.6.1.
Total bank guarantees received from suppliers came to EUR 223,470,902 
(in 2008: EUR 243,412,747).
Total bank guarantees received from clients/debtors came to EUR 
5,645,109 (in 2008: EUR 3,405,851). These guarantees aim to ensure the 



142
2009

proper, complete fulfilment of the concession contract in favour of REFER, 
in compliance with the specific legislation for public works contracts.
On 31 December 2009, REFER assumed responsibility for guarantees gi-
ven to courts at a value of EUR 440,368 (in 2008: EUR 401,057) and other 
guarantees worth EUR 2,632,592 (in 2008: EUR 2,741,092).
As the majority shareholder of FERBRITAS, REFER signed a comfort letter in 
favour of Banco Millennium covering medium- and long-term financing 
up to a level of EUR 2,033,865.
Also, as the majority shareholder of INVESFER, REFER is responsible for the 
comfort letter in favour of BPI covering short-term credit up to a level of 
EUR 249,399.

13.	Contingencies

Lawsuits

At the end of 2009, the legal proceedings in progress, referring to expro-
priations, reached a value of EUR 640,187 (in 2008: EUR 4,879,201). This 
value is not reflected in the financial position statement.

In this case, deposits are made in the name of the court where the law-
suit is in progress. These deposits are equivalent to the arbitrated amount 
and are safeguarded at the bank Caixa Geral de Depósitos. Moreover, 
settling these proceedings does not imply a cost to the company but ra-
ther an investment in railway infrastructures. Besides these proceedings, 
there are also others related with accidents at infrastructures managed 
by the company, damages caused to third-party properties, but for whi-
ch the company is at fault, and some suits in progress in the Labour Court 
covered by a provision.
Regarding the lawsuit against REFER, filed by the Teixeira/Duarte/EPOS 
consortium consequent to REFER’s termination of the Rossio Tunnel 
Rehabilitation Contract and published in 2008, at the time of writing, 
there are no relevant additional conclusions or information about this 
process which may influence the accounts presented herein. 

14.	Subsequent Events 

On 12 February 2010, REFER signed a contract with Parque Expo to trans-
fer shares, in which Parque Expo transferred to REFER 1% of the equity of 
GIL – Gare Intermodal de Lisboa, S.A. without charge. From this date, 
REFER owned 33.98% of that company’s equity.
In compliance with article 1 of Dispatch no. 20408/2009 of 28 August, CP 
must transfer to REFER the premises that were allocated to FERGRÁFICA/
TEX’s business, which were part of the set of assets mentioned in Annex 
B of Joint Dispatch no. 261/99 of 5 March. This transfer is pending due to 
underlying formalities which were not yet complete in 2009 and which 
were not reflected in the 2009 accounts either due to their nature.
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3
Corporate Governance Report
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Introduction

For a long time now, REFER, E.P.E. has taken particular care to handle 
issues surrounding corporate governance systems properly and to dis-
close regularly the positions and solutions taken by REFER, E.P.E. in this 
area to its stakeholders, the financial community, the authorities and the 
market in general.
In line with that sense of commitment and following the pattern of prior 
years, in this chapter the Board presents its annual management report 
of the main aspects regarding corporate governance, whilst also ful-
filling its duty of information as outlined by Council of Ministers Resolution 
no. 49/2007 and the Portuguese Securities Exchange (CMVM) Ruling no. 
5/2008.
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According to Decree-Law no. 104/97 of 29 April, REFER, E.P.’s main goal 
is to provide a public service of managing the national rail network. The 
company’s goals also include:

•  Construction, installation and renovation of the rail infrastructures, 
especially the respective studies, planning and development.

•  Circulation command and control and promotion, coordination and 
development of all the activities relating to the rail infrastructure.

•  Activities complementary or subsidiary to the main goal.

In 2008, REFER’s statutes were published in Decree-Law no. 141/2008 of 
22 July, which came into effect on 23 July 2008. This Decree-Law amends 
the statute which created Rede Ferroviária Nacional, REFER, E.P., and 
its statutes, in order to adapt them to the new legal framework for the 
State’s corporate sector. 
Therefore, Rede Ferroviária Nacional, REFER, E.P., was transformed into a 
public corporate entity called Rede Ferroviária Nacional, REFER, E.P.E., 
which includes an alteration to the structure of its governing bodies. The 
remit of the former Audit Committee is now shared between two new 
governing bodies: the Audit Board and the Chartered Accountant.
At the same time, adjustments were made to REFER’s remit with regard to 
rail infrastructure maintenance for the 25 de Abril Bridge.

The description and remit of REFER, E.P.E. is as follows:

“REFER, E.P.E. is a corporate public entity with a legal nature, administra-
tive and financial autonomy and its own assets, subject to supervision by 
the Ministers responsible for the finance and transport sectors.”

In summary, REFER has the following Mission:

“Provide a competitive transport infrastructure to the market by mana-
ging and developing an efficient and safe rail network that is environ-
mentally friendly.”

And the following Vision:

“REFER will be an exemplary european railway infrastructure manager”

To carry out its activities, REFER has structured itself around the two as-
pects of its mission, whilst always keeping in mind that its main goal is 
to provide a public infrastructure management service. However, the 
whole corporate and administrative structure serves each activity in the 
same manner.
In addition to the activities covered by its missions – Infrastructure 
Management and Investment Management – REFER also carries out 
other complementary activities alongside its normal operations.
In accordance with its corporate purpose, REFER carries out two com-
plementary business activities:

Mission, Objectives and Policies
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•  Infrastructure Management and Operation, as a public service pro-
vider which manages the whole national rail network infrastructure, 
which includes circulation command and control and the promo-
tion, coordination and development of all activities relating to the 
rail infrastructure.

•  Investment to build, install and renew the rail infrastructure, which in-
cludes, in particular, studies, planning and development, an activity 
carried out on behalf of the State (the assets are part of the public 
railway domain).

•  Other Activities such as building, installing and managing interfaces 
with other transport modes and using spaces to enhance its assets.

The Strategic Guidelines for the Rail Sector (OESF), presented by the 
Government in October 2006 and part of the general transport policy, 
set out a set of Strategic Objectives for the sector. These form the frame-
work for developing REFER’s activities. They include:

•  Improving accessibility and mobility, in order to increase rail trans-
port's share of the market;

•  Ensuring acceptable levels of safety, interoperability and environ-
mental sustainability;

•  Moving to a sustainable financial model which promotes efficiency;

•  Promoting research, development and innovation.

In terms of mission, the following are the company's key Objectives and 
Policies:

◦◦ To improve the network’s service levels;

◦◦ To improve and modernise the network infrastructure;

◦◦ To improve the services provided to end clients;

◦◦ To sustain high safety levels;

◦◦ To promote environmental sustainability;

◦◦ To ensure economic and financial sustainability;

◦◦ To reduce the cost of services provided;

◦◦ To increase the contribution from non-operational activities;

◦◦ To increase the organisation’s productivity;

◦◦ To optimise management and control of investments and contracts;
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◦◦ To encourage process regularisation and standardisation of the 
network infrastructure;

◦◦ To strengthen technical and management expertise;

◦◦ To encourage professional development.

The following are the key projects completed during 2009:

•  Cacia Multimodal Platform: Unveiled on 20 February.

•  Cais do Sodré Transport Interface: Unveiled on 13 March.

•  Reopening of the passenger rail transport service on the Vendas 
Novas line: September

•  Completion of the painting of Maria Pia Bridge, Porto: October 

•  Launch of the new passenger rail service on the Leixões line, con-
necting Ermesinde – Leça do Balio

•  Closure of various Level Crossings
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Structure
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According to its statutes (Decree-Law no. 104/97 of 29 April), the 
governing bodies of REFER, E.P. include the Board of Directors as its 
management body and the Audit Committee as its supervisory body. 
Decree-Law no. 141/2008 of 22 July transformed REFER into a public cor-
porate entity and thereby altered the structure of its governing bodies. 
The remit of the former Audit Committee is now shared between two 
new governing bodies: the Audit Board and the Chartered Accountant. 
On 31 December 2009, the dispatch appointing the members of the 
Audit Board had not yet been disclosed, due to which, in accordance 
with Decree-Law no. 141/2008 of 22 July, the Audit Committee retained 
its role.

Board of Directors (Decree-Law No. 104/97 of 29 April).
“The general remit of the Board of Directors is to use all means neces-
sary to manage and develop the company and to manage its assets, 
notwithstanding the responsibility of care of supervisory ministries.” 
(Decree-Law no. 104/97 of 29 April).

Governing Bodies

Chairman of the Board
Luís Filipe Melo e Sousa Pardal

Vice-Chairman of the Board 
Alfredo Vicente Pereira

Board Member 
Romeu Costa Reis

Board Member 
Alberto Castanho Ribeiro

Board Member 
Carlos Alberto Fernandes

◦  ◦ Corporate Relations
◦  ◦ General Secretariat
◦  ◦ Organisational Development
◦  ◦ Construction
◦  ◦ Human Resources
◦  ◦ Property Assets

◦  ◦ Economics and Finance
◦  ◦ Planning and Strategy
◦  ◦ Provisions and Logistics

◦  ◦ Legal Affairs
◦  ◦ International Relations
◦  ◦ Auditing
◦  ◦ Communications and image
◦  ◦ EU Funds

◦  ◦ Infrastructure Engineering and Operation
◦  ◦ Safety
◦  ◦ Stations Management

◦  ◦ Information Systems and Technology
◦  ◦ Tariffs and Infrastructure Access
◦  ◦ Liaison with the Fertagus Concession Contract
◦  ◦ State Contracts
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Annual Objectives 2009-2011

Decree-Law no. 71/2007 establishes that management functions per-
formed by public managers must be subject to systematic evaluation, 
according to the objectives outlined in article 11 of Decree-Law no. 
558/99 of 17/12, or the management contract, as well as the criteria 
defined in Parliament (article 6, no. 1). Following the Decree-Law, a 
Management Contract was signed on 30 July 2009 between the REFER 
Administration and the Ministries of Finance and Public Administration 
(Secretary of State for the Treasury and Finances) and the Ministry of 
Public Works, Transport and Communications (Secretary of State for 
Transport), representing the Portuguese State, for each of the Senior 
Management members, which establishes quantified indicators and 
targets with a view to pursuing the objectives set.

The indicators and targets proposed for 2009 and their degree of com-
pletion were defined, as given in the table below: 
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Audit Bodies (Decree-Law No. 141/2008 of 22 July).
“The audit bodies are responsible for monitoring the company’s legality, 
regularity and good financial and asset management.” 

Audit Board

“It is the Audit Board’s responsibility, notwithstanding further roles that 
may be attributed to it by law, to:

•  Audit management and compliance with regulatory standards ap-
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plicable to the company’s activities, with the particular purpose of 
fulfilling the objectives stipulated in the annual budgets;

•  Issue opinions on the company’s financial statements, in particular 
the profit and loss statement, the trading account and other docu-
ments submitted annually by the Board, as well as the annual Board 
report;

•  Issue an opinion on any issue of interest to the company which is 
submitted by the Board for assessment;

•  Inform the relevant authorities about any company management 
irregularities detected;

•  Issue an opinion on the legality and suitability of the Board’s con-
duct in cases where the law requires their approval or agreement.”

Chartered Accountant

“The Chartered Accountant shall perform all examinations and checks 
necessary for the review and legal certification of accounts, as well as 
performing the following duties:

•  Check the regularity of the books, accounting records and the un-
derlying documents;

•  At the time and using the means deemed appropriate, check cash 
levels and stock of any type of goods or values belonging to the 
company or received by it as a guarantee or deposit or for any other 
purpose;

•  Check the accuracy of the financial statements;

•  Check whether the accounting policies and valuation criteria ap-
plied by the company lead to a correct evaluation of the assets and 
results.

Quarterly, the Audit Board and the Chartered Accountant must send 
the Ministers for Finance and Transport a brief report outlining the im-
plemented control measures and any detected anomalies, as well as 
budget deviations and respective causes.” 
As mentioned above, on 31 December 2009, the dispatch appointing 
the members of the Audit Board had not yet been disclosed, due to 
which, in accordance with Decree-Law no. 141/2008 of 22 July, the Audit 
Committee retained its role.
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Audit Committee

Auditing

Assistance is provided to the Audit Committee according to the contract 
signed in 2009 for External Auditing Service Provision to the REFER Group:

External Auditing: Pricewaterhousecoopers & Associados – Sociedade 
Revisores Oficiais De Contas, Lda.
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Remuneration to Members of  
Governing Bodies
The following remuneration statute was issued for the governing bodies 
of REFER E.P.E.:

1. Board Of Directors
Executive Directors

Chairman

◦◦ Remuneration of EUR 7,226, 14 times per year;

Vice-Chairman

◦◦ Remuneration of EUR 6,685, 14 times per year;

Board Members 

◦◦ Remuneration of EUR 6,307, 14 times per year.

2. Audit Committee

Audit Committee Member
Hilário Manuel Marcelino Teixeira

◦◦ Remuneration for Audit Committee Work  EUR 950.51	  
12 times per year
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The governing body members were remunerated as follows:
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According to Article 4 of Decree-Law no. 141/2008 of 22 July, REFER, E.P.E. 
will be audited by an Audit Board and a Chartered Accountant. 

This Decree-Law states that until the latter is appointed, the members of 
the Audit Committee retain their functions.
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This chapter lists the external and internal regulations to which REFER is 
subject:

•  The Constitution of the Republic of Portugal, whose Article 84 defines 
the national railway lines as Public Domain.

•  Law for Land Transport System Bases, Law no. 10/90 of 17 March: the 
land transport system includes the infrastructures and assets allocated 
to land transport of passengers and freight within the Portuguese terri-
tory or which terminate within it or pass through it and is governed by 
this law, its underlying decree-laws and regulations. 

•  Decree-Law no. 104/97, which created REFER, E.P., was published on 
29 April 1997.

•  REFER, whose statutory capital is 100% held by the state, is governed 
jointly by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Public Works, 
Transport and Communications. REFER carries out activities to fulfil its 
goals, according to the principles of modernisation and effectiveness, 
to provide a public service of managing the national rail network infra-
structures regularly and continuously. As was decreed, REFER:

◦◦ may carry out all necessary or convenient management activity 
to fulfil its objectives; 

◦◦ maintains the rights and assumes the responsibilities assigned to 
the State by the applicable legal provisions and regulations cov-
ering the Public Railway Domain;

◦◦ Decree-Law no. 104/97 was changed and reissued as Decree-Law 
no. 141/2008.

•  Decree-Law no. 299-B/98 published on 29 September 1998, created 
Instituto Nacional do Transporte Ferroviário (INTF - National Railway 
Transport Institute) which regulates and inspects the rail sector, su-
pervises activities and intervenes in public service concessions. This 
Decree-Law was revoked by Decree-Law no. 147/2007, which creates 
IMTT – Instituto da Mobilidade e dos Transportes Terrestres (Mobility and 
Land Transport Institute).

•  Decree-Law no. 568/99 of December 23, which revises regulations 
applicable to level crossings, approved by Decree-Law no. 156/81, 
of June 9 and establishes the obligation to prepare multi-year plans 
to decommission level crossings. It was amended by Decree-Law no. 
24/2005 of 26 January.

•  For contracting purposes, REFER is subject to Decree-Law no. 223/01, 
in the specific case of works contracts, and everything not regulated 
therein is covered by Decree-Law no. 59/99.

•  Decree-Law no. 93/2000 of 23 May, establishes the conditions to be 
met in the national territory to obtain interoperability of the trans-
European high speed railway system (transposes Council Directive no. 
96/48/EC of 23 July 1996). It was altered by Decree-Law no. 152/2003 

Internal and External Rules and Regulations
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of 11 July, which rectifies omissions detected in the transposition of 
Council Directive no. 96/48/EC of 23 July, carried out by Decree-Law 
no. 93/2000 of 23 May.

•  Decree-Law no. 270/2003 of 28 October was published in October 
2003 and transposed Directives nos. 2001/12/EC, 2001/13/EC and 
2001/14/EC to national law, commonly referred to as the “1st Railway 
Package” to open the railway transport market to participation by 
private companies, thus guaranteeing a number of criteria regarding 
technical, financial and safety capacity (altered by Decree-Law no. 
146/2004 of 17 June). This Decree-Law was changed and reissued as 
Decree-Law no. 271/2007.

•  Decree-Law no. 276/2003 of 4 November, which establishes the new 
legal framework applicable to public railway domain assets, including 
rules on their utilisation, divestment and exchange as well as the rules 
applicable to relationships with adjacent owners and the population 
in general with those assets, for which legislative authorisation was 
given by Law no. 51/2003 of 22 August.

Consequent to what was stipulated in this legal statute, REFER pre-
pared and published, in this year, the first edition of the Network 
Directory which provides rail transport companies essential informa-
tion for their access to and utilisation of the national rail infrastructure 
managed by REFER and open to rail transport.

•  Decree-Law no. 24/2005 of 26 January alters the Level Crossing 
Regulations approved by Decree-Law no. 568/99 of 23 December.

•  In March 2005, INTF published Regulation no. 21/2005 covering the user 
fees applicable to services provided to operators by the infrastructure 
manager.

•  Decree-Law no. 156/2005 of 15 September establishes the obligation 
for all goods and service providers that are in contact with the general 
public to maintain a complaints book. 

•  As an issuer of securities, REFER must publish all the information stipu-
lated in the Securities Code and in the Portuguese Securities Exchange 
(CMVM) Rulings nos. 5/2008 and 11/2005, in reference to the applica-
tion of the IFRS.

•  Regulation no. 11/2005 defines the scope of the International 
Accounting Standards

•  Decree-Law no. 200/2006 created IMTT - Instituto da Mobilidade e dos 
Transportes Terrestres (Mobility and Land Transport Institute), merging 
various entities, including the INTF - Instituto Nacional do Transporte 
Ferroviário (National Railway Transport Institute). 

•  Council of Ministers Resolution no. 49/2007 defined the Good 
Governance principles for the State’s corporate sector companies. 



2009

159

•  Decree-Law no. 71/2007 of 27 March which defines the Public 
Management statute.

•  Decree-Law no. 300/2007 of 23 August amends the legal framework 
for the State corporate sector, introduced by Decree-Law no. 558/99.

•  Decree-Law no. 18/2008 of 29 January regulates the drafting and 
implementation of public contracts, thereby defining all consequent 
procedures from the moment the decision is made to contract an 
entity until the contract award and execution.

•  REFER’s statutes were altered through publication of Decree-Law 
no. 141/2008 of 22 July, which came into effect on 23 July 2008. This 
Decree-Law amends the statute which created Rede Ferroviária 
Nacional, REFER, E.P., and the respective Statutes, in order to adapt 
them to the new legal framework for the State’s corporate sector. 
Therefore, Rede Ferroviária Nacional, REFER, E.P., was transformed 
into a public corporate entity called Rede Ferroviária Nacional, REFER, 
E.P.E. 

•  Ruling no. 5/2008 of the Portuguese Securities Exchange defines the 
duties of information of those issuing securities.
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The following table illustrates the most relevant transactions by REFER with 
companies within its group during 2009:

Information on Relevant Transactions with 
Related Entities
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As of 30 July 2008, REFER, E.P.E. will be covered by the new Public 
Contracts Code (PCC) approved by Decree-Law no. 18/2008 of 29 
January. By regulating public contracting matters, the PCC transposes 
EU Directives nos. 2004/17 and 2004/18 (of the European Parliament and 
the Council, both of 31 March 2004), defining the rules that, until now, 
were dispersed among the following statutes:

•  Decree-Law no. 59/99 of 2 March (public works contracts);

•  Decree-Law no. 197/99 of 8 June (acquisitions of goods and services);

•  Decree-Law no. 223/2001 of 9 August (works contracts and acquisi-
tions within special sectors);

•  Various other statutes and articles regarding public contracting.

In 2007, REFER implemented internal contracting procedures – centralised 
in the Contracting, Procurement and Logistics Department – applicable 
to all contractual procedures for works or service provision contracts 
to be carried out through a contractual process or direct agreement, 
whose estimated value is equal to or greater than EUR 250,000. 

Information about Other Transactions  
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The following table lists the suppliers whose invoices were greater than 
EUR 1 million, which represent 88% of total invoicing:

NB: Values include VAT

Contracts signed in 2009 whose value exceeded EUR 250,000 are shown 
in the annexes.
They are as follows:

Anexos:
Annex I – Contracts that were not signed through a public tender 
(Direct Award)
Annex II – Works contracts whose value exceeded EUR 250,000
Annex III – Acquisition of Goods whose value exceeded EUR 250,000
Annex IV – Acquisition of Services whose value exceeded EUR 250,000
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Regarding company ethics, the Ethics Committee conducted its activity 
of monitoring the implementation of REFER’s Ethics and Conduct Code 
and publishing its content. In the latter aspect, members of the Ethics 
Committee held meetings with company elements and took part in 
integration internships. An area dedicated to ethics was created in the 
internal portal where the Committee publishes best practice in this field.
The committee focussed essentially on disclosure measures and aware-
ness raising actions which placed the many day-to-day work activities 
within a framework of principles and values fundamental for REFER and 
compliant with the conduct regulations in force.
The Ethics Committee also continued to monitor specific requests sub-
mitted to it, many of which were clarification requests for the code's 
practical application, which signifies that personnel use it as another 
work tool, thus having accepted its principles and standards of conduct.
All these factors help increase the culture of responsibility and integrity 
characteristic of REFER’s actions, based on the ethical principles of rigour, 
transparency, honesty and impartiality in fulfilling the company’s mis-
sion of providing the market with a competitive transport infrastructure 
whilst managing and developing an efficient, safe and environmentally 
friendly railway network. 
The Ethics and Conduct Code may be consulted at www.refer.pt.
Any person or entity may contact the Ethics Committee by e-mail at 
comissao.etica@refer.pt.

Ethics and Conduct Code 
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The Corruption Prevention Board’s Recommendation of 1 July 2009 requi-
red public entities to draft a risk management plan for corruption and asso-
ciated crimes, as well as an annual report on implementation of the plan.
Value creation involves risk, and as best practice recommends, mana-
gement risks must be a responsibility for senior manager level (i.e. those 
responsible for operational and corporate departments) and residual risk 
must be accepted at executive manager level (Board of Directors).
Under these terms, REFER drafted the plan, with a broad scope, describing 
the risk control management system implemented by the company and 
not only the risk management system for corruption and associated crimes.
Any situations which could jeopardise the following were considered risk 
events: the pursuit of the organisation’s strategic objectives; the econo-
mical and efficient usage of available resources; the safeguarding of the 
institution’s assets; compliance with the law and procedures in place and 
the confidence in and integrity of the information available. 
For each risk event identified, its probability of occurrence, potential 
effects and the relevant manager responsible for its control and manage-
ment were assessed, thereby allowing analysis of the need to implement or 
improve risk management prevention and mitigation measures. 

In 2010, the Risk Management Supervisory Committee was created, an 
independent body directly reporting to the Board of Directors, with the 
following remit: to identify and describe situations of poor conduct which 
are liable to occur; to evaluate the risk management processes introdu-
ced in partnership with those responsible for the institution’s operational 
and corporate departments; to issue strategic guidelines regarding the 
company’s risk management process in accordance with the residual risk 
acceptance set out by the executive directors; to supervise and verify the 
effective and efficient operation of the risk management processes and to 
draft the risk management prevention plan annual report, in compliance 
with that set out in the Corruption Prevention Board’s recommendation. 

Risk Management System
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Council of Ministers Resolution no. 49/2007 of 28 March approved the 
Good Governance principles for the State's corporate sector companies. 
In order to clarify the 2009 Annual Report’s compliance with that introdu-
ced by the Council of Ministers Resolution, the following table was drafted, 
describing each of the principles, to make them understood more easily: 

Evaluation of the Level of Compliance with 
the Good Governance Principles
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Annex I – Contracts that were not signed through a public tender (Direct Award)
(Annex referred to in the Corporate Governance chapter, Information on Other Transactions)

Annexes



2009

169



170
2009



2009

171

Annex II – Works contracts whose value exceeded EUR 250,000 
(Annex referred to in the Corporate Governance chapter, Information on Other Transactions)
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Annex III – Acquisition of Goods whose value exceeded EUR 250,000 
(Annex referred to in the Corporate Governance chapter, Information on Other Transactions)
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4
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT The Report 

REFER, E.P.E. hereby presents its sixth Sustainability Report, for the first time 
including it as an integral part of the Annual Report. As in previous re-
ports, REFER will disclose its economic, social and environmental perfor-
mance in 2009 within the context of the company’s commitments, stra-
tegy and management approach.

The principles followed in drawing up this Sustainability Report were es-
sentially transparency, relevance and comprehensiveness, in order to 
provide easy and objective reading for the stakeholders. 
This document discloses the Sustainability Report to the ministerial de-
partment and is the basis for evaluating REFER's sustainable performance 
in the future. The intention is to transparently describe the sustainability of 
the organisation’s activities, providing relevant information for the diffe-
rent stakeholders such as the Clients, the Shareholder and the Personnel, 
among others. The company thus discloses its principles, practices, pro-
grammes and initiatives to improve its performance in regard to econo-
mic, environmental and social impacts caused by its activities in 2009.

In accordance with Dispatch no. 26 811/2004, published in DR, Series II, of 
24 December 2004, companies supervised by the transport sector must 
include a separate document in their annual reports portraying the so-
cial and environmental aspects of their activities.
The submitted report format was approved by the Environmental Audit 
performed by the Ministry of Public Works, Transport and Communications 
through notice number 51-03/03/2006.

GRI Structure

This report complies with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) guidelines 
for preparing sustainability reports through an “Informal Approach,” 
whereby reports are based on the GRI guidelines without meeting all 
their content. This option is a more suitable approach for the current si-
tuation of our organisation and ensures that it will progressively evolve 
toward the “Formal Application” of the GRI Directives.
Organisations participate in the GRI on a voluntary basis as a means 
of informing their various stakeholders about the social, economic and 
environmental aspects of their activities. Until now, about 1000 organisa-
tions in distinct fields (chemicals, pharmaceutics, telecommunications, 
transport, energy, public authorities, among others), some of which ope-
rate in Portugal, have published reports in line with the GRI guidelines.

Justifying the Indicators 

REFER’s activities give rise to a number of impacts on the economic, en-
vironmental and social systems in which it operates. Knowing those im-
pacts is essential for evaluating a particular company’s performance in 
three sustainability areas: economic, social and environmental. 
As such, the range of selected indicators reveals the relationship be-
tween the manager of the Portuguese rail infrastructure and the various 
stakeholders (entities coexisting within its corporate environment).
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Main Sustainability Indicators

Economic Perspective

Social Perspective
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Environmental Perspective
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In line with REFER’s Social Responsibility Policy, in 2009 the document 
entitled “Bases for a social responsibility policy” was drawn up, which 
comprises a benchmark for the company’s actions.
REFER understands Sustainable Responsibility as voluntary integration 
of social, environmental and economic concerns by companies in their 
activities and their interaction with the stakeholders.

Taking into account the two essential facets of the company’s activity 
– the internal and the external – one can say that the former includes 
topics such as management of human resources, health and safety in 
the workplace, adaptation to change and management of the environ-
mental impact and the natural resources of the business. 
As for the second facet, the concern focuses above all on the local com-
munities, business partners, suppliers and clients, and the environmental 
issues are viewed from a global perspective.

External Facet

In 2009 REFER undertook several initiatives to promote economic, social 
and environmental sustainability, of which the following are highlighted:

•  Continuation of the development of the National Ecotrails Plan, to:

◦◦ preserve decommissioned railway trails;

◦◦ contribute to a future network of 750 km of “green trails”, “pedes-
trian paths”, etc.;

◦◦ fight against the desertification of some regions;

◦◦ contribute to a new ecological tourist service.

•  Campaigns to raise awareness at Level Crossings

•  REFER joined the 2008 Quercus Forest Programme in 2009

•  REFER volunteers helped to plant the Native Forest in Afonsim and 
Pampilhosa

•  Initiative to raise awareness about safety in crossing railway lines at 
Leal da Câmara Secondary School in Rio de Mouro

•  Participation in the Quercus “Earth Condominium” initiative, which 
encourages the conservation of the common good.

•  Marking of the “European Level Crossings Awareness Day”, aimed 
at raising awareness in society about the need to respect signalling 
and strict compliance with the safety rules at level crossings.

•  Collaboration in the Banco Alimentar food collection for the needy 
initiative in supermarkets

Main Sustainability Actions in 2009
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•  Charity action for the Casa Betânia, an initiative which has the over-
riding aim of collecting food, hygiene products and vouchers

•  Blood donor sessions

Internal Facet

In 2009 REFER carried out various actions to promote social sustainability 
for its personnel. Within this framework, REFER personnel have access to 
the following social benefits:

•  Health insurance

•  Seasonal vaccination

•  Creation of the “Send Ideas” Programme to stimulate, facilitate and 
recognise the participation of the company’s personnel by imple-
menting their ideas to improve the company

•  Organisation of cultural events, namely the book fair

•  Promotion of the “New Opportunities – (Recognition, Validation and 
Certification of Skills)” initiative

•   REFER support for education:

◦◦ Scholarships

◦◦ Pre-school subsidy

◦◦ REFER holiday camps

•  Discounts for CP train fares

•  Possibility to join the GALP card fuel discounts programme

•  Other partnerships and discounts

◦◦ Restaurants and Hotels

◦◦ Clinics, Doctors and Pharmacy

◦◦ Bank products 

◦◦ Culture and Sport 

◦◦ Consumption goods

◦◦ IT equipment

•  REFER also has a railway club
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The search for a more sustainable company development model has 
been a major concern during recent decades in view of the opportuni-
ties, but also the threats, which affect the social setting, the structure of 
economic activities and the environmental balance.

The concept of Sustainable Development is normally defined as “meeting 
the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future gen-
erations to meet their own needs, which means allowing persons, now 
and in the future, to reach a satisfactory level of social and economic 
development and a human and cultural fulfilment, whilst making a 
reasonable use of earth’s resources and preserving species and natural 
habitats.”

 Sustainable Development is based on three essential pillars:

Sustainable Development can only be achieved if these three pillars 
evolve harmoniously.
 

Strategic Vision and Mission

The REFER mission is to “manage the national rail network in terms of its 
construction, conservation, asset preservation and capacity manage-
ment.” Aware that a corporate unit’s sustainability is evaluated by its 
capacity to overcome future challenges through balanced actions in 
three areas that are not always easily reconciled (Economy, Society and 
the Environment) and aware of its role as a public service provider, REFER 
has defined the following strategic goals:

•  Improve accessibility and mobility in order to increase the share of 
the transport market that opts for rail transport;

•  Guarantee suitable safety standards, interoperability and environ-
mental sustainability;

•  Evolve to a sustainable financing model and enhance efficiency;

•  Encourage research, development and innovation.

A Vision of Sustainable Development
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REFER’s mission involves the following company goals and policies:

•  Improve the network’s service levels;

•  Improve and modernise the network’s infrastructure;

•  Improve the services rendered to the end clients;

•  Guarantee high safety levels;

•  Encourage environmental sustainability;

•  Ensure economic-financial sustainability;

•  Reduce the costs of services rendered;

•  Increase the contribution from businesses outside the operation;

•  Increase the organisation’s productivity levels;

•  Optimise the management and control of the investments / 
contracts;

•  Encourage the unification of processes and standardisation of the 
network infrastructures;

•  Strengthen the technical and management skills;

•  Encourage professional development;
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Council of Ministers Resolution 109/2007, of August 20, approved the 
National Strategy for Sustainable Development – ENDS 2015, which sets the 
target, among others, of increasing the rail transport market share to 26% in 
2009, taking into account the implementation of a high-speed rail network.
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EU Directive 440/91 and the Base Law of the Land Transport System 
stipulate guidelines for the indispensable and urgent restructuring of the 
national railway system, particularly by highlighting the need to sepa-
rate railway infrastructure management from transport production. The 
government defined the general guidelines for this reorganisation ac-
cording to a model based on three entities:

1.	 Rail sector regulatory entity, whose main goal is to regulate activities 
between rail operators and the infrastructure manager, whilst foste-
ring safety, quality and environmental protection, thus making it a 
central State administration body;

2.	 Infrastructure management entity charged with guaranteeing the 
installation, development and maintenance of railway infrastruc-
tures, as well as “managing the circulation command and control 
systems”, for which Decree-Law no. 104/97 of 29 April has already 
been published and which created REFER;

3.	 Transport Operator – CP is responsible for providing passenger and 
freight services and must reorganise its structure in order to become 
a market-oriented company with a client culture. 

The process to create Rede Ferroviária Nacional – REFER, E.P.E. was com-
pleted in 1999, the year in which the company began performing all the 
functions it had been assigned.

Company Presentation
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History

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

REFER was founded through the integration of the investment activities of 

former Lisbon and Porto railway hubs, of 25 de Abril Bridge and of CP itself.

REFER was assigned the conservation and maintenance activities that had 

been performed by CP until that time.

REFER was assigned all circulation control and management, including 

all other activities related with the management and operation of the 

National Railway Network.

The railway line along 25 de Abril Bridge and the North – South Railway Axis 

were officially inaugurated on 29 July 1999. These facilities were essential 

for linking the Tagus river’s south margin to Lisbon, and were later assigned 

to a private operator.

Work began to design a quality management system (QMS) in compliance 

with standard NP EN ISO 9001:2000, to be implemented at REFER.

Start of studies covering the use of disabled railway assets.

Signing of the first protocol to build an Ecotrail based on the former 

Monção Branch Line.

“Living Stations,” start-up of the first project stage covering thirteen cities. 

This project aimed to re-qualify the railway and its surroundings by once 

again assigning it the role of a major catalyst for social, cultural and 

economic development in the communities which it serves.

The first Network Directory was issued, establishing access and utilisation 

conditions for the national railway 2002 infrastructure to meet the 

expected provisions of DL-270/2003 of 28 October.

The company obtained the Quality Certificate for the Lisbon ZOC, 

according to Standard NP EN ISO 9001:2000, issued by APCER (Portuguese 

Certification Association). The CP/REFER agreement was signed, which 

covered the railway infrastructures User Fee (UF) for the 1999-2002 period. 

The Environment and Safety Departments were created. The 2004 Network 

Directory was published, which was prepared according to the provisions 

of DL-270/2003 of October 28.

Inaugural trip for the Braga/Faro direct link on 30 May 2004. The work to 

build this link aimed to give this essential network section (Atlantic Axis) 

a competitive edge over other means of transport. Signing of a protocol 

with UMIC (Innovation and Knowledge Mission Unit ), within the scope of 

initiatives for promoting the information society.

In June 2005, the Quality Certificate was issued to the Porto Conservation 

Operation Zone, according to standard NP EN ISO 9001:2000 and issued by 

APCER (Portuguese Certification Association). 

Electrification of the Beira – Baixa Line (Mouriscas A – Castelo Branco).

In 2006, Portugal celebrated its 150th year of railway operation, a 

milestone in our country’s history when the. inaugural train trip was made 

from Lisbon - Santa Apolónia Station to Carregado.
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Organisational Chart for the REFER Business

2007

2008

2009

REFER commemorated its 10th year on 29 April 2007. The work to renovate 

the Rossio Station building was completed. The Santa Apolónia station was 

adapted for the new underground station.

In 2008, the highlight was the reopening of the totally renovated Rossio 

Tunnel and Station. Completion of the works contracts for the Railway 

Link to the National Ironworks, 1st stage of the Alcácer Alternative Route, 

Multimodal Terminal of Cacia and Electrification and Signalling of the 

Barreiro – Pinhal Novo Section. Operation start-up of the Porto Operation 

Command Centre on April 22.

The year 2009 was marked by the opening of the Cacia Multimodal 

Platform and the Cais do Sodré Transport Interface. Reopening of the 

Vendas Novas passenger railway service.

Completion of the painting of Maria Pia Bridge, in Porto.
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Legal Framework

The Base Law for the Land Transport System, Law 10/90 of 17 March, sta-
tes that the terrestrial transport system includes the infrastructures and 
production means allocated to land transport of passengers and freight 
within the Portuguese territory or when the trip ends or has part of its rou-
te within the said territory and is governed by this law, its development 
decree-laws and regulations. 
Decree-Law 104/97, which created REFER, E.P., was published on 29 April 
1997.
REFER is a company whose statutory capital is 100% held by the State and 
is supervised jointly by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Public 
Works.
It carries out its assigned activities according to the principles of moder-
nisation and effectiveness in order to ensure a regular and continuous 
public service of managing the national rail network infrastructure.
It is therefore established that REFER:

•  may carry out all necessary or convenient management acts to fulfil 
its objectives;

•  maintains the rights and accepts the responsibilities assigned to the 
State by the applicable legal provisions and regulations covering 
the Public Railway Domain.
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Decree-Law no. 299-B/98, published on 29 September 1998, created the 
National Railway Transport Institute (INTF) which regulates and inspects 
the rail sector, supervises the activities carried out and intervenes in 
public service concessions. The Decree-Law was revoked by Decree-Law 
no. 147/2007.
In September of the same year, through Joint Order 731/98, the conces-
sion for the rail passenger transport service on the North-South Axis was 
granted to FERTAGUS, the first private operator.
Decree-Law no. 93/2000 was published in May 2000, which establishes 
the conditions to be met in the national territory to obtain interoperability 
of the trans-European high speed railway system (transposes Council 
Directive 96/48/EC, of 23 July 1996). It was altered by Decree-Law no. 
152/2003, of 11 July, which rectifies omissions detected in the transposi-
tion of Council Directive 96/48/EC, of 23 July.
In October 2003, Decree-Law no. 270/2003, of 28 October, was pub-
lished, which transposes Directives 2001/12/EC, 2001/13/EC and 2001/14/
EC, commonly called the “1st Railway Package,” into national law. These 
new laws opened the rail transport market to private business entities 
whilst guaranteeing a number of criteria regarding technical and fi-
nancial capacity and safety issues. This Decree-Law was changed and 
republished through Decree-Law no. 271/2007.
Decree-Law no. 276/2003, of 4 November, establishes the new legal 
policy applicable to public railway domain assets, including rules on 
their respective utilisation, disfranchising, exchange and the rules appli-
cable to relations between bordering proprietors and the population in 
general with those assets, legislative authorisation given by Law 51/2003, 
of 22 August.
Consequent to the said law’s provisions, in this year REFER prepared and 
published the first edition of its Network Directory. This directory provides 
rail transport companies with the essential information they need to ac-
cess and use the national railway infrastructure managed by REFER and 
available for rail transport.
In March 2005, INTF published its Regulations 21/2005 covering the 
general tariff schedule for services rendered to operators by the infra-
structure manager.

The 2006 Network Directory, published in September 2005, was the first 
directory to be prepared according to the rules stipulated in Regulation 
no. 21/2005. After its publication, the operators filed appeals that forced 
REFER to present the properly compiled processes to the Regulatory 
Entity and to provide, in 2006, a variety of further information comple-
mentary to the submitted information it used to justify the tariff rates, so 
that INTF could reach a decision. 
The 1st Addendum to the 2006 Directory was published based on that 
decision.
Decree-Law no. 200/2006 created the IMTT - Instituto da Mobilidade e 
dos Transportes Terrestres (Institute of Mobility and Land Transport) by 
merging various entities, including the former INTF – Instituto Nacional do 
Transporte Ferroviário (National Institute for Rail Transport).
Council of Ministers Resolution no. 47/2007 defines the principles of Good 
Governance for companies in the State’s corporate sector.
On 22 July 2008, Decree-Law no. 141/2008 decreed an amendment to 
REFER's statutes, which took effect on 23 July of that year. This Decree-Law 
alters the statute that created the National Rail network, REFER, E.P., and 
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the respective statutes, in order to adapt them to the new legal system of 
the State's corporate sector. Therefore, Rede Ferroviária Nacional, REFER, 
E.P., was transformed into a public corporate entity now called Rede 
Ferroviária Nacional, REFER, E. P. E.

Business Areas

REFER renders a public service by managing the overall national rail ne-
twork infrastructure and is therefore responsible for carrying out activities 
to meet its goals according to the principles of modernisation and effec-
tiveness by operating essentially in two business areas:

•  Infrastructure Management encompasses management of the 
railway infrastructure’s capacity, conservation and maintenance 
and also management of the respective circulation command and 
control systems, including signalling, regulation and punctuality in 
order to ensure the indispensable safety and quality conditions of a 
public rail transport system.

•  Investment consists of building, installation and renewal of the infra-
structure, an activity carried out on behalf of the State (the assets 
are part of the public railway domain).

REFER thus plays a key role in the railway sector’s value chain. It must 
ensure the rail network’s availability, capacity, reliable operating 
conditions, quality and safety whilst also fulfilling the State’s network 
modernisation objectives.
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Infrastructure Management and Operation

In December 2009, the national rail network covered 3619 km of track, of 
which 2843 km are currently open to train traffic. This length includes 4 
km which are run by the Mirandela Metro. The network is predominantly 
broad track (Iberian gauge), with only 192 km in narrow track (metric 
gauge).
 
Because of the network modernisation, REFER has commissioned a 
significant number of new facilities and renovated and technologically 
converted many others in recent years to make railway operation safer, 
more reliable, more flexible and better suited to demands and to provide 
more mobility among the various means of transport.

In 2009 the national rail network could be broken down as follows:

The total length of Portugal’s rail network that was electrified as of 
December 2009 was 1460 km. Out of this length, 854 km is in single track 
and 607 km in double track. In the year under analysis the electrification 
percentage of the rail network was unchanged. However, since 1998 
REFER has electrified 587 km of the rail network, and currently around 
51% of the entire rail network is electrified.

The first line of the network to use electrical traction was the Cascais Line, 
where a direct current of 1500 Volts was fitted and inaugurated in 1926. 
Only in 1956 did new electrification services start, with the implemen-
tation of an alternating current of 25,000 Volts. Electrification at 25,000 
Volts, in the first 39 years, was implemented along 462 km of track. This 
length has been surpassed by the new services that have been put into 
place in recent years, illustrating the investment made in this area. In 
2009 no significant changes occurred in this area, with 1460 km of track 
electrified (the same figure as in 2008), but plans are in place to increase 
the length of track electrified in 2010. Out of these 1460 km of electrified 
track, 854 km is single broad track, 563 km in double broad track and the 
remaining 43 km in multiple broad track.
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As for installed railway track safety systems, at the end of 2009 sophis-
ticated Speed Control, Convel and ATS systems had been installed in 
52.3% of the national rail network. The Convel System (a system shared 
between the operators and REFER) ensures extremely high circulation 
safety levels by guaranteeing compliance with signalling and with 
authorised train circulation speeds. This system assists the train driver’s 
tasks by warning him/her about circulation conditions and by activating 
the braking system (forcing the train to stop) whenever any safety re-
quirement is not met. This system is installed in 1459 km of track length, 
which is 51% of the total network in operation. The Ground-Train Radio 
is another safety system that is now operative in 51% of the track length. 
The Ground-Train Radio (system shared by the operators and REFER) is 
used for voice and data communications between train drivers of the 
operators and REFER personnel in charge of traffic control. As such, com-
munications may be performed between the Command Post and the 
train driver, the stations and the train drivers and also between the train 
drivers of two trains. In 2009 this safety system was installed in 31 km of the 
rail network, in the Neves Corvo Branch. The railway branch connects 
Ourique to the Neves Corvo mine, in the council of Castro Verde and is 
only used by freight trains for transporting material from the mine.

These systems (Convel and Ground-Train Radio), in tandem with the high 
performance and reliability levels of the rail network, mean that most of 
the operating network is at the very highest level in terms of rail safety.

The block signalling system is an operating system that controls the cir-
culation of trains by ensuring that there is just one train in each block at 
any given moment in time. A block is a stretch of line where, in normal 
operation conditions, only one train may circulate at a time.
There are three kinds of block signalling systems in the Portuguese rail 
network: electrical block signalling (automatic block signalling without 
manually controllable block), electronic block signalling (automatic 
block signalling with manually controllable block) and mechanical 
block signalling (telephone block signalling). 
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The electrical block signalling (automatic block signalling without manu-
ally controllable block) covers 4% of the national network. This system, 
which operates automatically through the movement of the trains them-
selves in order to protect successive trains travelling in the same direction 
and on the same track, maintains the correct safety distance between 
them. The electronic block signalling (automatic block signalling with 
manually controllable block) comprises automatic electronic block 
signalling with an incorporated manually controllable block, which 
associates two blocks to one section of track between two adjacent 
stations, making them incompatible; one for one circulation direction 
and another for the opposite direction. The basic functions of this system 
are as follows: to prevent trains travelling in the same section of track 
between adjacent stations; to guarantee automatic spacing of the 
trains on the track, for a given circulation direction; to guarantee the 
automatic signal to the LC in the direction the block is pointing to. This 
system is in place in 48% of the network. 
The mechanical block signalling system (telephone), is carried out 
through (advanced) telephone messages between the supervising sta-
tion and its collateral stations that affect the circulation. Authorisation is 
requested for occupation of a single block in a given direction between 
the aforementioned stations, and is implemented on 48% of the national 
network. 

In 2009 there was a decrease in the average TK run by the operators of 
3.3%. There was a superficial rise of 4% in the empty runs, and a slight 
decrease of 0.29% in passenger transport. Freight transport fell 17%. 

In 2009 there were two passenger operators, CP and FERTAGUS, running 
services on the national rail network. FERTAGUS ran the concession for 
suburban passenger services on the North-South axis, between the sta-
tions of Roma - Areeiro and Setúbal. There was a slight fall in the TK run 
for passenger transport by these two operators in comparison to 2008. 

In the wake of the liberalisation of the freight transport, in 2008 two new 
operators appeared – TAKARGO and COMSA RAIL. The former began to 
operate in 2008 and the latter only in 2009, although they used very little 
capacity.

In the year under analysis, TAKARGO recorded an increase of 672%, 
going from the 37,000 TK registered in 2008 to 284,000 TK in 2009. In 2009 
TAKARGO dominated paper paste traffic between Alverca and Espartal, 
container traffic between Alverca and Madrid and container traffic be-
tween Entroncamento and Constanti.
In 2009 the operator COMSA used little capacity, given that the interna-
tional traffic is being undertaken in partnership with TAKARGO. However, 
it requested capacity to be reserved for technical tests of its trains and 
attribution of routes for the training of train drivers, through FERNAVE. In 
its first functioning year it used 15,000 TK.
The transport of freight by the CP group fell by 20% in 2009. 
Efforts followed on from the previous year regarding attracting and de-
veloping the rail transport business, aimed at optimising the utilisation 
of the capacity available and maximising the corresponding revenue. 
Especially noteworthy was the work carried out to contract out access to 
the railway infrastructure, in all its variants. There are currently 5 operators 
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(CP, CP Carga, FERTAGUS, TAKARGO and Comsa), and the Performance 
Improvement Regime is being developed, which is in an experimental 
period in the 1st half of 2010.
In relation to 2009 the following events are worthy of mention:

•  Start-up of first interoperable trains (from TAKARGO/Comsa) in Iberia, 
in a combined REFER/ADIF effort. 

•  “Iberian Link” international service achieved, through the CP 
Carga/Renfe consortium, between Entroncamento and Madrid 
(Abronigal).

•  Establishment of new Coruche – Setil connection, with link to the 
Tomar – Lisbon regional service.

•  Extension of the Entroncamento – Elvas to Badajoz regional service.

•  Establishment of the new inter-regional passenger link between 
Caldas da Rainha and Figueira da Foz.

•  Empty runs as part of training by the operator Comsa, with a view to 
future operation in Portugal.

•  Establishment of new passenger urban service between Ermesinde 
and Leça do Balio.

•  After the setting up of CP Carga as an autonomous Operator, the 
contacts between this company and REFER are made directly 
without having to go through CP.

In 2009 CP, as in previous years, is the main operator in terms of TKs, 
accounting for 94.8% of total TKs, while FERTAGUS ran 4.44%, TAKARGO 
0.71% and Comsa, in its first year of functioning as a rail freight transport 
operator, 0.04%.

The distribution of rail traffic on the various lines of the network is very 
heterogeneous, with 75% of the total traffic on the main network, 19% on 
the complementary network and 6% on the secondary network.
 
The Main Rail network includes axes with the greatest demand and main 
accesses to the logistics platforms, ports, airports and frontiers. 
The Complementary Rail network is used essentially to complete the 
network and for links to the main network, covering territories of sec-
ondary demand and in combination with territories adjacent to the 
main network’s corridors. When high speed trains begin to operate, the 
complementary network will be used essentially for distribution purposes 
within the territory, functioning as a means of providing a link to towns 
not serviced directly by the main network. 
The Secondary rail network is essentially associated with transport 
services that have low demand, adapted to the characteristics of the 
respective area: population density, mobility and installed activities.
There was a considerable improvement in the average punctuality rate in 
2009, in most categories of trains apart from the inter-regional category, 
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which fell 3%. In 2008, the punctuality rate for reasons imputed to REFER 
had decreased in most categories of trains, mainly because of the poor 
state of repair of the track, especially in the sections of the Northern Line 
between the stations of Vale de Santarém – Entroncamento, Alfarelos 
– Pampilhosa and Ovar - Gaia, which required extensive rehabilitation 
work. This work took place in 2009.

REFER aims to provide operators with a highly safe, reliable and flexible 
infrastructure by modernising the network. For this purpose, it has com-
missioned a substantial number of new facilities, many of which did not 
exist previously, and facilities that replaced very rudimentary systems 
by introducing new technology. Accordingly, in recent years REFER has 
made large investments to expand and modernise the rail network.

Infrastructure management costs include two large and dominant items, 
“External suppliers and services,” especially “Subcontracts,” and the 
“Personnel expenses” item. 
In the “External supplies and services” item, the “Subcontracts” category 
has contributed the most to the respective amount, corresponding to 72% 
of the total. The contribution of this item did not change in relation to 
2008. External supplies and services increased 15%. 

Personnel expenses were 6% up on the previous year, despite a 2% reduc-
tion in the workforce. 
This rise in Personnel expenses is in part explained by increased wages 
and respective charges, but also due to redundancy agreements: EUR 
3.9 million in 2009, compared to EUR 1.5 million last year. 
The average number of personnel assigned to Infrastructure Management 
in 2009 was 2916, which was 1.6% down on the 2008 figure.
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Investment

Investment in construction, installation and renewal of the rail infrastruc-
ture is carried out by REFER in the name of and at the expense of the 
State.
REFER’s investment in 2009 amounted to EUR 365 million, which was a 
56% realisation rate (EUR 654 million). Of this amount, EUR 360 million was 
assigned to investment in long duration infrastructures (99% of the total 
investment) and EUR 4 million was spent on investment in management 
support structures (1% of the total investment).
Among REFER’s actions with regard to the national rail network, key in-
vestments were the Aveiro Port Rail Link, the Sines Port – Spain Rail Link, 
the Alcácer Alternative Route and the Trofa Alternative Route. 

During 2009, to modernise and develop the National Rail network, REFER 
carried out various investment activities, of which the following are 
highlighted:

•  Minho Line
Commissioning of the improvements and reinforcements of the S. Miguel 
da Carreira, Tamel, Santa Lucrécia and Caminha tunnels. Adjudication 
of the contract to plant cork trees and management plan of the areas 
classified as residential, of the Trofa Alternative Route project. Work has 
begun on the contract for the design / construction of the railway tunnel 
of the Trofa Alternative Route.

•  Guimarães Line
Development of the project to modify the layout of the drainage 
system in PI5 of the Guimarães Line, at the access to Lordelo station. 
Commissioning, undertaking and inspection of the Contract to modify 
the layout of the drainage system in PI5 of the Guimarães Line, at the 
access to Lordelo Station. 

•  Northern Line
Completion of the Electrical Installation works and Return of the Traction 
Current in the 1.2 Alhandra / Setil subsection. Completion of the pe-
destrian overpass construction contract at Vila Franca de Xira station. 
Tender launched and contract awarded for initial drainage work in 
the area surrounding the Fátima tunnel, aimed at preventing possible 
flooding of the railway at times of intense rainfall, guaranteeing the 
safety of the train circulation. Rehabilitation of the tracks of Coimbra B 
Station. Construction of the Alfarelos station technical building.
Elimination of several level crossings on the Northern Line.

•  Aveiro Port Rail Link
Continuation of the services rendered for the Coordination and Safety 
Inspection of the Aveiro Port Rail link, awarded to DHV, SA, which is fore-
cast to be completed at the end of February 2010. Completion of the 
contract for the construction of the Rail Link between Km 0+000 and the 
access overpass to Gafanha Bridge (inclusive). Completion of the con-
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tract for construction of the Aveiro Port Rail Link, 2nd Phase. Completion 
of the contract to modify the layout of the gas network at km 7+523 of 
the Aveiro Port Rail Link, at Gafanha da Nazaré. Completion of service 
provision for control of the railway platform during ground levelling, in 
the Aveiro Port Rail Link. Completion of the contract for Construction 
of the Aveiro Port Rail Link, 3rd Phase, which involved assembling the 
railway track. Completion of service provision for the Removal of urban 
waste next to the PS3 road overpass of the Aveiro Port Rail Link. 

•  Mondego Mobility System
The contracts were awarded for the Refurbishment of the Infrastructures 
on the Miranda do Corvo / Serpins and Alto S. João/Miranda do Corvo 
sections and inspection service provision of the Coimbra B / Serpins 
enterprise. On 25 November 2009 the Contract was awarded for the 
refurbishment of the Infrastructures of the Miranda do Corvo / Serpins 
section, and on 2 December 2009 the railway service along this section 
was closed.

•  Beira Baixa Line
Completion of the contract for reinforcement of the Castelo Branco sta-
tion road underpass, Phase 1. Completion of the contract to construct 
the pedestrian underpass to replace the level crossing at Km 91+640.

•  Cascais Line
Completion of archaeological study of the zone around S. Pedro do 
Estoril station and execution project for its remodelling, and comple-
tion of the procedures to hire the contractor and inspection entity. 
Completion of the remodelling project and start of the procedures to 
hire the contractor, the inspection entity and the transplant of trees at S. 
João do Estoril station, which do not fit into the future layout in their cur-
rent position. Adjudication of the entire project to modernise the Cascais 
Line in the specialities of the Track, Power Lines, Drainage, Support Walls, 
Landscaping and Environment.

•  Sintra Line
Work continued throughout 2009 on the Contract to quadruple the 
Sintra Line between Km 13+750 and 18+250, including the remodelling 
of Barcarena and Cacém stations. Upon completion of this contract, 
forecast for August 2011, the quadruplication of the Sintra Line between 
Benfica and Cacém will be finished, and the stations along that section 
will be completely remodelled - Massamá/Barcarena and Agualva/
Cacém. In January 2009 the last pedestrian crossings along this section, 
which were between the bays of the Agualva and Cacém Stations, were 
eliminated. There are now no level crossings, either pedestrian or road, 
on the Sintra Line.
 

•  Alentejo Line
Opening to the public in September 2009 of stations at Apeadeiros do 
Barreiro, Barreiro A, Lavradio, Baixa da Banheira, Alhos Vedros, Moita 



196
2009

and Penteado. At Baixa da Banheira a pedestrian underpass was also 
completed at Km 3+850.

•  Alcácer Alternative Route
Completion of the alternative route between Pinheiro station and Km 94 
of the Southern Line – 1st Phase – Complementary Work. Completion of 
subcontract work for the Alternative Route between Pinheiro Station and 
Km 94 of the Southern Line – 1st Phase – Lowering of the PIA Surface to PK 
6+463 and Drainage on the PIA to PK 1+114, 15+671, 22+842 and 23+889. 
Completion of the contract for the Alcácer alternative route (2nd Phase): 
Rail crossing of the River Sado – bridge and respective raised access 
roads.

•  Sines Port / Elvas Rail Link
Completion of the prior study and environmental impact study of the 
Sines / Grândola section. Completion of the service provision for the 
reworking of the Évora station modernisation project. Commissioning of 
the modernisation contract of Raquete station. Elimination of the level 
crossing at PK 170+110, on 18 November 2009. Commissioning of the 
contract to modernise the Bombel and Vidigal to Évora section of the 
Alentejo Line, Vendas Novas and Évora.

In line with the Level Crossing Elimination and Reclassification Plan for 
2009, and under the terms of article 2 of Decree-Law no. 568/99 of 23 
December, which REFER and external entities, namely Local Councils, 
are subject to, 48 actions were carried out. This included the elimination 
of 41 level crossings and 7 reclassifications, whereby 42 (88%) of these 
actions were carried out by REFER and the others in partnership with the 
external entities.

The total investment for these actions was around EUR 18.6 million, of 
which EUR 17.6 million was paid by REFER, as itemised in the table below.

In December 2009, out of all the railway lines in operation, there were 
1191 Level Crossings, broken down as follows:  
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The average density of Level Crossings at the end of 2009 was 0.419 LC/
km.

The following graph shows the downward trend in the number of Level 
Crossings and the actions carried out in recent years:
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The above graph can be explained by the ongoing policy of elimination 
and improvement of safety at Level Crossings, which has contributed 
to the sustained reduction in accidents. However, persons hit at level 
crossings still account for the highest number of mortal accident victims, 
making the awareness campaigns in schools and in the media an in-
creasingly important initiative. 

As a result of the work in this area, the goals set in 2005 in the Major 
Options of the 2005/2009 Plan, which defined a reduction in accidents 
at level crossings of 50% in comparison to 2004, have been surpassed. 
In 2009 a total of 49 accidents were registered, when the target was less 
than 51 accidents. 
The following graph shows that the initiatives carried out have led to a 
downward trend in accidents that is also on course to achieve the goals 
defined in the Strategic Guidelines for the Railway Sector, which set a 
target of a 60% reduction in the accident rate by 2015 in comparison to 
2005.
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Company Size 

After two years in which the number of employees leaving the company 
slowed down, in 2009 there was a rise in the number of workers who left 
REFER, albeit fewer than in the first years of the company. 
In December 2009 the REFER workforce numbered 3497, which resulted 
for 122 employees leaving and 64 new staff members, and also a reduc-
tion in the number of workers suspended (58) when compared to the 
same period in 2008 (53). 

Refer’s Role in the Transport Infrastructure Management Sector

Rail transport policy in the different countries has traditionally been 
drawn up individually by each country, which led to a general situation 
of lack of interconnection and interoperability, thus holding back the 
development of the European railway market and leading to growth in 
road transport, which in turn has resulted in negative impacts in terms of 
energy, the environment, congestion and accidents. 
This situation led to the adoption of a European policy of sustainable mo-
bility, which has unequivocally supported the development of railways. 
Its aim is to progressively create an integrated European rail network, 
which provides access to all operators.
Against this background, the process to liberate the railway market 
began through Directive no. 91/440/EC, which led to the separation of 
accounts for the infrastructure management and the operation of the 
railway system, in order to make the fees set for use of the infrastructure 
as transparent as possible and open up access to international services.

The consolidation of the Portuguese rail model, inspired by the reform 
of the rail sector designed by the European Union, comprises a firm step 
towards the development and improvement of the rail system.
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The analysis presented in this chapter is based on the comparison of 
the data for a set of companies which are considered representative 
of “transport infrastructure management” in terms of their economic 
indicators. 

Swot Analysis of the Railway Sector in Portugal

Taking into account the evolution of the railway sector in Portugal, 
as portrayed in the previous section, and the main guidelines of the 
European transport policy and national policy, as mentioned above, 
the main strengths and weaknesses of the Portuguese railway system are 
now weighed up, as well as the main opportunities and threats.
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Strenghts Weaknesses

Opportunities Threats

Large capacity transport with high safety and 
reliability levels and low accident index;

High energy efficiency and environmentally  
sustainable;

Transport associated with high punctuality, 
regularity and comfort levels, among the 
passengers;

Modernised network in the areas of higher 
demographic density, namely in the Metropolitan 
Areas of Lisbon and Porto and good connections 
with the metropolitan networks;

Potential for efficient participation in overall 
transport offerings, both for passengers and freight; 

System favouring innovation, research and 
development, specifically through process 
automation and computerisation.

European transport policies and their evolving 
consolidation and application;

Creation of a single integrated strategic planning 
and regulation body for the land transport sector;

Completion of the High Speed Network and 
creation of new rail corridors;

Development of the National Logistic Platform 
Network;

Increased competitiveness of Portugal's ports and 
airports.

Uncompetitive intercity and international journey 
time matrix, compared to other transport types;

Limits to the interoperability level with the European 
rail network;

Existence of certain infrastructure constraints with 
considerable limits on capacity;

Inadequate offering in certain services, both in 
terms of timetables and regularity, and in terms of 
rolling stock used;

Insufficient coordination with other transport 
models, on various lines and services;

Less efficient management in the client relationship;

Pricing framework;

Weak market culture and insufficient commercial 
aggression in unregulated tariff freight services;

Low reliability and flexibility of freight services;

High operation deficits.

High costs and need for long time periods to make 
investments in the rail infrastructure;

Amount payable for use of the infrastructure a dis-
torting factor for competition;

Maintained intervention policies regarding the 
road network which, in a climate of financial and 
functional inadequacy, promote an undesirable 
growth in road transport;

Difficulties in promoting intermodality;
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REFER Group

REFER has shareholdings in a number of companies which were founded 
to restructure the railway sector, even before REFER was founded, and 
which complement railway infrastructure management activities.

REFER TELECOM – Serviços de Telecomunicações, S.A.
REFER Telecom – Serviços de Telecomunicações, S.A., is a telecommuni-
cations operator licensed by ANACOM. Refer Telecom manages, super-
vises and maintains railway telecommunications networks and systems. 
It is also responsible for installing and managing telecommunications, 
which are essential for rail transport. It has a national coverage network 
and uses an optical fibre backbone with over 2800 km, allowing it to 
operate in the country’s main district capitals and urban centres. Various 
connectivity services are supported on this network. 
Its mission is to “manage effectively the telecommunications infrastruc-
ture yielded by the Shareholder, supplying respective services of excel-
lence, as well as the optimisation of all the resources through a speciali-
sed offer to the rest of the market.”
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INVESFER - Promoção e Comercialização de Terrenos e Edifícios 
S.A.
INVESFER S.A. is a company of public capital held by REFER EP.  It renders 
property asset management services. Its strategic mission is to offer fle-
xible and innovative solutions to enhance properties tailored to client 
needs. 
The company’s strategic vision is to be recognised as a leading proper-
ty asset enhancement company, contributing to the success of its sha-
reholders, clients, partners and employees. 
It abides by the following values:  

•  Ethical and professional practice based on criteria of transparency 
and valuing of people; 

•  Provision of a service of the utmost quality and excellence, based 
on flexibility of procedures and persistence in the search for the best 
solutions; 

•  Engendering team spirit of cohesion, enthusiasm, dedication and 
determination of all the employees; 

•  Social responsibility, based on sustainability.

The railway buildings that are no longer used give rise to serious preserva-
tion difficulties, given their fragmentation, geographical isolation and in 
some cases the changes in the surrounding social and urban context. 
REFER, through INVESFER, has been undertaking actions to improve and 
refurbish the railway properties, to guarantee financial and environ-
mental sustainability and enable them to be used by the populations. 
While these actions have a greater impact on the outskirts of urban 
centres, in other places these initiatives are equally important, allowing 
the preservation of historical and museological assets, and generating 
opportunities for local business development in areas such as tourism, 
the hotel industry and commerce. 

FERBRITAS - Empreendimentos Industriais e Comerciais, S.A.
A FERBRITAS S.A. is a REFER Group company with over three decades 
of experience in the railway sector and specialises in the planning of 
transport, infrastructure engineering and the production and sale of ag-
gregates. FERBRITAS S.A. performs two distinct activities: 

•  Transport Engineering

•  Aggregates (sold in 2009)

RAVE, Rede Ferroviária de Alta Velocidade, S.A.
RAVE, Rede Ferroviária de Alta Velocidade, SA, is a Portuguese com-
pany that develops and coordinates work and research necessary for 
decisions on the planning, construction, financing, supply and operation 
of a high-speed rail network to be installed in mainland Portugal, and 
the link to its counterpart Spanish network.
RAVE was founded through Decree-Law no. 323-H/2000, published in the 
Diário da República no. 291 (1st Series – Supplement), of 19 December.
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Governance Structure

Areas Supervised by Members of the Board of Directors
The Government defines REFER’s general goals and the framework in 
which the respective activities must be carried out to ensure that these 
activities are in harmony with the country’s policies as a whole and in 
each sector.

The Board of Directors has five members: the Chairman, the Vice-
Chairman and three board members are nominated by the Government, 
are in office for a three-year period, which is renewable for equal periods 
within the limits stipulated in the Public Management Statute and remain 
in office until they are replaced or their duties are declared as having 
ceased.
 

The general remit of the Board of Directors is the use of all means 
necessary to manage and develop the company and to manage its 
assets, notwithstanding the responsibility of care of supervisory ministers. 
Naturally, the Board Members must abide by the duties and obligations 
legally established for public managers, of which the most important is 
the lack of a conflict of interests.

REFER’s current Board of Directors was appointed in late 2005, and was 
re-appointed on 21 January 2009.

The following table lists the members of the Board of Directors and their 
duties:

Chairman of the Board
Luís Filipe Melo e Sousa Pardal
(Date of Birth: 24 October 1946 – 63 years of age)

Vice-Chairman of the Board
Alfredo Vicente Pereira
(Date of Birth: 17 September 1952 – 57 years of age)

Board Member
Romeu Costa Reis
(Date of Birth: 6 August 1952 – 57 years of age)

Board Member
Alberto Castanho Ribeiro
(Date of Birth: 10 March 1963 – 46 years of age)

◦  ◦ Corporate Relations
◦  ◦ General Secretariat
◦  ◦ Organisational Development
◦  ◦ Construction
◦  ◦ Human Resources
◦  ◦ Property Assets

◦  ◦ Economics and Finance
◦  ◦ Planning and Strategy
◦  ◦ Provisions and Logistics

◦  ◦ Legal Affairs
◦  ◦ International Relations
◦  ◦ Auditing
◦  ◦ Communications and image
◦  ◦ EU Funds

◦  ◦ Infrastructure Engineering and Operation
◦  ◦ Safety
◦  ◦ Stations Management
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In 2009, REFER’s Board of Directors met 52 times, as shown in the table 
below:

◦  ◦ Information Systems and Technology
◦  ◦ Tariffs and Infrastructure Access
◦  ◦ Liaison with the Fertagus Concession 
Contract
◦  ◦ State Contracts

Board Member
Eng.º Carlos Alberto Fernandes
(Date of Birth: 7 July 1967 – 42 years of age)

In 2009, REFER’s members of the Board of Directors were also board 
members at the following companies: 
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Quality

The key strategies defined for this area aim to follow a corporate ap-
proach to REFER’s cross-over processes, as well as to seize opportunities 
arising in terms of methodologies for structuring quality management 
systems. It is in this context that the strategies are analysed and struc-
tured, also taking into account the fundamental importance of focusing 
the drive towards systems organised in operational areas, to assist the 
productive processes that are essential for the performance of the 
company.

Objective 2009: Ensure that QMS processes are systematised and guar-
antee their implementation. Improve the quality of projects by managing 
their execution in accordance with ISO 9001:2000

Objective 2010: Follow a corporate approach to REFER’s cross-over proc-
esses, as well as to seize opportunities arising in terms of methodologies 
for structuring management systems.

Safety
 
Safety at REFER is understood as a responsibility for each and every indi-
vidual, requiring the company’s cooperation along with committed and 
responsible participation by all personnel.

The Safety Policy essentially covers three aspects:
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Work Safety for personnel and those at construction companies.

Facilities Safety in terms of emergency and surveillance.

Operation Safety to support the entities that carry out these activities.

Objective 2009: Install OpenOffice open source software solutions in sta-
tion “environments” and for Security Surveillance. Increase the network’s 
safety. Reduce the accident rate at level crossings.

Objective 2010: Strengthen the safety framework for contractors, not 
only by developing the regulatory structure of compulsory processes 
and drafting risk analysis forms for projects awarded externally, but also 
by strengthening training and raising awareness about rail safety.

Environment
 
After reviewing the Environmental Policy in August 2007, 2009 is a year 
of continuing the execution of the main strategy guidelines arising from 
this process.

Objective 2009: The company continued to develop the network of op-
erational environmental managers, especially in the investment area. In 
parallel, the company maintained its performance regarding evaluation 
of the main investment projects’ environmental impact. The Strategic 
Noise Maps were delivered to the Portuguese Environmental Agency for 
the Major Rail Infrastructures with over 60,000 runs per year. Diligence 
aiming at implementing the projects included in the B&B commitment 
was launched.

Objective 2010: Continue with the work performed in 2009, bearing in 
mind that 2010 and the years following are expected to involve large 
investments which will call for closer monitoring in this important area for 
the company and which will modernise the infrastructure.

Social
 
REFER’s social policy initiatives may be analysed according to two 
aspects:

1.	 Internal social responsibility – the human resources, safety and 
health policies implemented up to now reveal a strict and ongoing 
commitment to personnel needs. This commitment has, in particular, 
resulted in a number of measures providing assistance to education 
and professional development incentives for the company’s per-
sonnel and their family members (railway rest home, holiday camps, 
support to railway sports and social associations, etc.);

2.	 Disability support program, particularly for mobility problems and/or 
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work means adapted to the various disabilities; qualitative improve-
ment of work processes by increasing digitisation and electronic 
data filing and transmission means (gradual termination of the tradi-
tional hard copy filing).

◦◦ Supported the urban rehabilitation of stations and surrounding 
zones in collaboration with town councils;

◦◦ Carried out campaigns to promote public transport (and, in 
particular, train transport) in urban zones and safety awareness 
campaigns for safe procedures at level crossings;

◦◦ Periodically collected blood donated by personnel and deliv-
ered it to health services;

◦◦ Disclosed the activities of the company and of its associated 
companies through an internet site;

◦◦ Maintained a program of academic internships through proto-
cols with various academic institutions of middle and higher 
education;

◦◦ Supported social institutions such as Volunteer Fire Fighter 
Brigades of various towns and non-governmental organisations 
such as Médicos do Mundo (World Doctors);

◦◦ Code of Ethics Document. This proposes a number of general 
conduct principles essential for providing quality services, whilst 
also meant to encourage employees to apply good corporate 
practices.

Objective 2009: Develop and consolidate the company’s activities in 
accordance with the objectives specified for 2008 for the REFER Group, 
in order to optimise the resources shared by various companies and by 
fostering the use of synergies.
Consolidate the company’s Organisational and Human Resources 
development strategy, thus ensuring the management of in-house knowl-
edge, the development of professional skills, personnel qualification and 
strengthening the culture of leadership and Social Responsibility.

Objective 2009: Convert operational personnel, above all with regard 
to Level Crossing Guards becoming General and Administrative Support 
assistants and personnel working in the North and Centre region circula-
tion area becoming maintenance personnel.

Ethics – A REFER Commitment

Regarding company ethics, the Ethics Committee conducted its activity 
of monitoring the implementation of REFER’s Ethics and Conduct Code 
and publishing its content. In the latter aspect, members of the Ethics 
Committee held meetings with company elements and took part in in-
tegration internships. An ethics area was created in the portal where the 
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Committee publishes best practice in this field.
The committee focussed essentially on disclosure measures and aware-
ness-raising actions which placed the many day-to-day work activities 
within a framework of principles and values that are fundamental for 
REFER and that comply with the conduct regulations in force.
The Ethics Committee also continued to monitor specific requests sub-
mitted to it, many of which were clarification requests for the code's 
practical application, which signifies that personnel use it as another 
work tool, thus accepting its principles and standards of conduct.
All these factors help increase the culture of responsibility and integrity 
characteristic of REFER’s actions, based on the ethical principles of rigour, 
transparency, honesty and impartiality in fulfilling the company’s mis-
sion of providing the market with a competitive transport infrastructure 
whilst managing and developing an efficient, safe and environmentally 
friendly rail network. 
The Ethics and Conduct Code may be consulted at www.refer.pt.
Any person or entity may contact the Ethics Committee by e-mail at 
comissao.etica@refer.pt.



210
2009

REFER’s main goal is to provide a public service by managing the na-
tional rail infrastructure. It strives to play an essential role in inverting the 
growing trend favouring individual transport. It aims to do so by improving 
train transport services and by offering a safe, comfortable, fast and 
punctual service, characteristics that customers notice and appreciate.

In its activities and on behalf of the State, REFER has implemented large 
investment projects to modernise and develop the National Rail Network. 
Modernisation is important as it is the only means of enabling operators to 
offer a quality service to end customers. Development is also important, 
since the National Rail Network contributes to cohesion and economic 
and social development of all the country’s regions. In summary, to meet 
the population’s growing mobility needs and maintaining pace with the 
European market, REFER implements a strategy oriented toward revital-
ising and promoting the use of trains as the preferred means of reliable 
and safe transport in harmony with environmental policies.

Main Indicators 

The value of the investment made by REFER in the 2002 to 2009 period 
was over EUR 3 billion. In 2009, the investment into modernising the infra-
structure was EUR 365 million, 8% less than 2008.

Economic Performance
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The investments were financed as follows over the last few years:

Even though it did not obtain financing from the State in 2008, this value 
rose to EUR 10 million in 2009, used to hedge investments in the Aveiro port 
link branch line and the Alcácer Alternative Route. Despite the country’s 
difficult economic situation and the precarious world economic setting, 
REFER maintained high investment levels. Therefore, in 2009, REFER’s total 
investment reached EUR 365 million, 8% less than 2008. Diminished State 
financing in recent years has led to a higher dependence on external 
financing which undermined the company's economic and financial 
situation.

REFER’s liabilities have been increasing in recent years, however in 2009 
that trend changed, and by the end of the year it reached EUR 1,926 
million, a fall of 30% versus 2008.
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The fall of EUR 825 million in liabilities, about 30%, is due to a fall of 61% 
in Loans Obtained allocated to Infrastructure Management. This fact 
reflects the increase in support from the State through providing State 
guarantees to debt issues to support the investment activity. This same 
reason explains the fall in Assets.

REFER’s Equity has been falling in the past years due to successive years 
of negative net income. 
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Operating Income

REFER’s Operating Income has worsened recently, re-
aching a negative EUR 102.1 million in 2009, which is 8% 
down on 2008 and 5% down on 2007. This value is mainly 
the result of the increase in the cost of sales in 2009, which 
grew 41% (EUR 2.4 million) when compared to the year 
before. 

Financial Income

Financial Income in 2009 improved significantly by about 
EUR 76 million, +88% versus 2008.
This recovery is due to the strong increase in the Financial 
Income from Hedging Activity, which reached positive 
ground in 2009, reaching EUR 31.7 million, and also to the 
reduction of financial debt costs, due to the fall in interest 
rates.

Net Income

The company achieved negative Net Income of EUR 113 
million for the year, an improvement on 2008 by EUR 69 
million.
Total Income’s percentage of Total Costs rose from 62% in 
2008 to 72% in 2009.
Net Income’s progress was essentially driven by the rever-
sal of Financial Income’s performance.
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Stakeholders
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Financially, Personnel Expense is one of the highest expense items, re-
presenting 24% of total expenses. Although employees have reduced in 
recent years, this decrease has not been fully replicated in the Personnel 
Expense item. 

The above table reveals the State's lower financial effort in 2008. In 2009 
that amount rose 37% (2008: EUR 33.613 million; 2009: EUR 46.149 million). 
There is also a continuous increase of 8% in the Compensations level of 
recent years, which although contributions to investment were discon-
tinued in 2008 (chapter 50 of the State Budget), they were resumed in 
2009 at a level of EUR 10 million which were allocated to works on the 
Aveiro port link branch line and the Alcácer alternative route. 

Note, however, that the State’s importance as a shareholder is also 
shown through its issuing of State guarantees for REFER’s loan requests 
and through its effect on the credit rating (indexed to the rating of 
Portugal as a whole).

Personnel

In December 2009, the company had 3,497 employees, a reduction of 
59 individuals during the year, meaning a sharper fall in the number of 
employees than in the year before.

Shareholder

The State, REFER’s sole shareholder, plays a crucial role in the compa-
ny’s sustainable development and is committed to providing financial 
support to REFER through annual financial allocations, to hedge both 
investments and infrastructure management costs. 

In the last three years, the State has made the following financial 
allocations:



216
2009

The percentage of Personnel Expenses arising from Infrastructure 
Management activities has increased in relation to the company’s to-
tal expenses. Personnel expenses from investment activities on the other 
hand have fallen.

Suppliers

REFER’s importance for this group of stakeholders may be analysed from 
two perspectives:

1.	 Investment 

2.	 Rail infrastructure conservation and maintenance activities.

The company’s External Supplies and Services item was 27% of total 
expenses in 2009 having been 21% in 2008. The External Supplies and 
Services value for 2009 was driven by a stabilisation of the subcontracts 
component and an increase in the Other External Supplies and Services 
value.
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The Infrastructure Management activity recorded an increase in 
External Suppliers in 2009 of 4% compared to 2008. This item’s share of 
the activity's total expensees was 49% in 2009, having stayed level when 
compared to 2008. 

Clients

Through Decree-Law no. 104/97 of April 29, REFER was assigned the duty 
of providing the public service of managing the overall national rail ne-
twork and was granted the right to charge railway infrastructure user 
fees. 
REFER’s major clients consist of:

◦◦ CP – Comboios de Portugal,

◦◦ CP Carga

◦◦ FERTAGUS 

◦◦ TAKARGO

◦◦ COMSA

In 2009, the CP client covered about 38 million Train / Kilometres (TK) for 
which it paid EUR 56 million. FERTAGUS covered 1.8 million TK, for which 
it paid EUR 3 million. TAKARGO, exclusively a freight transport operator, 
covered 284,000 TK in 2009 for which it paid EUR 441,000. The operator 
COMSA began testing and training drivers in 2009, and recorded 15,000 
TK in this year, equating to EUR 27,000. 
The relative importance of the operators and growth in the User Fee in-
voiced are shown in the chart. 



218
2009

Revenue growth from the user fee charged to the railway operators is 
illustrated in the following chart:

The user fee revenue item comprises a large portion of total income, 
around 20%. Note that the amount charged to the CP operator com-
prises 19% of total revenue. This reduction is most notable in terms of 
freight train traffic.

Revenue growth from essential services provided to all the operators is 
illustrated in this chart: 
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An analysis of revenue performance from the CP operator – which owns 
nearly all the traffic on the national rail network, representing 95% of TK – 
clearly reveals the annual earnings trend from essential services. 

The services provided to the operators also involve:

•  the minimum access package;

•  railway access to service facilities and to the supply of services;

•  the use of infrastructures and equipment for the supply, transforma-
tion and distribution of traction electricity;

•  the provision of rail emergency assistance within the terms stipulated 
in article 51 of Decree-Law no. 270/2003.

The State allocated about EUR 36.15 million in compensation indemnities 
to REFER to settle the accounts, an 8% increase over the allocation in 
2008 and a 17% increase over that of 2007. 

As is known, only a part of the costs of infrastructure management are 
paid by fees charged to passenger and freight operators. The other part, 
safeguarding the operation's efficiency, should include a public contri-
bution, which is still not fully the case. Moreover, the construction and 
maintenance of the infrastructures have been financed through loans. 
For a sustained and efficient future, in which management are respon-
sible for results, we believe that it is essential to search for an economic 
and financial sustainability framework for the company.
With a well defined operational context and the support that we have 
always enjoyed from the supervising ministries, the dedication and drive 
of our employees and assistance from other regulatory and controlling 
entities, we believe the foundations are in place to construct a stable 
future for REFER.
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Even though REFER has been in existence now for 12 years in 2009, its 
origins reach back to the creation of railroads in Portugal. Its employees 
are repositories of age-old and unique knowledge within the country, for 
which reason Human Capital is one of the main strategic assets of the 
company. Thus, the Human Resources policy has a key aim of optimising 
valorisation, professional development and motivation of its employees, 
in an approach aligned with the organisation's strategic objectives.

Employment

Personnel numbers performance 

During 2009, REFER’s personnel numbers decreased, reflecting the 
organisation’s adoption of the various rail sector modernisation pro-
grammes implemented over several years. 

Social Performance

Since 1999, REFER’s personnel numbers have fallen to 2,969 individuals, 
representing 46% of the initial level. In 2009, the company had an av-
erage of 3,518 personnel, 55 less than in 2008.

Leavers of 2009

2009 was characterised by an increase in the company's leavers versus 
2008. Thus 122 individuals left versus 64 in the previous period. The main 
driver of this was the number of individuals leaving by mutual consent, 
which was clearly higher than 2008 (from 34 to 78). This kind of agree-
ment represents 64% of the total of REFER's leavers, which demonstrates 
the effort made by the company to adapt to the new technological 
framework of the rail sector.
2010 will bring fresh challenges in terms of personnel adjustment in light 
of the real needs of the service provided. The number of leavers this year 
is expected to stay similar to that of 2009. However, the legal restrictions 
regarding the number of individuals leaving by mutual consent with the 
right to unemployment benefits continues to be a limiting factor. 
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Recruitment and Mobility 2009

The year 2009 saw the implementation of the personnel mobility pro-
grammes with the aim of providing qualified personnel for available 
roles at the new Operational Command Centres of Lisbon and Porto and 
allocating excess personnel to other work positions with the least social 
impact for the personnel in question. Thus, in 2009, REFER continued to 
find internal solutions for employees’ needs arising during the year. 

122 employees took part in professional conversion, among which were 
the 28 Traffic Controllers who requalified as Infrastructure Operators 
and the 12 Level Crossing Guards who moved into General and 
Administrative Support. Furthermore, the Migration of Administrative 
Staff to Management Assistants Project was almost complete. 

This integration into new work posts required the personnel to acquire 
the technical and personal skills needed to carry out future tasks ade-
quately. The skills survey took place as part of this, which allowed training 
and learning strategies to be designed for each worker to help them 
adapt more quickly to the new professional reality.

In parallel, whenever necessary, REFER developed external recruitment 
processes with a view to filling key personal and technical need gaps, 
essential for fulfilment of the organisation’s strategic objectives. A key 
example of this was strengthening the company’s technical personnel 
through recruitment of 38 new employees, in line with the policy of in-
creasing the company personnel’s professional qualifications.

2009 was also marked by the creation of the Renew REFER Internship 
Programme, as part of which 16 interns were recruited to areas con-
nected to the organisation’s core business. This project has an initial 
duration of 12 months, after which the integration of the participants will 
be the company’s goal. Aside from this, the Conventional Internships 
Programme will be continued, now directed only at graduates with 
training in the area of company support.

The past year was also characterised by the continuity given to the in-
tegration internships for new hires. 16 personnel members took part in 
these activities, as well as some of the main managers of the company, 
achieving high satisfaction levels. 

In 2010, REFER’s investment into the conversion of operational personnel 
is expected to continue, especially regarding Level Crossing Guards 
moving to General and Administrative Support and personnel in the 
traffic area in the North and Central region moving to careers in main-
tenance. Aside from this, as part of preparing the company for the 
medium- and long-term objectives, the recruitment of interns through 
the Renew REFER Internships Programme is expected to be continued. 

Turnover 2009

Although the increasing number of leavers has had a perceptible im-
pact on REFER’s turnover, it is thought to be staying at very low levels, 
reflecting the stability and safety the company offers its personnel.
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Age Groups and Years of Service

An analysis of REFER’s personnel age groups reveals a clear predomi-
nance of employees aged between 46 and 55. The average age 
increased from 45.5 to 45.8 versus the year before.

Meanwhile, the average number of years of service also increased to 
20.4 years. Employees with over 25 years of service continue to be those 
with the greatest share of the company’s human resource structure. 
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Professional Qualifications

The renewal of REFER personnel has had a significant impact in ter-
ms of the qualifications of its professionals. The group of “Qualified 
Professionals” continues to include a higher number of employees, as 
has been the case for 10 years. However, there is a significant loss among 
“Non-Qualified Professionals” in favour of an increase among “Higher 
Management”. This trend has been driven by the policy of modernisa-
tion of the rail sector mentioned above which gave rise to the need for 
recruiting highly specialised technicians, offsetting the departure of sig-
nificantly less qualified operational personnel.

Territorial Distribution

The area around Lisbon has the highest concentration of personnel 
members (40%) as most of the company’s governing bodies are based 
there and the highest volume of rail traffic passes through there.

Labour and Labour Relations

Unions

The great majority (69%) of employees are represented by 21 labour 
unions. A key point in 2009 was the creation of a new union, APROFER 
(Union Association of Rail Command and Control Professionals), which is 
strongly represented in the Lisbon Operational Command Centre.

Social Peace

Although a high number of workers belong to a labour union and de-
spite the high number of labour unions representing them, REFER has 
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maintained good relations with all worker representation entities and 
the Workers Committee, with no work relations conflicts and problems to 
mention for 2009.

Work Health and Safety 

Regarding health and safety at work during 2009, the company once 
again focused on fulfilling legal requirements and the social responsibility 
principles, with activities taking place in the following fields:

•  Framework for contractors and service providers, in which 18 audits/
inspections were made and 33 site visits. 14 Health and Safety Plans, 
5 technical compilations, 6 Safety Procedure Forms and 34 technical 
opinion reports were drawn up also. Regarding support to services 
contracted out, 63 Health and Safety Plans, 5 safety regulations 
forms, and 11 technical compilations were analysed and 26 meet-
ings were held; 

•  Contracting, through 91 contracting assessment boards for works 
contracts, 54 proposal evaluations, 150 documents analysed and 29 
meetings held; 

•  Internal and risk analysis, in which 37 ground visits were made, 60 Risk 
Evaluation Forms were drawn up, and 4 Safety Procedure Manuals 
were published, respectively associated to Track, Bridges, Signalling 
and Power Line and Traction Power projects;

•  Prevention of professional risks, a subject for which rail safety courses 
were developed and held as part of the professional training in rail 
safety certification in accordance with IET77. Technicians, middle 
managers and medical monitoring teams took part in these courses, 
which trained 251 personnel out of a total of 800 forecast for 2009-
2010. Regarding work safety training, 53 training exercises were held 
which involved 488 participants; 

•  Employee medical monitoring and health, a key part of which 
were the various opinion reports on Working Conditions and the 
implementation of the Local Improvement Annual Plan (PMCT). 
2941 medical exams were also held as part of healthcare at work, 
3519 blood alcohol tests were held internally, 11 processes were held 
relating to the compensation system for work accidents, and 15 ex-
traordinary pest control campaigns and certain rehabilitation and 
recuperation for employees with medical conditions took place. The 
internal contingency plan for the threat from the swine flu pandemic 
was developed and launched, and was drawn up in compliance 
with the guidance by the Health Department and with the partici-
pation of IMTT and SET.

The programme for 2010 includes strengthening the safety framework 
for contract work, not only through the development of the regulatory 
structure for compulsory procedures and the drafting of risk analysis for-
ms for projects awarded outside the company, but also through streng-
thening training and awareness surrounding rail safety. It is important to 
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note that, in this year, training in rail safety will not just be given to REFER 
personnel, but also to contractors and external suppliers.

Personnel and Asset Safety

REFER’s work in the area of Personnel and Asset Safety focuses on the 
following areas:

•  Risk analysis and identification of vulnerabilities across a wide geo-
graphical area of the rail infrastructure, using 331 studies, of which 
200 took place in stations and stops. There were also 14 interventions 
as part of illegal occupations; 

•  Promotion of Personnel and Asset Safety, supported by two cam-
paigns directed at schoolchildren and on level crossings risks;

•  Improvement of the quality of surveillance, with key advances 
made in surveillance process structures (human and technical) and 
prevention of threats through use of modern systemisation technolo-
gies for collecting, communicating and handling safety data. The 
external supplier of the private surveillance contract was revised 
as well, at a real value of EUR 4.135 million per year, strengthening 
equipment and personnel – to 72 surveillance posts (corresponding 
to 15 new posts). The computerisation of private surveillance posts 
was launched, and video-surveillance coverage of the railway 
space began with the support of new equipment and the upgrading 
of other equipment that became obsolete – 273 new CCTV cameras 
were installed. A key step involved increasing the support for han-
dling the information collected by the company’s CCTV systems, 
the monitoring of the rapid growth in requests for recorded images 
made by police and judicial entities (384 formal requests) and the 
automatic access to 15 of the company’s buildings (accumulated 
total) via the Integrated Access Control System. 

•  Response Capacity in Emergency Situations, an area in which 13 
training and awareness initiatives have been held for internal per-
sonnel, with a total of 305 participants. With the new legislation 
entering into force covering safety conditions against fires in build-
ings (CSCIE), the surveying, analysis, description and requirements 
for local conditions needed to be reviewed, with 55 technical safety 
conditions forms drafted about fire in concession spaces within sta-
tions, involving all the stations in Greater Lisbon, 13 technical forms 
regarding stations and 100 forms regarding buildings. Nine evacua-
tion simulations were held around the company’s buildings. 

The plan for 2010 is to consolidate the structures begun for preventing 
petty crime, vandalism and trespassing on the rail space, and strength-
ening the protection measures for key infrastructures in line with the EU 
drive to combat high criminality and terrorism, in close collaboration 
with the State Forces and Security Services. In the other aspect, institu-
tional relationships will be developed with official entities represented by 
DGS, IMTT, SET, ANPC and others connected to the roles of first aid and 
rescue, in protecting the national rail infrastructure.
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Human Resources Development

Potential and Performance Management System (SGDP)

The past year saw the Performance Management Model recover, 
while 2009 was characterised by the analysis and implementation of 
improvement measures that were intended to increase the system's 
efficiency and align it with the company’s nature. Thus the following 
alterations to the SGDP have been defined:

◦◦ Introduction of the Personal Attitude Component: differentiation 
of the evaluation through valorisation of effort, interest and avail-
ability shown by employees; 

◦◦ Review of the skills description, proficiency levels and professional 
profiles: to clarify the definition of the skills and the proficiency 
levels and make them more objective, and to adjust the profiles 
to the current demands and context for the company personnel; 

◦◦ Differentiated evaluation according to the performance of each 
body;

◦◦ Drafting of support documentation, support manual and the skills 
and professional profiles directory;

◦◦ Alteration of the process steps and their timing;

Finally, as was the case with the 2007 performance evaluation, all 
REFER personnel were evaluated who had been in service for at 
least six months in the year 2008.

 
Training

The training given to REFER personnel during 2009 was framed within 
the “2007-2010 Training Strategy”, designed to ensure a better align-
ment between the skills possessed by company personnel and the 
strategic objectives it aims to achieve.

Based on a budget of EUR 1,100,000, 827 training courses were 
held in which 7662 employees took part, which corresponded to a 
training volume of 107,067 hours.

This training allowed various topics crossing over the entire organisa-
tion to be covered, in particular, due to their importance and the 
number of personnel taking part:  

◦◦ Rail Technical Training – Key activity involved professional rail 
safety training in fulfilment of Technical Exploration Instruction 
77 (IET77). 251 employees took part in this activity, from various 
professional levels (technical director, safety manager, safety 
coordinator, project and surveillance manager);
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◦◦ Development Programme for Middle Managers – The main objec-
tive was to strengthen the leadership skills of the personnel in the 
Traffic Inspector, Infrastructure Inspector and Specialist catego-
ries. 72 middle managers and 52 senior managers took part in this 
programme; 

◦◦ Leadership and Management Training – Held with the aim of 
developing leadership and people management skills, as well 
as clarifying operational concepts and principles. 69 employees 
took part in these initiatives, 1st and 2nd line directors in the 
organisation. 

◦◦ Renew REFER Internship Programme – Aimed at the company’s 
technical railway areas, this programme was created with the 
aim of facing the growing difficulties of recruitment in a competi-
tive work market, increasing average age within the company 
and the risk of losing internal knowledge with some of the com-
pany’s most experienced technical personnel in the medium 
term. In the first year, 16 interns were recruited for a one-year pe-
riod, who had degrees in engineering. This programme includes 
a first phase of organisational training focusing on a profound 
knowledge of the company, a second phase of training in en-
gineering - track, geo-technics, power line and traction power, 
monitoring and performance of the infrastructure and signalling 
and electromagnetic compatibility – and a third phase in which 
the interns will be in contact with the technical teams to which 
they will belong in the future. At the end of the internship’s first 
year, the interns are expected to be ready for integration into the 
REFER team. 

The programme will be held again, starting in 2010, with an estimated 
recruitment of eight interns, also from the engineering discipline.

Aside from running these training initiatives, a programme also 
began of staff visits by the company’s support bodies to various 
rail projects under way or other points of interest, such as the 25 de 
Abril bridge, the Rossio tunnel, the Lisbon and Porto Operational 
Command Centres or the projects at the Alcácer alternative route 
site. 45 employees took part in these visits, taking the chance to un-
derstand REFER's business more closely.

Employee Benefits

REFER’s Benefits Plan aims to provide its employees a set of benefits that 
offer real compensation, in parallel to their remuneration. As part of this, 
the company established a set of protocols in the areas of health, edu-
cation, culture and sport, which its employees can enjoy. They include:

•  Health Insurance – Applicable to all company personnel, cov-
ering 90% of health expenses in any medical field held within the 
“Advance Care” network. Aside from this, all appointments made 
outside the approved network (any doctor, clinic or hospital) also 
benefit from a 70% contribution to the cost. It should also be noted 
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that the employee’s family members can benefit from this insurance, 
in which case the family group premium is paid by the employee;

•  Personal Accident Insurance – This covers any kind of professional 
and extra-professional risk of Permanent Disabling Injury and Death; 

•  Study Grants – Delivered to the children that achieve average marks 
of 14 or above in the 9th year of school and the end of higher educa-
tion. The sum spent in 2009 was EUR 140,000 in 2009;

•  Pre-School Subsidy – Awarded to children of four months to six years 
of age who attend créches, kindergartens or nurseries recognised 
by Social Security. Within this, from 2009 it was decided that this 
support would be retained for deceased employees, or for those 
who had been designated as having a permanent disabling injury, 
arising from a work accident. This benefit cost the company EUR 
135,000 in 2009;

•  Christmas Party and REFER anniversary – For employees and their 
families. In 2009, an anniversary party was held in the Entroncamento 
railway rest home, which not only brought different generations of 
rail workers together in celebration, but also offered the space a 
refit which included earthworks to enlarge the car park, clearing of 
adjacent land and the creation of an allotment. Also as part of this 
event, the fundraising ticket was created, the proceeds from which 
will go towards building the new railway rest home at Pinhal Novo 
and through which around EUR 10,000 was raised; 

•  REFER Holiday Camp – Aimed at employees’ children between the 
ages of six and 16, this was held in 2009 in São Martinho do Porto and 
Cadaval, with the participation of 120 young girls and boys.

•  Discounts and Partnerships – involving services including fuel, tel-
ecoms, hotels, banking products, gyms and culture (theatre, books, 
tourism and travel, etc).

Aside from the social benefits described above, employees who move 
from CP to REFER and their respective families have Rail Transport 
Concessions at their disposal, paid for by the company. This is the com-
ponent with the greatest share of the organisation’s cost structure, with a 
value of EUR 3.3 million in 2009.

Diversity and Opportunity

Gender Equality

Historically the rail sector has always had a high male population among 
its personnel. This phenomenon is mainly due to the nature of the activity, 
involving a high level of physical demands and exposure to risk condi-
tions in the operational areas, where the greatest number of personnel 
are concentrated. 
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In the last decade, the male-female ratio has become even more unbal-
anced, given the high number of individuals leaving by mutual consent in 
the category with the greatest female presence, Level Crossings Guards. 

Nevertheless, REFER has built its operation based on equal treatment 
of employees of both sexes. In recent years, the growing trend of male 
predominance in the company has reversed, as a result of the reduction 
in the number of departures of Level Crossing Guards and the arrival of 
more highly qualified personnel of the female sex. Between 1999 and 
2009 the male-female executives ratio fell from 4.07 to 2.68.

Furthermore, there are no significant deviations regarding differences in 
Basic Pay for men and women and which in two of the professional cate-
gories in which women are more strongly represented, their average basic 
pay is above that of their male colleagues (Management and Technical 
Assistants).
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Environmental Performance

Following the framework defined for the company’s Environmental 
Policy, REFER concluded that, of the main necessary measures, it needed 
to create a network of individuals with responsibility over environmental 
aspects, who would be included in the company’s technical teams.
Having prioritised the investment area already, the process under way in 
the area of exploration and maintenance is expected to be continued 
during 2010, comprising added support to our work for the environment.

Materials

Of the main materials consumed by REFER, consumption of ballast 
increased slightly during 2009, while total consumption of sleepers 
(wooden and concrete, new and used) decreased. The reusage per-
centage of sleepers versus the overall value also fell, from 26% to 18%, 
between 2008 and 2009.
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Consumption of rail track in 2009 rose considerably, around 70%, versus 
2007, and around 80% versus 2008. The level of recycled rail track versus 
total consumption fell from 41% to 1% from 2008 to 2009.

The intensification of weed-killing activity to control vegetation cover has 
driven an increase in the quantity of herbicides consumed in the last two 
years versus 2007. The growth was more emphatic in 2008 (64%) than in 
2009 (38%) versus the previous years, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Energy

Total energy consumption increased 14% year-on-year in 2009, with fossil 
fuel consumption falling 20% in the same period, mainly due to the fall 
in consumption of diesel by the car fleet that was recorded at 14%. The 
increase in total energy consumption was driven by electricity, which in-
creased 16% versus 2008.



232
2009

In line with EU and national energy efficiency policies, and with a view to 
reducing direct energy consumption in 2009, REFER launched its strategy 
definition for this area, aiming to create the management basis neces-
sary, while outlining activity strategies affecting the areas of Stations and 
Buildings.
The energy consumed by rail transport of passengers and freight during 
2009 fell 1.3% versus consumption in 2008, which itself increased 0.2% 
versus 2007. In 2009, energy returned to the grid through the braking 
process (13%) increased around 5% versus values recorded in 2007 and 
2008.

Water

Water consumption increased 3% year-on-year in 2009 (230 thousand 
m3), which is a smaller increase than the level achieved in 2008 versus 
the prior year (15%).
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Biodiversity

The proportion of sensitive, protected and Rede Natura (Nature Network) 
areas occupied by the national rail network remained the same as in 
2007, 8% and 7% compared with the rail network with traffic and total 
network, respectively. 
As a result of the company’s B&B commitment in 2007, in 2009 particular 
initiatives went ahead which aim to promote biodiversity, specifically the 
development of the Indigenous Forest and the restoration of a saltworks 
in Sado.

Promotion of the Indigenous Forest

REFER in association with Quercus's Create Woods programme made a 
financial contribution to the project to ensure resident technical support 
in Quercus, and planted around 25,800 trees and bushes in 18 different 
places in the north and south of the country, in areas defined as public, 
or belonging to charitable organisations. 
Aside from this support, it encouraged its employees to participate in the 
plantations, with two locations organised for the purpose, Afonsim (Vila 
Pouca de Aguiar) and Pampilhosa (Mealhada).
	  	  

Afonsim (Vila Pouca de Aguiar) - 28 February 2009

Ecological Promotion of a Saltworks in Sado

The activity programme was developed and presented to the Institute 
of Nature Conservation and Biodiversity in order to win its approval as a 
supervisory entity for the Sado Estuary Nature Reserve. The implementa-
tion project’s progress is shown below.

Crystallisation Area of the Miranda e João Dias Santos Saltworks, acquired by REFER
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Environmental Impact

In 2009, Environmental Impact Declarations were issued for the pro-
jects of the “Alfarelos Station and Adjacent Sections” and the “Leixões 
Logistical Platform – Hub 2 –Gatões/Guifões”, within the modernisa-
tion of the Northern Line and the Portugal Logistics programme, res-
pectively. An opinion report was also issued on the Implementation 
Project Environmental Compliance Report (RECAPE) regarding the “Km 
88+000-Entroncamento (exclusive)” project of the Northern Line.

Environmental Monitoring

As part of REFER’s Environmental Impact Evaluation (AIA) procedures, 
during 2009, the environmental monitoring of different environmental 
aspects went ahead, both in the construction phase and in the exploita-
tion phase, of various projects.

Environmental Recovery

Rehabilitation of Decommissioned Assets

The ecotrail network of 2009 totalled 135 km, following the completion of 
17 km (the Arraiolos district crossing) on the Mora branch line.

Construction stage

Operation stage

Alcácer do Sal Alternative Route

Aveiro Port Rail Link

Trofa Alternative Route

Minho Line between Lousado and Nine

Braga Branch Line between Nine and Braga

Beira Baixa Line between  
Mouriscas A/Castelo Branco

South Line

Évora Line between Casa Branca/Évora

Monitoring of superficial water resources
Monitoring of fauna

Monitoring of nesting birds

Noise monitoring
Vibration monitoring
Monitoring of superficial and subterranean water re-
sources

Monitoring of noise environmental aspect

Monitoring of noise environmental aspect

Monitoring of noise environmental aspect

Monitoring of noise and vibration environmental aspects

Monitoring of noise environmental aspect
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Compensation Projects

As a compensatory measure for the destruction of cork-oaks and holm-
oaks, as part of the maintenance or investment activity, REFER committed 
itself in 2009 to reforesting a total of about 75ha of areas essentially for 
public (93%), private (1.7%) and Public Railway Domain (5.6%) manage-
ment. These areas came to 38ha in the Sines region, 32ha in Penamacor, 
1.3ha in Trofa and 4.2ha in Santarém. In 2009 the projects of Sines and 
Trofa were consolidated, with implementation complete during 2010.

Landscape

In this area the team worked to ensure environmental requirements were 
included in the tender specifications/technical conditions for projects 
and contracting work for stabilising embankments/building of retaining 
structures, in compliance with the landscape principles (ecological, 
functional and aesthetic), to ensure that those structures are integrated 
into the landscape. 

Maintenance/operation environmental monitoring

Following the strategy defined in 2008, maintenance contracts were 
monitored effectively in 2009, ensuring the environmental requirements 
established in the respective tender specifications and the legal updates 
about the environment that involved adjustments to the Environment 
Management Systems developed for each Service Provision were fol-
lowed. That support was aimed particularly at the effecting monitoring 
of nine maintenance contracts, which from July 2009, became five 
contracts, since the Service Provision Contract for Integral Maintenance 
of Signalling Systems was taken up at national level. From this decision 

(above) Area to be reforested in Penamacor   (bellow) Area to be reforested in Sines
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by central government, each contract was formally closed within the 
Environment aspect. 

Audits were held as part of the maintenance contracts in progress, al-
lowing their legal and contractual compliance to be assessed, but also 
their areas for potential improvement to be identified, to find a greater 
efficiency in the Environmental Management System implemented. A 
future aim is for all the contracts to be audited, establishing different 
levels and timeframes for holding quarterly/six-monthly operational con-
trol audits for example, according to the performance history for each 
service provider.

Environment Audits Performed in 2009

Service Provision 
Designation

Service Provider REFER body associated  
to contract

Service Provision of Integrated 
Maintenance of Signalling Systems 
installed in the Greater Porto 
section

Service Provision of Maintenance 
of Rail Infrastructure in the 
Metropolitan Area of Lisbon - 1st 
addendum to Contract 15/05 –  
CA/CM

Service Provision of Maintenance 
in the South Operational 
Conservation Zone – 1st addendum

Service Provision of Maintenance 
of the Track on the West Line 
between Meleças (Exclusive)  
and Louriçal (Exclusive)

Dimetronic

Consórcio Ferrovias/ Mota-Engil/ 
Visabeira

Consórcio Somague / Neopul / EIP

Promorail/ Edifer/ Opway

UON – Ermesinde Maintenance Centre

UOC – Lisbon Maintenance Centre / 
UOS – Setúbal Maintenance Centre

UOS

UOC – Caldas da Rainha  
Maintenance Centre

Examples of improvements made to Yards Providing Rail Infrastructure Maintenance Services in 

the Lisbon Metropolitan Area 

Yard at Vila Franca de Xira

The Waste Holding Area improved significantly due to the roofing of the entire surrounding area 

and the construction of retaining structures for the existing barrels in an uncovered area.
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Yard at Alcântara

The Waste Holding Area was improved through the reorganisation of the space and the in-

creased side protection to avoid water entering and remaining in its interior.

Yard at Penalva	  

The Waste Holding Area underwent continuous improvement. This included the recycling of 

product storage equipment for wrapping bulbs.

Similarly, maintenance and engineering works contracts have been 
monitored environmentally. Since the launch of the model supporting 
the departments, seven works contracts are currently in fulfilment of the 
Tender Specifications. 

Maintenance/operation environmental diagnosis

Since the environmental diagnosis of Operation Units (OU) began in 
2007, communication and collaboration between governing bodies 
has improved. In 2009, as part of the defined strategy, an Operational 
Environment Manager was trained for the south region (Southern 
Operation Unit), allowing the operationality intended and supported 
by the environmental objectives defined centrally to be adopted in the 
medium/long term at local level. 
Finally, mention must be made of the environment training that has been 
held regularly, specifically as part of the programmes launched by the 
Human Resources Department.

Emissions, Effluents and Waste

Emissions

CO2 emissions arising from direct electricity consumption, based on the 
National Grid’s emission factor, reached the equivalent of 28,000 tons of 
CO2 in 2009, about 16% higher than in 2008.
The environmental gains from replacing diesel rolling stock with electric 
trains following the electrification of the network have remained unal-
tered since 2005, the year in which the Mouriscas A – Castelo Branco 
section of the Beira Baixa electrified line began operating.

Effluents

The production of domestic effluents in 2009 decreased slightly (2.5%) 
versus 2008, a year which had shown almost the same value as the pre-
vious year, of 53,000 m3.

Waste

Due to the work carried out in previous years to implement the strategy 
proposed in the Waste Management Plan (WMP), in 2009 the company 
was able to carry out the following valorisation projects:

•  Wood waste used for energy purposes. In 2009, REFER sent about 
6000 tons of wood sleeper waste from the Entroncamento Logistics 
Complex to the SECIL facilities in Outão for energy generation. 
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•  This solution, instead of sending the waste to hazardous waste 
landfills (the solution used in the past), decreased consumption of 
petcoke (fuel used at cement plants) by about 3000 tons.

•  Material valorisation of around 1350 tons of metal waste (ferrous and 
non-ferrous).

By implementing selective collection networks, both for maintenance 
activities (used oil, lubricating grease, batteries) and social facilities 
(administrative zones where REFER's services operate), it was possible to 
route this waste correctly. 
Regarding waste from administrative activities, the protocol appli-
cable to computer consumables signed with AMI - Assistência Médica 
Internacional, which, by guaranteeing a suitable destination for around 
2900 tons of ink and toner, promoting their recycling, resulted in economic 
assistance to the AMI Foundation which is important for its fund-raising 
campaign and its humanitarian aid campaigns.

Noise

Noise produced by the railway is one of the greatest environmental 
challenges faced by REFER. This situation has become increasingly more 
evident through the work carried out by the company’s environmental 
department.
In 2009, 24 complaints were submitted regarding noise generated by 
activities for which REFER is responsible.

Directive no. 2002/49/EC of 25 June was transposed into national law 
through Decree-Law no. 146/2006 of 31 July, decreeing that strategic 
noise maps are to be drawn up in two phases for the Large Rail Transport 
Infrastructures. The first phase covers rail track sections with over 60,000 
trains per year, and the second, rail track sections with over 30,000 trains 
per year.

REFER drafted all the Strategic Noise Maps corresponding to the first 
phase, which were presented to the Portuguese Environment Agency 
by August 2008. They were approved. Aside from these, REFER is drafting 
strategic noise maps for the second phase.
We take the opportunity to mention that REFER was the first transport 
infrastructure management entity in Portugal to complete and receive 
approval for its Strategic Noise Map, under the terms of Decree-Law no. 
146/2006 of 17 July, specifically that for the Cascais Line in 2006.
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Within REFER’s activity field, the modernisation of tracks is a key factor 
for other measures to take effect, since this is a key reduction measure in 
terms of infrastructure, tackling the source of the problem, which must be 
matched by steps taken on the rolling stock.

As well as recognised, sometimes controversial, acoustic barriers, REFER 
has researched other noise reduction measures that may be applied 
once their effectiveness is proven and after they have been duly ac-
cepted. Such measures include:

•  Installation of Noise Absorbers onto the track (“Rail Dampers”);

•  Fixed Track Lubricants;

•  Acoustic Polishing;

•  Absorbent Coverings for concrete walls;

•  Acoustic Barriers (inclined or curved).

Last but not least, since the publication of the first General Noise Ruling 
(in 1987), it has clearly become necessary to promote a new policy of 
land management regarding key infrastructures such as the key commu-
nication arteries in metropolitan areas and main cities. Since then, it has 
become evident that the goal is to stop occupancy for specific sensitive 
uses of space adjacent to these channels, which have been located on 
that land for over a century in the case of the known rail network. Only 
this shared activity will have a positive effect on this topic.



240
2009

Measures implemented by REFER as at 31.12.2009

(*) Currently research is taking place on noise reduction measures in place along 88km of rail 

track (88km of the major railway infras.). Such measures include those indicated in this chart 

and not only acoustic barriers.

Cost of Environmental Actions

We will now present some costs associated to REFER’s environmental 
policy measures. 
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a set of EU directives defining the conditions for providing rail transport 
services and managing the rail infrastructure, which promotes a uniform 
means of issuing licenses to railway operators, providing access to rail 
infrastructures and issuing safety certificates.

panels placed in a row along both sides of the rail track in zones where 
the surrounding area must be protected from the impact of noise from 
passing trains.

Business Activity Code. 

material of a selected particle size on which the sleepers are placed 
and embedded. Ballast distributes the loads transmitted by the sleepers 
to the platform, provides elasticity to the track and facilitates drainage. 
Ballast may consist of coarse sand, limestone gravel and hard-rock gra-
vel, in two particle sizes – normal (from 25 to 50 mm) and fine (from 16 to 
31.5 mm) used for levelling.

rubber or synthetic carpet placed between the ballast and the track bed 
to decrease the noise level propagated through the track structure.

the so-called broad or normal track has a gauge of 1668 mm, which is used 
in the Iberian Peninsula. The European broad track has a gauge of 1435mm.

methane

the national railway’s complementary network, which includes the lines 
and branch lines of public interest not included in the main network. DL 
no. 10/90 of 17 March.

abbreviation for Automatic Speed Control. A train protection system 
that, through inductive resonance circuits placed on the track and 
through corresponding onboard equipment, periodically checks whe-
ther the speed limit is being met, braking is being applied and stop signs 
are being complied with. In the event of an anomaly, the system acti-
vates automatic braking, thus assisting the drivers in carrying out their 
duties and preventing trains from exceeding the speed limits imposed by 
safety conditions.

a company’s main business. 

carbon dioxide.

negócio principal de uma empresa

entities classified according to their credit risk.

abbreviation for continuous welded rail: rail sections welded together to 
form an indefinite length, in which a central zone has a width that varies 
with the sleeper fixture type and on which internal stresses reach a maxi-
mum whilst impeding movements.

A-weighted decibels.

Glossary

“1st Railway Package” 

Acoustic Barrier

BAC

Ballast

Ballast sheet 

Broad track 

CH4

Complementary  
network 

CONVEL

Core business 

CO2

Core Business

Credit rating 

CWR

dB(A)
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Double track

Dual-block sleeper

Ecotrail

Electrified lines 

Empty run 

Environmental 
Management System

Infra-estrutura
 ferroviária

EU Funds 

Freight

GDP

GFCF

Ground-train radio w/ 
data transmission 

Ground-train radio w/o 
data transmission 

GVA

IFRS

INE

railway transport infrastructure whose transversal profile has two tracks 
where, normally, there is only one circulation direction on each track.

sleeper consisting of two reinforced concrete blocks (not pre-stressed), 
with base plates for the rails, connected by a metallic bar (crossbeam) 
to ensure the track has the right gauge.

a non-motorised trail for leisure and nature walks along decommissioned 
railway corridors.

railway transport infrastructure whose tracks are equipped for electric 
traction, including installations for signaling, CONVEL and telecommu-
nications.

an empty train run for rolling stock management or other reasons.

The Environmental Management System is an integral part of the 
company’s overall management system and includes a functional 
structure, planning activities, responsibilities, practices, procedures, pro-
cesses and resources to develop, implement, review and maintain the 
Environmental Policy.

Conjunto de todas as instalações fixas respeitantes às vias principais e 
de serviço e às estações necessárias à circulação ferroviária, incluindo 
edifícios afectos ao serviço das infra-estruturas, bem como o conjunto 
dos elementos referidos na parte A do Anexo I Regulamento nº1108/70 /
CE. DLnº270/2003 de 28 de Outubro

EU financial support instruments.

trains used essentially for freight traffic.

Gross Domestic Product, the value of goods produced and services pro-
vided in a country during one year.

Gross Fixed Capital Formation that indicates the value of durable goods 
acquired each year aiming to increase the country’s production capa-
city.

Communication system for circulation control and command, with 
sound and data transmission connected to the CONVEL system, betwe-
en drivers and ground or vice-versa.

Sound communication system for circulation control and command be-
tween drivers and ground or vice-versa.

Gross Value Added corresponding to the output value of a company, 
sector or country, minus the value of intermediate consumption; the sum 
of all GVA corresponds to the GDP.

International Financial Reporting Standards.

National Statistics Institute.
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ceramic insulation device placed on power lines to insulate the voltage 
zone which has a rupture resistance, by traction, of 9 tons.

the passenger train family that regularly connects two cities.

kilogram of carbon dioxide equivalent.

kilogram of oil equivalent.

abbreviation for Level Crossing: where the track crosses a national or 
municipal road at track level.

common abbreviated means of describing long-distance passenger 
trains whose routes are longer than a specific threshold, normally set 
from 50 to 100 km.

the main railway network consists of the lines used to provide national 
and international, long distance, high speed and high quality passenger 
transport services and of the lines used basically to transport large num-
bers of passengers commuting to work. DL no. 10/90 of 17 March.

track sleeper of only one part made of pre-stressed concrete. The pre-
stressing compression is sufficiently high to ensure that the sleeper will ne-
ver be subject to traction caused by the loads for which it was designed. 
It weighs 50% more than the dualblock sleeper.

train transport infrastructure whose transversal track profile has more 
than two tracks which normally features traffic in one direction on each 
track.

track in which the gauge, distance between the inner sides of the rail 
heads, is of 1 metre. This is why it is also called the Metre Track.

wood sleeper 240 cm wide for metre track (where the distance between 
the inner sides of the rail head is of 1 m), also called narrow track.

different levels between credit ratings.

guideline standard for implementing quality management systems.

Nitrous oxide.

Territorial Unit classification for statistical purposes.

contracting of external specialists to perform some of the company’s 
specific tasks more effectively and at a lower cost.

polychlorinated biphenyls.

Pendular motion train, also known as the “tilting train” or simply “pen-
dular” and whose technology allows it to travel at higher speeds than 
conventional trains on curves without compromising safety and whilst 
providing greater passenger comfort.

Insulator

Intercity

kCO2e

koe

LC

Long distance 

Main network 

Monoblock sleeper 

Multiple track 

Narrow track 

Narrow track sleeper 

Notch

NP EN ISO 9001:2000 

N2O

NUT

Outsourcing

PCBs

Pendular
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PIDDAC

Public Railway Domain

Public Service

Rail pad

Railway infrastructure

Regional

Single track

Sleeper

Standard ISO 14001

Statutory capital

Suburban

TK

Train family

Turnover

Undersleeper pads

the Central Administration’s Development Investment and Expense 
Programme.

public domain assets assigned to the functioning and operation of the 
public railway service.

service of a public interest to meet a public need rather than for profit.

rubber or synthetic padding placed between the sole plate and the rail 
foot to decrease the noise propagated through the air and the track’s 
structure.

all fixed facilities related with main and service tracks and the stations ne-
cessary for train circulation, including buildings assigned to infrastructure 
services, and the elements indicated in part A of Annex I of Regulation 
no. 1108/70/EC. DL no. 270/2003 of 28 October.

current abbreviated description of regional trains that meet a specific 
region’s needs, particularly an autonomous region. DL no. 10/90 of 17 
March and DL no. 270/2003 of 28 October.

train transport infrastructure whose transversal track profile has only one 
track which may have traffic in both directions.

a component placed perpendicular to the track connecting the rail 
to the ballast. Train wheels run over the rail transmitting high stress, and 
the sleeper receives that stress and transmits it, now less intensely, to the 
ballast bed such that it is compatible with their resistance and deforma-
tion capacity. Sleepers and their fixtures guarantee a specific distance 
between the rails (track gauge).

guideline standard for implementing and certifying environmental ma-
nagement systems.

capital amount specified in the company’s articles of association.

current abbreviated description of suburban trains that meet transport 
needs within a municipality or a metropolitan transport region. DL no. 
10/90 of 17 March.

abbreviation for train-kilometre, a railway operation rendering unit, cor-
responding to a train moving 1 km. Its cost depends on the characteris-
tics of the track and train in question.

the group of trains with the same circulation itinerary or with identical 
route times.

net value of sales and services provided, including compensation in-
demnities from normal activities by the entities and after deductions, not 
including value added tax or other taxes directly related with sales and 
rendered services.

a rubber or synthetic pad placed under sleepers to decrease noise pro-
pagated through the air and the track structure.
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amount paid by a railway operator for using a line or line section.

management model to determine the value added to the product by 
the chain’s individual parts or segments, whereby the product progressi-
vely evolves through that very chain.

document prepared by the Environment Department in collaboration 
with the Provisioning and Logistics Department, the Conservation and 
Maintenance Department and the General Engineering Department 
that, having evaluated the reference situation, drafted the lines of ac-
tion, orientations and strategic goals for developing REFER’s waste ma-
nagement system.

periodic preventive treatment using suitable equipment to eliminate we-
eds growing on the track ballast and along track shoulders.

wood sleepers, 260 cm wide, for wide track (where the distance betwe-
en the inner side of the rail heads is of 1.668 meters).

User Fee

Value chain

Waste Management 
Plan

Weed control 

Wood Sleepers for Wide 
Track
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6
 REPORTS FROM THE COMPANY'S AUDITORY BODIES



BARBAS, MARTINS, MENDONÇA & ASSOCIADOS, SROC, LDA. 
     AUDIT FIRM 
 

OFFICIAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
» INTRODUCTION 
 

1. We have audited the financial statements of Rede Ferroviária Nacional  
REFER, E.P.E. which include the Financial Position Statement for 31 
December 2009 (total assets of EUR 657,045,000 and total negative equity of 
EUR 1,268,018,000, including negative net income of EUR 112,780,000), the 
Integrated Income Statement, the Statement of Alterations to Equity and the 
Cash Flow Statement for the year ending on that date and the accompanying 
notes. 

 
» RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

2. The company’s Board of Directors is responsible for preparing the Management 
Report and the financial statements showing the company’s true and appropriate 
financial situation, the result of its operations, alterations to its equity and cash 
flows. It is also responsible for having its historic financial information prepared 
in accordance with the international financial reporting standards (IFRS) as 
applied in the European Union, and for applying suitable accounting criteria and 
policies for maintaining an appropriate internal control system. 
 

3. We are responsible for expressing a professional and independent opinion based 
on our examination of those financial statements. 

 
» SCOPE 
 

4. Our examination was performed in compliance with the Technical 
Review/Auditing Standards and Directives of the Order of Chartered 
Accountants requiring that the audit be planned and performed to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
materially relevant distortions. To this end, the said audit includes: 

 
• a sample check of the documents supporting the figures and disclosures 

specified in the financial statements and evaluation of the estimates 
based on judgements and criteria defined by the Board of Directors and 
used for preparing the said statements; 

• the assessment of whether the accounting policies and their disclosure 
are suitable in view of the circumstances; 

• confirmation of the applicability of the principle of continuity; and 
• the assessment of whether the financial statements were adequately 

presented overall. 
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5. Our examination also included checking whether the financial information in the 
management report was in agreement with the financial statements. 

 
» OPINION 
 

6. In our opinion, the said financial statements present in an appropriate and true 
manner, in all materially relevant aspects, the financial position of Rede 
Ferroviária Nacional - REFER, E.P.E, on 31 December 2009, as well as the 
income from its operations, the alterations to its equity, cash flows and the 
annexes for the year ending on that date in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards as applied in the European Union. 

 
7. We are also of the opinion that the management report is in agreement with the 

financial statements. 
 
» EMPHASIS 
 

8. Without affecting our opinion expressed above, we draw attention to the 
following factors: 

 
a) The company, within the perspective that investments on public long duration 

infrastructures (LDIs) are made on behalf of the entity which has granted the 
concession - the state, does not subject these assets to depreciation or 
impairment, merely including an item in the Financial Position Statement called 
“Investments on Long Duration Infrastructures” with a balance of about EUR 
430,874,000, which results essentially from the difference between the balances 
of the tangible fixed assets accounts – LDIs (EUR 7,581,916,000) and 
investment subsidies (EUR 3,709,260,000) and loans obtained (EUR 
3,897,671,000), showing a loss of capital (negative equity), as shown in the 
financial statements and note no. 4; 

 
b) The associated company “Gil – Gare Intermodal de Lisboa, S.A.,” in which 

REFER has an approximate 33% shareholding had negative equity estimated at 
around EUR 35,000,000, as a result of that company’s high liabilities (around 
EUR 115,000,000), against low operating profitability. Therefore, the necessary 
measures must be taken to rectify this situation, which may imply increasing the 
respective share capital, taking into account article 35 of the Companies Code. 

 
Lisbon, 26 April 2010 
 
Barbas, Martins, Mendonça & Associados, S.R.O.C., Lda. 
Audit Firm no. 100  
(enrolled at C.M.V.M. no. 8968), 
Represented by: 
 
 
Issuf Ahmad, ROC n° 779 
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